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Welcome to our annual report and accounts for 
2021/2022 
 
Welcome to our annual report and accounts where we review our last year as a Clinical 
Commissioning Group. It is extremely pleasing to report that we have met our statutory 
obligations, which is an exceptional achievement when set against another extremely 
challenging year for our health services during the COVID-19 pandemic. 
 
This year we have seen sustained extreme pressures on the whole health system whilst continuing 
managing COVID-19 and implementing the biggest vaccination programme in the NHSs’ history. 
This has only been possible thanks to the dedication and hard work of health and care staff and 
volunteers. A big thank you to you all!  
 
Our strong partnership working was crucial in our ability to plan and manage services to meet the 
needs of our local people. We are proud of the way our staff, general practice, acute, community, 
and social care colleagues continue to deliver high quality health services in difficult circumstances 
to ensure we still provided safe and quality care for our population. 
 
Throughout our nine years as a CCG, we have had a strong focus on being innovative and 
forward thinking in our development of health services that provide our patients with high quality 
healthcare. This year this has seen us being part of the digital aspirant programme where we 
have been a key leader in digital developments. We have implemented a number of digital 
initiatives across our health and care system to improve the support we provide to our local 
people and communities. The rising demand for mental health and wellbeing support, the 
impact on waiting times for non-urgent procedures and the reluctance of some people to come 
forward to have conversations about changes to their health are all key areas that have 
continued to be key areas for us over the last year.  
 
Our strong clinical leadership has allowed us to make the best 
possible decisions for healthcare across Rotherham. We are a 
high achieving organisation that has delivered on key health 
priorities throughout the year, however, we recognise that there 
are further improvements to made as we bring health and care 
closer together as part of the new NHS South Yorkshire 
Integrated Care Board. 
 
The dedication of our staff and GP members continues to be 
a major strength of the organisation and we continue to 
harness their talents to enable us to make the best possible 
commissioning decisions. We have also worked very closely 
with our emerging six Primary Care Networks (PCNs) to 
better understand how we can improve services for our 
patients at a community level. 
 
During the year we have continued to deliver a robust commissioning plan and we have also 
worked with health and care partners to refresh the integrated health and social care place 
partnership priorities in light of the pandemic. We are passionate about providing the best 
possible services and outcomes for our population and are committed to a whole system 
partnership approach, as we recognise that it is only through working together that we can 
provide sustainable services over the long-term. 
 
Over the last year we have continued to work closely with GP colleagues, and we have 
continued to implement our quality contract to ensure we provide resilient, equitable health 

“We are proud of the 
way our staff, general 
practice, acute, 
community, and social 
care colleagues 
continue to deliver 
high quality health 
services in difficult 
circumstances to 
ensure we still 
provided safe and 
quality care for our 
population.” 
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services for patients in their community. 
 
Looking ahead to the coming year, the CCG will close, and we will work as part of the NHS South 
Yorkshire Integrated Care Board.  We will strive to further enhance our  health and care offer for 
local people and will work closely with our communities and public health partners to reduce health 
inequalities and increasing equity of access as much as possible.  
 
As we continue to see a significant financial challenge across health and social care it is important 
that we commission provision of services for Rotherham patients in line with recommended best 
practice clinical standards, achieving value for money in our service delivery. 
 
Thank you for taking the time to read our annual report, and for all the support we have received 
from our partners, local people, and communities during our time as a Clinical Commissioning 
Group. We look forward to continuing the journey of improvement and ensuring Rotherham people 
get access to safe, high quality and effective services in years to come.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  Dr Richard Cullen,      Chris Edwards 
  Chair        Accountable (Chief) Officer 
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SECTION 1 - PERFORMANCE REPORT 
 
About Us – Our Purpose and Activities 
 
We are the custodians of NHS Rotherham CCG’s commissioning resource which in 2021/2022 
totalled £523.6 million.  We are a clinically led group responsible for making sure that the people of 
Rotherham have the healthcare services they need at the right time.  We identify, plan, buy and 
manage health services (commission), making sure they are of high quality and perform within 
expected standards. 
 
We do not commission pharmacy, optometry, dental and most specialist services (which are the 
responsibilities of NHS England) or public health services (which are the responsibility of 
Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council (RMBC)). 
 
The CCG is a membership organisation. The 29 GP practices in Rotherham are our members, 
and there are eight commissioning localities. Our main decision-making body is the Governing 
Body, made up of five GPs, three executives, a nurse, a hospital consultant, and three lay 
members (for patient involvement, governance and audit and primary care). We access additional 
expert advice we may require through Rotherham’s public health director and the Chair of 
Rotherham’s Health and Wellbeing Board (HWBB) who are in attendance at our Governing Body 
public meetings. 
 
We have well developed involvement processes with our GP members. The GP Members 
Committee (GPMC) is a strong advisory body to the CCG Governing Body and Strategic Clinical 
Executive (SCE), with a responsibility to ensure member practices are linked into all the wider 
commissioning decisions. The GPMC works through a locality structure using monthly locality 
meetings, regular surveys, bi-monthly Rotherham wide education and commissioning events and 
regular contacts with executive GPs to ensure that the views of all Rotherham GP practices 
contribute to our plans. 
 
We remain a going concern as a statutory NHS body. 
 
Our mission is 
 

‘Working with the people of Rotherham to sustain and improve health services, 
to improve health and to reduce health inequalities. 

 
Organisational values 
 
In everything we do we believe in: 
 

• clinical leadership 
• putting people first, ensuring that patient and public views (and) experience impact on the 

decisions we make 
• working in partnership place and system 
• maintaining/improving quality of care whilst ensuring value for money 
• showing compassion, respect and dignity 
• listening and learning 
• taking responsibility and being accountable 
• equity, quality and access. 

 
Our work to reduce health inequalities in Rotherham is a key focus of our Commissioning Plan.  
Each of our 15 commissioning priority areas address health inequalities in order to work towards 
our organisational mission. 
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Our Relationships 
 
We are an active member of the Rotherham Health and Wellbeing Board (HWBB) and the 
Rotherham Together Partnership.  The CCG works closely with Rotherham Metropolitan 
Borough Council (RMBC) and other local partners to ensure delivery of the Rotherham’s Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy. 
 
There have been, and continue to be, great benefits from working in partnership bringing together 
planning, funding and delivery of health and social care.  We all aspire to reducing health 
inequalities and providing better care outside hospital.  The CCG is an integral partner in the 
Rotherham Integrated Care Partnership (ICP), and the Rotherham ICP is part of the South 
Yorkshire and Bassetlaw Integrated Care System (ICS) which is putting the region at the 
forefront of nationwide action to provide joined up, better co-ordinated care, breaking down the 
barriers between GPs and hospitals, physical and mental healthcare, social care and the NHS.  
We have also maintained strong relationships with our neighbouring CCGs including meetings 
between accountable officers to share best practice and jointly commission services. 
 
The Chair of the HWBB, Councillor David Roche, attends our monthly Governing Body meetings 
and provides feedback on the preparation and approval of this annual report for 2021/2022. 
 
Both the Chair, Councillor Roche, and Vice-chair of the HWBB Board, Dr Richard Cullen, continue 
to attend the monthly ICP Place Board as participating observers. 
 
Throughout 2021/22, the CCG and RMBC have continued to work proactively to deliver the Better 
Care Fund (BCF).  The BCF enables the creation of a single joint budget to enable us to work 
more closely together to further improve the lives of some of the most vulnerable people in our 
society, placing them at the centre of their own care and support needs. 
 
We work with individual practice Patient Participation Groups (PPGs) and have jointly developed 
with them our CCG patient network.  We also work closely with Healthwatch Rotherham, where 
they have helped us with public involvement on our commissioning plan, the South Yorkshire and 
Bassetlaw hospital services review and the planning of joint public events in year.  We are 
accountable to NHS England for delivery of agreed outcomes, aimed at improving the health of 
Rotherham people.  In addition, we work in partnership with NHS England in areas where both our 
responsibilities overlap, such as the interface between primary care commissioning (NHS 
England), hospital and community service commissioning (CCG) and specialist commissioning 
(NHS England). 
 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy and Integrated Health and Social Care Place Plan 
 
Over the last 12 months we have continued to work closely with partners to implement the latest 
Rotherham’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  The Health and Wellbeing Strategy provides a high-
level framework, directing the HWBB activity, of which the CCG is a key member.  It supports the 
Board’s role to provide leadership for health and wellbeing by making the most of our collective 
resources in the borough. 
 
The strategy sets out four key aims: 
 

1. all children get the best start in life and go on to achieve their potential 
2. all Rotherham people enjoy the best possible mental health and wellbeing and have a good 

quality of life 
3. all Rotherham people live well for longer 
4. all Rotherham people live in healthy, safe and resilient communities. 
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Each aim includes a small set of high-level priorities, which demonstrate the particular areas of 
interest that will contribute to achieving the aim. 
 
The Rotherham Integrated Health and Social Care (IH&SC) Place Plan is closely aligned to the 
HWBB Strategy and is the main delivery mechanism for the health and social care elements of the 
Strategy. 
 
The transformational approach has been to identify five closely linked work streams to maximise 
the value of our collective action and transform our health and care system: 
 

• Children and Young People 
• Mental Health 
• Learning Disabilities 
• Urgent Care 
• Community Care. 

 
Reducing Health Inequality 
 
NHS Rotherham CCG, as a partner in Rotherham Integrated Care Partnership, has been a key 
player in moving forward on the prevention and health inequalities agenda.  Rotherham’s 
Prevention and Health Inequalities Enabler Group was established in 2021.  Its first priority was to 
develop Rotherham’s Prevention and Health Inequalities Strategy which was received by 
Rotherham Place Board in March 2021. 
 
The strategy and action plan was informed by data and intelligence as well as engagement with 
partners and stakeholders, including members of the Prevention and Health Inequalities Enabler 
Group, wider partners, and Health Select Commission.  It articulates our local response to national 
policy drives relating to prevention and health inequalities, including the NHS operational planning 
guidance, the CORE 20 PLUS 5 Strategy and the Levelling Up White Paper. It also seeks to align 
with and support delivery of Rotherham’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy and the ICP Place Plan.  
 
The high-level priorities, outcomes and objectives outlined within the strategy will run from March 
2022-December 2025, which aligns with the timelines within Rotherham’s Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy. However, it may be necessary to review these at an earlier stage, and the intention is 
that the ongoing work around data and intelligence will inform our approach. It is anticipated that 
as we build our understanding of health inequalities in Rotherham, we may seek to adjust our 
strategy and the evidence may point to additional priorities.  
 
Key Risks 
 
The CCG’s risk management and assurance framework was reviewed during Quarter 4 in line with 
internal audit recommendations. 
 
The risk management system including risk management framework (policy and procedural 
documents) in place.  This has enabled the organisation to have a clear view of the risks and 
issues affecting each area of its activity; how those risks are being mitigated, the likelihood of 
occurrence and their potential impact on the successful achievement of the CCG’s objectives.  
This includes the risks to the organisation from the transition of the CCG to the SY ICB. 
 
Full details of the CCG’s risk management arrangement and effectiveness is reported in the 
Annual Governance Statement within this report. 
 
 

http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Publications/Risk%20Register%202022%20-%20LIVE%20full%20v7.7%20-%20Risk%20Order.pdf
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Integrated Health & Social Care Plan 2020-22 
 
In February 2020, the Integrated Health and Social Care Place Plan (Place Plan) 2020/22 was 
approved at the public ICP Place Board.  It was subsequently endorsed at the March Health and 
Wellbeing Board. 
 
The Place Plan is the Rotherham response to the January 2019 NHS Long Term Plan and 
incorporates all key aspects of the planning guidance for the CCG and Place partners.  As such 
the Place Plan serves as the CCG Commissioning Plan as we move towards fuller integration.  It 
provides a joined up, collaborative plan for health and social care developments in Rotherham. 
 
However, in March 2020 the country entered a full lockdown with the aim of stemming the 
progression of the COVID-19 pandemic. The Government set out a four phased approach to the 
management of the NHS in responding to the crisis and the reset and recovery of services up to 
the period April 2021. (Phase 1 incident response/phase 2 incident response/critical services 
switch on). 
 
As a result, the business-as-usual performance management against the delivery of the priorities 
and milestones was suspended. 
 
At the end of July phase 3 planning guidance was issued setting out the aim to re-open business 
as usual in the NHS.  In response all partners across the Rotherham place fully engaged in 
assessing the impact of COVID-19 on the revised Place Plan and the priorities within. 
 
The Rotherham Reset Plan, revised priorities and associated actions and timescales was 
produced and received at confidential Place Board in September 2020. The assessment was 
repeated and received at ICP Gold Command (which incorporates ICP Place Board) in December 
2020 and the assessment was repeated during April 2021. 
 
Since then, the Place Plan Priorities document has been reviewed and reported to Place Board on 
a regular basis to ensure our priorities remain fit for purpose, and Place Board are assured of 
progress and risks to delivery. 
 
Future plans for South Yorkshire and Bassetlaw Integrated Care System 
With the February 2021 publication of the government's white paper, 'Integration and innovation: 
working together to improve health and social care for all', the South Yorkshire and Bassetlaw 
Integrated Care System (SYB ICS) is set to evolve into a statutory body by July 2022.  
Rotherham CCG, along with all other CCGs in England, will be abolished and the functions and 
staff from the five CCGs in SYB will transfer into the new SYB ICS NHS body. 
 
There will still remain a strong Rotherham place-based commissioning presence and Rotherham 
CCG continues to work in collaboration with the other SYB health and social care organisations 
to ensure that we take advantage of these system changes to further integrate care and improve 
the health outcomes for our local populations 
 
Performance Analysis 
 
All key performance standards in 2021/22 were significantly impacted by the COVID-19 Pandemic, 
both nationally and at a CCG level.  The expectations on performance for many standards were 
suspended during the pandemic and routine services such as elective care were suspended to 
focus attention on the urgency of the COVID-19 response. 
 
In 2021/22 the position against key standards was as follows. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-html-version
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-html-version
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In 2021/22 the position against key standards was as follows. 
• A&E:  The Rotherham NHS Foundation Trust continued to participate in the national review 

of key access standards, by trialling new A&E access metrics.  This testing meant the 
traditional 4-hour A&E waiting time was not reported on during 2021/22. 

• Referral to Treatment Waiting Times:  The number of pathways waiting no longer than 18 
weeks from GP referral to treatment.  The national standard for this is 92% within 18 weeks.  
Historically Rotherham has performed very well in this area, however the pandemic has 
impacted on this performance metric.  In 2021/22 year to date (Apr-Mar), performance was 
80.5% within 18 weeks.  National performance at the end of March (YTD) was 73.4% within 
18 weeks. 

• Cancer Pathways: The number of cancer pathways within 62 days from receipt of urgent 
GP referral to first definitive treatment.  The national standard is 85% within 62 days.  In 
21/22 year to date (Apr-Mar), performance was 69.5% within 62 days.  National 
performance for YTD (Apr-Mar) was 68.8% within 62 days. 

• Waiting Times for Diagnostics:  The national standard for waits for 15 key diagnostic 
tests.  The national standard is less than 1% of patients waiting over 6 weeks.  Pre 
pandemic Rotherham was one of the highest performing areas for diagnostics.  In 2021/22 
year to date (Apr-Mar), performance was 19.3% over 6 weeks. National performance for 
YTD (Apr-Mar) was 25.4% over 6 weeks. 

• Improving Access to Psychological Therapies Waiting Times:  Proportion of people 
waiting 6 weeks or less from referral to entering a course of IAPT treatment.  The national 
standard is 75% within 6 weeks. In 2021/22 year to date (Apr-Mar), performance was 
95.3% within 6 weeks. 

• Improving Access to Psychological Therapies Access:  The national requirement is for 
27.8% of estimated prevalence of common mental health conditions to receive treatment in 
2021/22.  Year to date (Apr-Mar) the CCG achieved 23.7% of estimated prevalence of 
common mental health conditions receiving treatment. 

• Waits for Children’s Wheelchairs:  The national standard is 92% of children waiting less 
than 18 weeks for a wheelchair.  In 2021/22 year to date (Apr-Mar), the CCG achieved 
100%. 

 
Finance Review 
 
At the end of the last financial year our annual report narrative referenced two significant items; 
firstly that features of the financial regime in operation during the second part of 2020-21 would 
likely continue into 2021/22, but with greater clarity on the first half of the year than the second; 
and secondly that 2021-22 was being signalled as the final year of operation for CCGs and that 
this would bring challenges for the finance team in terms of actively winding down one 
organisation whilst starting up another and keeping day-to-day financial operations going and 
performing to required standards. 

In the event, CCG’s closure was delayed and is now signalled for the 30 June 2022; this has allowed 
more time for planning but created further operational tasks for finance teams in relation to close 
down and annual accounts preparation in particular. The financial regime did go on to operate in 
two halves, with changes between the financial regime in the first and second halves of the year 
and generating a requirement for two separate operational and financial planning processes to be 
carried out by teams. 
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In line with (pre-pandemic) business rule requirements, the CCG retained a requirement to live within 
the overall funding envelopes and reimbursements provided, and to achieve the requirements to 
pay at least 95% of non-NHS trade creditors within 30 days, though, as in 2020-21, this requirement 
was tightened to within 7 days 
 
In year, the financial position was reported at each Governing Body meeting with accompanying 
narrative identifying key risks and issues. The operational landscape remained volatile compared to 
years previously, as did the funding landscape, and a number of financial challenges were 
encountered as a result. This culminated in a declaration of an in-year surplus during the second 
half of the year, in common with a number of provider and commissioning organisations across the 
South Yorkshire and Bassetlaw ICS. 
 
The CCG utilised funding of £520.6m during the course of the year, which was spent as follows: 
 

 
 
Looking ahead. 
The CCG has a £14.5m historic surplus banked with NHS England with an in-year actual surplus of 
£3.0m. 
 
The 2022-23 financial regime has been issued and the South Yorkshire ICS is working to set system 
and organisational plans which comply with the planning conditions and demands.  
 
At the time of writing the CCG will close on 30 June 2022. 
 
 
Wendy Allott 
 
Chief Finance Officer 
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Sustainability Report – Sustainable Development 
 
The CCG is a socially and environmentally responsible organisation.  The Social Value Act 2012 
requires us to consider how to use its contracts to improve the economic, social, and 
environmental well-being of our communities. 
 
We remain committed to the NHS Carbon Reduction Scheme and there is an ongoing focus to 
reduce our direct building related greenhouse gas emissions, business travel and waste going to 
landfill.  We have ensured that all procurements have clauses requiring sustainability actions and 
all our core providers have sustainability plans in place, including the economic, social, and 
environmental well-being of our local communities.  Our facilities management provider, NHS 
Property Services, have this year led on energy efficiency within the building that we are a tenant.  
They measure the reduction in our carbon footprint with our baseline for energy usage reported 
through the annual Estates Return Information Collection (ERIC), that they produce.  We are 
always looking for ways to reduce the use of natural resources, including water consumption. 
 
NHS Property Services provide our utility and waste data for 2021/22 which can be seen in the 
table below. 
 

CCG Building % 
Occupancy Consumption Cost 

NHS 
Rotherham 

Oak 
House 30% 

Electricity Gas Water Electricity Gas Water 

114758 
kWh 

110674 
kWh 345m3 £14,423 £3,739 £1,029 

 
 
Sustainability forms part of the culture that transforms health, public health, and social care 
delivery towards more integrated and enabling services.  Sustainable and resilient services will 
only emerge from a culture that understands and values environmental and social resources 
alongside financial.  This requires strong leadership from within the CCG coupled with raising the 
awareness of staff and the profile of sustainability. 
 
Government advice during the COVID-19 pandemic has been to work from home and only attend 
site if it was absolutely necessary and for the minimal amount of time. This has had a positive 
effect on the CCG’s total emissions to atmosphere due in part to the following reasons. 

• Reduced amount of travel miles undertaken.  The NHS contributes to over 50% of carbon 
emissions in the UK domestic travel sector, by working remotely the number of travel miles 
undertaken by staff for attending the office or travelling for meetings has significantly been 
reduced 

• Reduced water usage 
• Reduction of our energy usage (gas & electric) 
• Reduced printing and associated costs (paper, energy, ink) 
• Reduction in the amount of waste going to landfill 
• Reduction in the procurement of goods received at Oak House due to staff working from 

home. 
 
The Green Plan 
The UK government has committed to reaching net zero carbon by 2050. This means significantly 
reducing emissions as well as off-setting using carbon capture, such as planting trees. 

The health and care system in England are responsible for an estimated 4-5% of the country’s 
carbon footprint so has a major role to play in supporting this.  The NHS has therefore committed 
to reaching net zero as soon as possible. 
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Net Zero refers to the balance between the amount of greenhouse gas produced by the NHS and 
the amount removed from the atmosphere. Net zero is reached when the amount we add is no 
more than the amount taken away. 

The NHS aims to reach net zero by 2040, for the emissions we control directly and indirectly (the 
NHS Carbon Footprint) with an ambition to reach an 80% reduction by 2028 to 2032. For the 
emissions we can influence (our NHS Carbon Footprint Plus) the NHS aims to reach an 80% 
reduction by 2036 to 2039, with a net zero target by 2045. 
 
Organisational Vision 
NHS Rotherham CCG’s overall organisational vision is to put the needs of patients, carers, and 
service users at the centre of our business.  We aim to be lean, efficient, responsive, and free from 
unnecessary bureaucracy. 
 
We recognise the importance of encouraging sustainable development and are committed to 
leading by example.  The Green Plan sets out Rotherham CCG’s approach to promoting and 
facilitating sustainable development through positive action. 
 
Areas of Focus 
The following areas of focus form the basis of our Green Action Plan. Our Green Plan consists of 
ten components:  
 

1. Corporate Approach 
Sustainability forms part of the culture that transforms health, public health, and social care 
delivery towards more integrated and enabling services. Sustainable and resilient services will 
only emerge from a culture that understands and values environmental and social resources 
alongside financial.  

We will achieve this through strong leadership from within the CCG coupled with our staff values 
and engage with staff and stakeholders to ensure we can fulfil our green commitments. 

We will monitor our impact on the environment and develop an ambitious Green Plan to reduce 
our negative impacts (carbon emissions and air pollution) as required by the NHS Standard 
Contract. 

Our Green Plan key performance indicators will be reported to our Governing Body, 
encompassing the measurement of areas such as the use of resources, recycling, and carbon and 
air pollution. 
 

2. Asset Management and Utilities  
Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, we have continued to follow government guidance and work from 
home; this has had a positive effect by reducing our energy usage which in turn reduces our 
greenhouse gas emissions to atmosphere. 
 
However, we must continue to be mindful that when we return to work, these figures will rise, we 
will continue to develop plans internally and with our stakeholders to maintain this reduction as 
well as aiming to keep our energy and water usage to a minimum which will improve our water and 
energy efficiency, in line with the NHS Sustainable Development Strategy and the Climate Change 
Act (2008). 
 
We will report our energy and water usage/performance in our annual report. 
 
Through an internal media campaign, we will ask staff to help conserve energy and water when it 
is safe to return to work. (Turn equipment off at the end of the day; turn the lights off in meeting 
rooms when not in use, keep doors closed to conserve heat). 
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We will demonstrate through the collation of data that our approach is leading to a reduction in our 
levels of energy and water use and waste reduction, which will result in the reduction of our carbon 
footprint. 
 
We will support our community with energy efficiency advice and warm homes support to patients, 
users, carers, and the local community to improve their health and wellbeing. 
 
We will encourage staff to be more sustainable at home and promote healthy sustainable lifestyles 
(e.g. home energy and waste efficiency advice (https://footprint.wwf.org.uk/#/), active travel 
support etc.). 
 

3. Travel and Logistics 
Our health and the health of the environment are damaged by pollutants released and resources 
used in delivering care. The world’s first combined health, public health and social care carbon 
footprint for a national health system estimates the health and care system carbon footprint to be 
32 million tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (MtCO2e). 
 
The NHS aims to reach every individual and community in the country. Consequently travel, by 
patients, staff, and visitors, is a crucial part of the way the NHS delivers services. The NHS 
accounts for 5% of all road traffic in England and travel is responsible for 18% of the NHS carbon 
footprint in England. This is an important area for reducing carbon impact, improving sustainability, 
convenience, and safety, as well as saving time and money. 
 
Reducing the use of private cars, either travelling to the NHS or on NHS business, is one of the 
big opportunities to reduce our carbon related to travel. In total they account for over 50% of 
carbon emissions in the UK domestic travel sector. 56% of all journeys by car are less than five 
miles and 23% are less than two miles. 
 
During the COVID-19 pandemic, government guidance has been to work from home and only 
return to work if absolutely necessary and for a minimal amount of time. This has had a positive 
effect with regards the reduction of our travel emissions to atmosphere. 
 
However, when the restrictions are over and greater numbers of staff will be returning to work, our 
aim will be to try to minimise the impact the increase in travel will have on our emissions. 
 
To try to maintain our reduced emissions: 
 
We will calculate our pre-COVID-19 carbon footprint for our transport and travel; this will form our 
benchmark which we will aim not to exceed. 
 
We will continue to use virtual meeting platforms were possible to avoid business travel mileage 
which will save staff travel time and improve health and wellbeing. 
We will promote and encourage active travel if our staff are required to travel to site and ensure 
our staff are provided with information about the cost savings and personal benefits of sustainable 
modes of commuting (e.g. commuter travel club, cycle to work scheme). 
 
We will meet with our stakeholders and discuss the feasibility of installing electric vehicle charging 
points at our sites or increasing the numbers if they are already in place if practicable which can 
be accessed by staff and visitors. 
 

4. Adaptation 
Climate Change is recognised as one of the biggest public health threats this century. 
 

https://footprint.wwf.org.uk/#/
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The impacts of climate change are already being felt in the UK and these impacts will increase in 
the future. 
 
To help combat climate change we engage with our local stakeholders, such as Local Authority, 
community groups, Local Health Resilience Partnerships and other healthcare 
providers/commissioners; to identify risks posed by current weather and climate. We have 
developed local protocols aligned to national heat wave plans, cold weather plans and 
multiagency flood plans) in relation to Civil Contingencies Act and National Adaptation Plan to 
ensure our vulnerable communities and patients are supported in the event of major and extreme 
weather events. 
 
According to the UK Climate Change Risk Assessment (UK CCRA 2012), the UK is projected to 
see an increase in the frequency and intensity of weather-related hazards including heat waves 
and floods. While winters are projected to become warmer and wetter, cold spells will still occur. 
 
The UK CCRA 2012 highlighted several key health risks from climate change including:  

• Heat (increased summer temperatures and heat wave events).  
• Cold (reduced deaths and illness but with continued risk from cold ‘snaps’).  
• Ground level ozone.  
• Flooding and Storms (resilience and continuity of health and social care services, mental 

health impacts and injuries).  
• Incidence and exposure to marine and freshwater pathogens.  
• Sunlight (UV risk). 

 
5. Commissioning and Procurement 

In England over £88 billion of public money is spent on health and care services commissioned for 
local people.  Delivering health and care services in turn involves the procurement of a large 
amount of goods, services and infrastructure, with the health and care system spending over £40 
billion each year. Every pound spent enables positive health, social and environmental outcomes. 
The commissioning of services and the procurement of products are powerful levers to influence 
the delivery of sustainable services. 
 
NHS Rotherham CCG recognises that it can develop and use criteria to stimulate more ambitious 
and innovative approaches to delivering care that costs less, creates less environmental harm and 
reduces inequalities. Sustainable commissioning takes a whole system approach to improving 
health and wellbeing of the people it buys services for. The CCG understands that commissioning 
services in a way that utilises local assets, improves the local environment and empowers local 
people and communities can achieve wider benefits from the same investment. 
 
Our key deliverables are:  

• Securing the needs of the people who use our services 
• Improving the quality of the services; and 
• Improving efficiency in the provision of the services. 

 
6. Green Space and Biodiversity 

Green space and biodiversity can play a key role in improving patient recovery rates and patient 
experience, as well as supporting staff health and wellbeing. 

Urban green space is a necessary component for delivering healthy, sustainable, and liveable 
cities accordingly to a new report published by the World Health Organisation (WHO) Regional 
Office for Europe. 

The CCG can help to increase or improve urban green space which can deliver positive health, 
social and environmental outcomes for all our population groups, particularly among lower 
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socioeconomic status groups by the potential integration of green space into the clinical and 
working environments for example; tree planting (NHS Forrest), integrated allotment space, bee 
boxes on site roofs. (https://www.sduhealth.org.uk/news/544/world-health-organisation-report-
highlights-importance-of-urban-green-space-for-health/ ) 
 

7. Sustainable Models of Care  
We aim to be able to deliver the best quality of care with the resources that are available. This will 
always be a challenge and will become increasingly so as costs escalate, resources diminish, and 
weather patterns become more unpredictable. 
 
To be prepared for changing times, climates and events it is increasingly important that we 
continue to consider new ways the environmental and social impact of how our services can be 
delivered and look for new ways of working which could reduce our overall emissions to 
atmosphere. 
 

8. Our People 
Our workforce is key to ensuring the CCG is sustainable; every person within the CCG has a part 
to play to ensure we meet our targets and help to fulfil our obligations to reduce our carbon 
footprint and promote a healthy lifestyle for staff and members of the public. 
 
To accomplish this: 
We conduct annual staff surveys and report back on their findings. We have used this data to 
develop an action plan on staff wellbeing. 
 
We have an equality and diversity policy that is aligned to the requirements under the Equality Act 
(2010). 
 
We have a clear and publicly available Modern Slavery Statement. 
 
We have analysed the training needs of our workforce and produced a working plan to up skill our 
staff. 
 
We have an action plan to promote and support health choices in all parts of the workplace, 
including off site, (e.g. managing sick absence policy, alcohol, drug and substance misuse policy, 
procedure for managing stress in the workplace and the promotion of healthy food choices). 
Our staff are given information during their induction about the organisation's sustainability plans 
and how they can support them. 
 
The CCG supports our staff to use smoking cessation services. 
 
We have visible processes and support to improve the health of our workforce (e.g. offering fitness 
classes, enabling active travel). 
We offer flexible working and support to accommodate specific personal needs of all staff (e.g. 
parent, carers, accessibility etc.) to enhance staff health and wellbeing. 
 
We are a living wage employer. 
 
We can demonstrate that the health and wellbeing of our workforce is improving as a result of our 
action to reduce sickness absences, staff health and wellbeing surveys and stress 
avoidance/management. 
 
We have clear processes in place to manage our duty of care (e.g. health and safety) to all 
contractors and third-party personnel working on our site or on our behalf. 
 

https://www.sduhealth.org.uk/news/544/world-health-organisation-report-highlights-importance-of-urban-green-space-for-health/
https://www.sduhealth.org.uk/news/544/world-health-organisation-report-highlights-importance-of-urban-green-space-for-health/
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We support our staff volunteering in the community and with our local charities (e.g. collecting for 
food banks, dress down day for charity). 
 

9. Sustainable Use of Resources 
NHS Rotherham CCG will develop a clear process with our stakeholders for reducing our overall 
carbon footprint. We will capture and monitor waste outputs and their associated costs closely 
across the organisation and over time such as reducing the need for single use plastics, 
continuing to purchase recycled copier paper from FSC (Forest Stewardship Council) certified 
sources. 
 
We will explore initiatives and discount schemes that allow our staff to procure more sustainable 
products (e.g. NHS staff discounts programme with a sustainable products category). 

Where possible we will avoid disposal costs and donate goods to voluntary and third sector 
organisations. 
 

10. Carbon / Greenhouse Gases (GHG’s) 
As a responsible organisation where we can measure / monitor the carbon impact of each of our 
activities and set targets where practicable and set SMART targets in partnership with our 
stakeholders E.g. 
 

• Building energy use 
• Building water use 
• Waste generation 
• Travel, transport, and logistics activities 
• Procurement and logistic activities 
• Information Technology (IT) 
• Other gases e.g. anaesthetic gases, inhalers, and air conditioning gases (F-gas) 

 
We will review our sustainability impacts and develop an ambitious Green Plan to reduce negative 
impacts (carbon emissions and air pollution) and promote benefits (health promotion, illness 
prevention and social value) as required by the NHS Standard Contract and set SMART carbon 
targets in relation to various carbon hotspots (e.g. energy, travel,), with a baseline year and clear 
target date (e.g. aligned to or exceeding the Climate Change Act targets). 
 
We will report our sustainability key performance indicators to Governing Body quarterly, 
encompassing the measurement of areas such as our carbon footprint, recycling, energy usage 
and waste. 
 
We will promote the Rotherham staff values and encourage innovation, new ideas and support 
new technologies that could help reduce our carbon footprint and improve the health of our staff 
and patients e.g. the Rotherham Health App. 
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Our Duties 
 
Quality Assurance and Quality Improvement 
 
The Chief Nurse, Sue Cassin, has continued to work closely with GP leads, CCG officers and 
stakeholders to seek assurance on the quality of all commissioned services.  Securing continuous 
improvement in the quality of services provided to individuals and confirming continuous 
improvement in outcomes are achieved from the provision of those services.  This includes GP 
primary care services, acute and community services, mental health and continuing healthcare.  
The Chief Nurse provides professional leadership for nursing and allied health professionals 
across the CCG and wider health economy. 
 
Improving quality includes three overarching key themes of: 

• Safety of Commissioned Services; 
• Effectiveness of Services; and 
• Quality of Patient Experience 

 
The Chief Nurse is supported by the Deputy Chief Nurse in all aspects of the clinical quality 
agenda.  This incorporates safeguarding, governance, infection control, patient experience, public 
involvement incident reporting/investigation and learning. Additionally, the role leads on continuing 
healthcare for adults and children, personal health budgets and representing the CCG at the 
regional quality leads meeting. This assurance is reported in detail to the Governing Body public 
session on a monthly basis and bi-monthly to the NHS England Quality Surveillance Group. 
 
Throughout the year, the CCG has worked with commissioned providers to secure continuous 
improvements in the quality of services ensuring that health services are provided in an integrated 
and transparent way.  Integration of health and social care services remains high on the national 
and local agendas.  
 
For the CCG clinical effectiveness is about improving patients' total experience of healthcare and 
is an essential part of improving and assuring quality.  Our aim, as a CCG, is to use evidence to 
improve the effectiveness of clinical practice and service delivery. 
 
Patient Safety 
 
Monthly contract quality meetings take place with main providers where the agenda is set around 
the main domains of quality, safety, outcomes and patient experience in line with the NHS 
Outcomes Framework. 
 
The CCG has held all its providers to account to continue reductions in cases of clostridioides 
difficile with a root cause analysis of all cases.  There is a zero-tolerance approach to Methicillin-
resistant Staphylococcus Aureus (MRSA) but if cases occur then root cause analysis takes place. 
There is also a focus on gram negative blood stream infection reductions in line with the NHS long 
term plan. 
All providers’ cost improvement plans (CIPs) are signed off by providers’ medical and nurse 
directors to ensure Trust Board level ‘line of sight’ also ensuring that the CCG is assured that CIPs 
can be delivered without compromising quality and safety. 
Where it would improve quality or reduce inequalities GP leads, CCG officers and commissioning 
nurses take part in a series of clinically led visits to main providers which provide opportunities for 
seeking quality assurance and agreeing actions where appropriate. 
The CCG takes its responsibilities for patient safety as an important element of developing an 
effective, efficient health care system where quality prevails.  For the CCG safety has to do with 
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lack of harm and quality is linked to efficient, effective, purposeful care that gets the job done at 
the right time, first time. 
Safeguarding 
 
The Chief Nurse is the CCG’s Executive Lead for Safeguarding.  The CCG defines safeguarding 
as protecting the health, wellbeing and human rights of children, young people and adults at risk, 
enabling them to live safely, free from abuse and neglect.  It is about people and organisations 
working together to prevent and reduce both the risks and experience of abuse and/or neglect. 
 
The CCG’s work is supported by a team of dedicated staff, including Designated Doctors and 
Nurses.  Together we ensure that safeguarding is central to all that the CCG does. 
 
NHS England and Improvement (NHSE&I), as the national lead health care organisation, requires 
assurance from CCGs that they comply with strict policies and procedures, ensuring that 
safeguarding lessons are learnt and managed in accordance with those policies and procedures.  
In turn, the CCG seeks assurances from commissioned services (providers) that they are 
compliant in respect of processes, procedures and staff/personnel needed to meet safeguarding 
requirements.  Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) and safeguarding standards are in place for 
providers and reviewed in line with legislative changes and guidance annually. 
 
Multi-agency partnership working is key for health, police and social care in Rotherham and 
remained essential during 2021/22 through the pandemic. Our safeguarding work continued 
virtually with partners across Rotherham and the wider South Yorkshire ICS footprint to ensure 
services continue to meet safeguarding standards. 
 
Our published  Safeguarding Annual Report 2020/21 is our latest annual update and offers a 
flavour of our commitment to drive up the quality of safeguarding across all agencies.  The Annual 
Update highlights key areas of progress and key areas that require further attention, generally 
utilising the “Signs of Safety” format. 
 
The Safeguarding Team provides assurance via the patient safety report to Governing Body that 
the CCG is fulfilling its statutory safeguarding responsibilities and that safeguarding is fundamental 
to all that we do as a CCG.  Current safeguarding information and emerging themes are shared 
monthly with primary care colleagues. 
 
2021/22 was a particularly busy year in a number of safeguarding areas and priorities were a little 
different due to pressures associated with COVID-19.  In line with guidance, a phased approach is 
now being taken to get services back to pre-covid functioning.  This will run alongside our 
commitment to ensure the safeguarding of our most vulnerable remains a priority.  

 
The most significant areas in 2021/22 for safeguarding have been impacts from COVID-19.  This 
year has taught us that together we are stronger, and this supports us in protecting the wellbeing 
of the people of Rotherham.  Health agencies continue to experience significant challenges related 
to the COVID-19 Pandemic, however alongside our commitment to keep the people of Rotherham 
safe; NHS Rotherham CCG will continue its commitment to safeguarding going forward into the 
new NHS South Yorkshire ICB. 

Covid-19
Recovery and Beyond

Quality & 
assurance 

with providers

Integrated 
Care System 

and 
safeguarding

http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Safeguarding/2021/NHS%20Rotherham%20CCG%20Safeguarding%20Annual%20Update%202020%2021.pdf


22 

2021/22 Key Updates 
 
RSAB SAR group (Safeguarding Adult Review) - The SAR subgroup continues to meet 
monthly with a number of cases received for consideration against the Care act 2014 criteria 
from a number of different organisations e.g. SYP, Primary Care and SYFR.  Increasing themes 
identified are self-neglect, drug/alcohol use and mental health. The group continues to work at 
PLACE to ensure that multiagency working is meeting the need of the Rotherham population 
with lesson identified to support changes in practice. 
Rotherham Safeguarding Adults Board Safeguarding Adult Review ‘The Painter and his son’ 
Published - This Safeguarding Adults Review (SAR) was commissioned by the Rotherham 
Safeguarding Adults Board (RSAB) in response to the circumstances surrounding the deaths of 
Sam and his son Ben.  There were ten learning points identified in the review. 
  
MASH health team continued completion of health/medical assessments for applications for 
fostering and Special Guardianship Orders. Adoption medicals have now been returned to GP 
Practices. Discussion is being held regarding guidance from Coram BAAF and future 
possibilities due to increase pressures on GP practices. 
 
The MASH health team continue to meet the demands, in addition supporting with strategy 
meetings when possible, missing and high-risk domestic abuse cases. 
The MASH team ensured that all activity completed in relation to safeguarding children and 
young people was shared with the relevant health professionals, including Adult Mental Health 
services and CAMH’s. 
 
The Safeguarding team continue to participate at Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangement 
(MAPPA) level 2 and 3 meetings and Multi-agency Vulnerability meetings every 2 weeks during 
the COVID-19. 
 
The Domestic Abuse Bill became legislation on the 29th of April 2021.  In Rotherham the Safer 
Rotherham Partnership published its Domestic Abuse Strategy (Safer Rotherham Partnership 
Domestic Abuse Strategy 2022-2027) which is a legal duty for the Local Authority.  The strategy, 
whilst outlining the national and local picture also identifies six areas of priority for the 
partnership. 
 
Sir Alan Wood’s sector expert review (May 2021) of multi-agency arrangements for 
safeguarding children was published.  The review found examples of how partnerships have 
grasped the opportunities provided in the legislation to introduce new and adapt existing 
safeguarding children arrangements.  There is still a way to go to fully embed the reforms, 
though progress is encouraging. The key recommendations are around developing 
guidance/resources to support Independent Scrutiny, decisions around funding the partnerships, 
accountability and measurement of impact/outcomes. 
 
Liberty Protection Safeguards (LPS) - Implementation delayed (originally April 2022). Work 
continues to support LPS implementation at local, regional and national levels.  360 Assurance 
has been available to support clients with their preparation for implementation of the LPS, with 
the setup of an ICS-wide LPS Steering Group within South Yorkshire.  The CCG continue to 
work with 360 on the road map for LPS and work continues across the ICS CCG leads in 
preparation for change.  Work also continues at place with RMBC now having an LPS lead in 
post. 

 
Clinical Effectiveness 
 

https://www.rsab.org.uk/downloads/download/17/safeguarding-adult-review---the-painter-and-his-son?downloadID=17
https://www.rsab.org.uk/downloads/download/17/safeguarding-adult-review---the-painter-and-his-son?downloadID=17
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/17/contents/enacted
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Safeguarding/2021/Domestic%20Abuse%20Strategy%202022-2027.docx
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Safeguarding/2021/Domestic%20Abuse%20Strategy%202022-2027.docx
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/wood-review-of-multi-agency-safeguarding-arrangements
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/wood-review-of-multi-agency-safeguarding-arrangements
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The CCG continues a programme of protected learning time meetings for GPs, which have a 
focus on clinical quality and strong engagement from secondary care clinicians.  This workstream 
took a different approach during COVID-19 with learning events becoming “virtual” in order for 
learning to continue. 
 
In May 2021 NHS Rotherham CCG hosted the 2021 online Safeguarding PLTC event.  This 
years’ theme was ‘A Life Long Legacy’ covering safeguarding of people in need throughout life 
stages.  902 people registered to attend the online event, with representation from primary and 
secondary care along with health and social care professionals.  This was Level 3 safeguarding 
learning and the event evaluated very well, with 83% rating the learning as good or excellent. 
 
Looked After Children (LAC) and Care Leavers (CL) 
 
In 2015 the Department of Health and NHS England stated (Future in Mind 2015) “If we can get it 
right for the most vulnerable, such as looked after children and care leavers, then it is more likely 
we will get it right for all those in need.” 
 
In Rotherham it is accepted that the physical, emotional and health needs of LAC and CL are 
intrinsically interwoven.  The CCG aims high for a future where LAC and CL enjoy the same levels 
of health as their peers.  Early identification and timely support of their health and wellbeing needs 
is critical as it reduces the escalation of problems and getting this right can improve life chances.  
Therefore, robust management and monitoring of care delivery remains a priority.  The CCG 
shares its Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) with RMBC, Corporate Parenting Panel and the 
Local Safeguarding Children Partnership.  Areas that fall short are challenged and assurance of 
service improvement sought.  The Rotherham LAC Physical and Emotional Wellbeing group 
continues to meet and progress work streams to enhance services to our children in care.  
Throughout 2021/22 we have continued to drive up the health service’s commitment to improving 
the delivery of health and wellbeing needs for our LAC.   
 
Infection Prevention and Control (IPC) 
 
COVID-19 has been a key challenge this year.  
There has been wide-ranging IPC support given in primary care and health and social care within 
the community, focusing on guidance support, outbreak management and support, and training 
input. 
 
The extensive collaborative working with care Homes, Local Authority, TRFT, PHE, Primary Care 
and the CCG has been a key factor in managing COVID-19. 
 
Close work between providers, agencies and the CCG ensures there are robust surveillance and 
investigation processes in place for all Rotherham residents to identify and respond to new and re-
emerging threats.  All parties have recognised, acknowledged and performed around their 
responsibilities to infection prevention and control and COVID-19, and in doing so it is ensuring 
that high standards of care delivery have been achieved. 
 
Reducing healthcare associated infection (HCAI’s) remains a key challenge going forward and 
understanding the effects that COVID-19 and its consequences have had on the courses of 
HCAI’s. 
 
All CCGs have previously had objectives for HCAIs set by NHS England, these were not set in the 
recent year due to COVID-19, however we did work towards our own reductions based on 
previous figures.  New objectives have been published during this year; these are being worked 
towards presently. 
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As well as aiming to work on reductions we have a responsibility to ensure that systems and 
processes are in place to support the management, prevention and control of Health Care 
Associated Infections (HCAI). 
 
There is collaborative working on developing solutions and innovations aimed at prioritising 
exceptional IPC quality standards across Rotherham. This takes place involving TRFT, RCCG, 
Public Health England (PHE), Public Health (local), and RDaSH with the aim of reducing the 
overall number of health care associated infections and reducing the number of people who die 
from treatable health care associated infection related conditions. 
 
Antimicrobial Resistance remains one of the biggest threats facing healthcare in the coming years. 
Concerns around overuse of antibiotics and drug-resistant pathogens mean that currently 
treatable infections could kill in the future. The CCG and partners in Rotherham have been and 
remain committed to working with prescribers with the aim to achieve a reduction in the number of 
preventable clostridioides difficile, Gram-Negative Bacteria’s: E Coli, Klebsiella and Pseudomonas, 
MSSA, and MRSA cases and improved concordance with Rotherham antimicrobial prescribing 
guidelines. 
 
The CCG has held all its providers to account to continue reductions in cases of all Health Care 
associated infections with root cause analysis, and formulations of joint actions plans to facilitate 
improvements and reductions. We continue to work in partnership with all our local providers to 
make progress in improving the reporting/investigation systems and process for health care 
associated infections. 
 
Serious Incidents 
 
There were no serious incidents relating to information governance in 2021/2022. 
 
The Chief Nurse is responsible for the management of serious incidents and is the organisation’s 
Caldicott Guardian.  The Chief Nurse has delegated responsibility for clinical risk management 
including: 

• the executive lead responsible for safeguarding adults, safeguarding children 
• managing and overseeing the performance management of serious incidents reported by 

providers of its commissioned services regarding Rotherham registered patients as per 
delegated responsibility by NHS England  

• ensuring that processes are in place to provide assurance with regard to clinical risk 
management within commissioned services, this includes (but not exclusively), patient 
safety regarding commissioned services in line with local and national legislation and 
guidance 

• collating intelligence from the Strategic Clinical Executive with responsibility for quality of 
primary care, secondary care and mental health services. 

 
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents.  We 
have developed information risk assessment and management procedures and a programme is 
established to fully embed an information risk culture throughout the organisation against identified 
risks. 
 
During the COVID-19 pandemic, some quality and patient safety functions were considered for 
prioritisation and what could be paused in the interests of focusing clinical and managerial effort 
on the national incident response.  This process will be kept under review. 
 
New guidance was received regarding COVID-19 in the North East and Yorkshire Region Patient 
Safety Briefing giving a holding position pending national guidance.  During the COVID-19 
pandemic, some quality and patient safety functions will be considered for prioritisation and others 
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which can be paused in the interests of focusing clinical and managerial effort on the national 
incident response. 
 
Due to this new guidance all of our on-going Serious Incident cases are now closed.  Providers 
have been tenacious, and we are confident lessons from these SIs won’t get lost.  All cases have 
72-hour reports, 30-day interim reports and have had a 45-day professionals meeting with 
colleagues from CCG, RMBC C&YPS and RSCP (TRFT only).  This new model means that when 
the 60-day final reports are published all questions have already been answered.  Learning will be 
more directed and hopefully supportive of staff developments.  This new process will be kept 
under review. 
 
NHS Continuing Healthcare (CHC) and Children and Young People’s Continuing Care 
 
Children and Young People’s Continuing Care is a package of care for children and young 
people aged 0 to 17 years, whose complex needs cannot be met by universal or specialist health 
services. 
 
NHS Continuing Healthcare means a package of ongoing care that is arranged and funded 
solely by the National Health Service (NHS) where the individual aged 18 years and over, has 
been assessed and found to have a ‘primary health need’ as set out in the National Framework for 
NHS Continuing Healthcare & NHS-funded Nursing Care 
 
Rotherham CCG's CHC service recognise that individuals being assessed for NHS Continuing 
Healthcare and Children’s Continuing Care are frequently facing significant changes in their life 
and therefore a positive experience of the assessment process is crucial. The CCG is committed 
to providing an assessment of eligibility and decision-making which is person-centred and places 
the individual at the heart of the assessment and care-planning process, to ensure that individuals 
have a positive experience of the assessment process and receive high quality and cost-effective 
care. 
 
Section 117 Mental Health Aftercare 
 
The Mental Health Act Code of Practice requires Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and 
Local Authorities (LA) to provide or arrange for the provision of after-care to patients that have 
been detained in hospital for treatment under section 3, 37, 45A, 47 or 48 of the Act who then 
cease to be detained and are then discharged.  This includes patients granted leave of absence 
under section 17 and patients going on community treatment orders (CTOs).  It applies to people 
of all ages, including children and young people. 
 
After-care refers to services which have the purposes of meeting a need arising from, or related to, 
the patient’s mental health disorder for which they were detained under the relevant Section as 
stated above with the aim of reducing the risk of deterioration of the patient’s mental health and 
therefore reducing the risk of the patient requiring re-admission to hospital in respect of the same 
mental health need. 
 
Their ultimate aim is to maintain patients in the community, with as few restrictions as are 
necessary, wherever possible. 
 
CCGs and Local Authorities should interpret the definition of after-care services broadly.  For 
example, after-care can encompass healthcare, social care and employment services, supported 
accommodation and services to meet the person’s wider social, cultural and spiritual needs, if 
these services meet a need that arises directly from, or is related to, the particular patient’s mental 
disorder, and helps to reduce the risk of a deterioration in the patient’s mental condition. 
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Learning from lives and deaths (LeDeR) – People with a learning disability and autistic 
people 
 
The new LeDeR policy aims to set out for the first time for the NHS the core aims and values of 
the LeDeR programme and the expectations placed on different parts of the health and social care 
system in delivering the programme from June 2021.  It serves as a guide to professionals working 
in all parts of the health and social care system on their roles in delivering LeDeR. 
The CCG has responsibility for managing the LeDeR process, allocating reviews, undertaking 
reviews, quality assurance and identifying and communicating learning across health and social 
care in Rotherham and wider where appropriate. An annual report is compiled which highlights key 
themes and trends and actions taken. 
Transforming Care 
 
Transforming care is all about improving health and care services so that more people can live in 
the community, with the right support and close to home. 
 
The CCG continues to work with those people with a Learning Disability who are detained in 
specialist Hospitals to build the right support in the community to facilitate discharge in a timely 
manner. 
 
The CCG also undertakes Care Education and Treatment Reviews (C(E)TRs) for those Children, 
young people and adults with a Learning Disability & Autism, who are either at risk of Hospital 
admission or at risk of a residential placement and maintaining Dynamic Support registers. 
 
Modern Slavery Act 
 
NHS Rotherham CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery and 
human trafficking but does not meet the requirements for producing an annual slavery and Human 
Trafficking Statement as set out in the Modern Slavery Act 2015. 
 
Patient and Public Involvement 
 
NHS Rotherham CCG has a proven track record of working with a variety of statutory and 
voluntary sector partners to ensure the best value possible engagement with our communities. 
Our community partners are the key to ensuring that all voices can be heard. During 2020-21 the 
work and approach of the CCG changed through necessity; and has remained so during 2021/22, 
with a focus on establishing alternative systems and means of contact with a variety of 
organisations and individuals 
 
Patient Experience 
 
The NHS has access to a wealth of information on people’s needs and experience of services. 
 
The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) is produced by public health and gives all 
organisations in Rotherham information about the health needs of the population.  This helps us to 
target communities and populations experiencing the greatest need or barriers. 
 
A number of national surveys are published annually, these include: 
 

• the national inpatient survey 
• GP patient survey 
• mental health survey 
• maternity survey 



27 

• children and young people’s survey. 
 
We analyse and report internally, and externally, on the findings within these; they can be very 
useful in highlighting areas that we need to consider more closely.  Providers also have to provide 
a response to issues highlighted. 
 

Reflections on Covid: 
If I had a routine need - say a urinary infection, - I'd be happy with a phone call (in fact this is what 

happens currently with our surgery when a nurse calls back). Quick & efficient. Sometimes, 
though, I want to speak to a given GP, who knows me & my history 

For me, the conditions of the lockdown were too onerous: loss of routine, loss of all the activities I 
undertake to keep myself well. 

I am more wary of physical contact than before, hugging etc. I am more anxious in busy places 
and find it hard to cope with the noise. 

More anxious when being in public or being around new people. Feeling overwhelmed in certain 
situations where it’s very busy in public, or doing new challenges 

 
The Friends and Family Test is used extensively in both secondary and primary care.  We review 
the available data each month, looking at the number of responses, how positive the feedback is, 
and look for exceptions to national averages.  In addition, where we receive free text comments 
through our providers, we seek to identify themes and trends, and what actions have been taken 
by providers to address issues raised. 
 
We monitor informal social media (such as Twitter and Facebook) responding and acting where 
appropriate.  We also use these mechanisms to obtain fast feedback to simple questions.  In 
addition, we monitor more formal patient feedback sites such as NHS Choices and Care Opinion, 
responding where appropriate and encouraging our providers to reply as needed.  This type of 
feedback again enables us to identify themes and local concerns. 
 
Healthwatch collects a significant amount of data and feedback, both electronically, and through 
events and drop-ins which is shared with us.  In addition, Healthwatch pro-actively seek data as 
and when needed to inform campaigns and consultations, liaising with us where appropriate. 
 

IAPT- what people think 
IAPT is seen as being “an accessible service”, and “easily arranged”; where its “good to talk things 
through with a professional”. The online education sessions during the pandemic have been seen 

positively; CBT over the phone supports those who are in work or have other commitments.  
Waiting times are a concern across a number of services, and both adult and children’s services.  

By the time the services are offered, personal circumstances may have changed substantially; fast 
intervention and early help are seen as key by patients 
“Long wait time from referral from GP to counselling”. 

“Waiting times and communication issues were significant. Waited 10 months for an appointment 
which was then cancelled and we were told a replacement therapist would be in touch, and 18 

months later still had heard nothing’ 
“Took a long time for assessment and by the time they got round to assessing me my situation 

had changed”. 
 
Practice based Patient Participation Groups (PPGs) also raise current issues that are important to 
patients in real time, which is extremely valuable.  The PPGs have the opportunity to raise these 
issues directly at the Rotherham wide PPG Network meetings, and through the lay member for 
engagement, who chairs these meetings.  During 2021/22, the Rotherham wide PPG network 
meetings have continued online. 
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Being a real partner in your own health care - meeting the individual participation duty 
Section 14U of the National Health Service Act 20061 
As well as ensuring that collective engagement and involvement takes place, the CCG has a 
duty to support patients and to enable people to feel in control of their own health and the 
choices they make when it comes to the care and treatment they receive. This means making 
sure that information, tools and support are available so that patients can make informed 
decisions about their care. Our priorities around the individual duty and some of the ways they 
are met are: 

• Self-Management – the CCG is committed to an extensive Social Prescribing 
programme, working with the voluntary and community sectors. This programme 
firmly puts people with long term conditions in control of their own mental and 
physical health and well-being. 

• Shared decision making – the CCG has worked extensively with clinicians to 
produce clinical pathways; these ensure parity of treatment for patients, and that 
best practice is integral to all. In addition, the pathways (locally called ‘Top Tips’) 
embed patient information and provide a solid format for shared decision making. 
They are available on the CCG’s website. 

• Personalised care planning and health budgets – work is ongoing to involve 
patients and carers through feedback, but also through a user led support 
mechanism, via ‘Active Independence’.  

 
How to get Involved and share your experiences 
 
There are lots of ways that people can be involved, informed and represented during a normal 
year.  During 2021/22, these have been maintained and modified where possible, with some on 
hold as detailed below.  Details of current and open involvement and engagement opportunities 
are always on our website in the involvement section. 
 

• Patient Participation Groups (PPGs) – Each GP practice must, as part of their core 
contract, set up a patient participation, or reference group. These should meet regularly, 
and look at patient feedback, working with the practice on an action plan to address the 
issues patients raise. These groups should be representative of the practice population in 
their makeup. Although some PPGs have found it a challenge to hold online meetings 
during 2021/22, others have found ways of increasing their online engagement 
successfully; and continued with online meetings. In addition, some of our practices are 
looking at ways of meeting together on a PCN base; with a number of practices working 
together in South Rotherham 
 

• The Patient Participation Group (PPG) Network links local PPGs and NHS Rotherham 
CCG and meets quarterly.  During 2021/22, the network has continued to meet online, with 
a variety of informal and formal sessions. The main foci have been information sharing 
around the local COVID position, service access and the vaccination programme. 

• Healthwatch Rotherham - an independent organisation representing the views of local 
people across health and care. 

 
1 14U of the National Health Service Act 2006 Each CCG must, in the exercise of its functions, promote the involvement 

of patients, and their carers and representatives (if any), in decisions which relate to (a) the prevention or 
diagnosis of illness in the patients, or (b) their care or treatment.  
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• Reader group - a number of people have offered to read drafts of papers and offer their 
views – this includes everything from our commissioning plan to public leaflets. 

• Public events and engagement activities – these have been mainly deferred or held 
back during 2021/22. A small number of activities have taken place online. The same 
applies to focus groups and formal and informal consultations relating to specific work 
streams as needed. 

• NHS Choices or Care Opinion – anyone can access these sites and leave feedback on 
health services they have experienced. NHS Rotherham CCG responds where appropriate 
and encourages our providers to also respond and act on the information. 

• Lay Patient and Public Engagement (PPE) Chair – Represents the patient voice at the 
Governing Body, and various committees and work-streams 

• ‘Your Say’ section of the NHS Rotherham CCG website – a range of information and 
resources, including open and recent consultations, and forthcoming events and 
opportunities for people to get involved. 

• Formal consultations - where appropriate, the CCG undertakes formal consultations, 
advertising these widely both on our website and through a variety of electronic and paper-
based media. None have taken place during the past year 

 
Structures, Governance and Assurance 
 
NHS Rotherham makes the aims and values set out in the plan real in the following ways: 
 

• Governing Body – our Governing Body lay member with responsibility for Patient and 
Public Engagement has a remit to support and challenge our work in this important area.  
Governing Body meetings are held in public, and questions related to the agenda can be 
submitted prior to the meeting. 

• Primary Care Committee also meets in public and takes questions in the same way. 
• Communication and Engagement Sub-Committee includes representatives from the 

Voluntary Sector and Healthwatch, and allows open discussion of our plans, and challenge 
to ensure statutory requirements are met alongside the CCG’s aims and values.  It ensures 
the time and expertise to plan, monitor and evaluate its communications and engagement 
activity.  Details of the committee are provided in the Annual Governance Statement. 

• Monthly reports to Governing Body share an overview of current patient experience and 
key engagement activity. 

• Engagement mapping – the CCG maintains a record of all the work we do with patients, 
the public and stakeholders, and uses this to identify gaps and priorities in line with the 
NHS Rotherham CCG overarching plan. 
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Engagement and Communications  Governing Body  Sub-committee
The Committee meets every other month to discuss relevant topics to commissioned services, as well as local and wider NHS issues, consultations 

and other engagement. It includes representation from Healthwatch, VAR and  Health  Scrutiny, and offers challenge and assurance. 

Patient Participation Groups Network
All practices are invited to send representation.  The 

aims are 
- to share information and offer support in terms of 

developing effective patient groups
- to consider cross practice issues

- to inform and impact  plans and initiatives

Practice based 
participation groups
As part of their core 

contracts, all GP 
practices should have 
some form of patient 

group

Patients -
primary care

Community based 
groups

During 2021-22 many new 
community groups have been 

reached via social media: such 
groups expanded rapidly

Patients -
secondary care

Rotherham Wide Networks and 'Umbrella' groups
Forums, networks  (ROPF, Parents Forum, Carer Forums; REMA- among others)

Health interest 
groups

Maternity voices           
Cancer Support groups    
COPD/Breathing Space 

Learning Disability

Patients -
mental health

Partners  & Stakeholders Members
i.e. Rotherham Doncaster & South Humber Mental 

Health Trust (RDaSH), Healthwatch,                         
The NHS Rotherham Foundation Trust 

General public Carers
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Working with Partners and Communities in a challenging year 
 
Comments from Debbie Twell, Lay Member for Engagement: 
 
The annual report is an opportunity to take stock of and to celebrate, the huge amount 
of input; feedback and participation that our communities contribute to the work of 
Rotherham CCG; enabling us to make robust decisions that improve the services that 
we commission. 
 
We take the opportunity to reflect on the previous (and second) year of working during 
the COVID-19 pandemic.  It has been a time which has proved so challenging for us 
all, and we have valued and used the feedback from people, communities, and 
organisations with whom we have worked to improve the health of local people. 
 
Looking back, it is hard to believe that after a year of restrictions related to COVID-19 
already experienced in 2020, we still started 2021 in a national lockdown with all the 
difficulties that this brought.  Working with our partners in the CCG had to continue to 
find different ways to support our patients and communities to access safe, quality 
health services whilst keeping the treatment pathways functioning and our NHS staff 
safe. 
 
Thankfully March 2021 saw the acceleration of the COVID-19 vaccination program, 
which offered us an effective way to keep people safe from the threat and harm we 
had witnessed as the COVID-19 virus dominated our lives during the previous year.  
 
In Rotherham we mobilised additional vaccination support to the National initiative by 
setting up five additional GP led vaccination hubs and a series of “pop up vaccination 
sites” across the borough. Here an amazing army of GP staff, our own practitioners 
and volunteers were mobilised quickly; and their incredible, sustained hard work, 
meant we were able to offer vaccinations to all our residents in familiar settings by 
familiar faces. 
 
Thank you to everyone in key roles, all our volunteers and those who have helped 
others in their time of need in our community. When we reached out to our 
communities and asked for help and support, we were once again overwhelmed with 
the generosity with which people have gifted their time. 
 
For those who have met with us online, we thank you for supporting us in order to 
share your experiences of the many necessary changes in the health service systems 
that have been made, in order to improve access whist protecting us all. We have 
valued your feedback about changes, and your support has helped us to continually 
seek ways to improve services during the pandemic without compromising individual 
safety. 
 
We know from your feedback that online services prove more challenging for some 
people than others, and where possible we have supported you with using the digital 
platform to engage with us. Listening to your feedback has been invaluable, and we 
have, wherever possible, used a wide variety of alternative mechanisms to keep in 
touch. 
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By keeping connected with you, in order to hear the most important messages from 
our communities, we have found a means to ensure we have found appropriate ways 
to respond to the needs of the public and patients in Rotherham. 
 
….. just to say how much I enjoyed being part of the team of volunteers.  I wasn’t able 

to help as much as I would have liked to but the sessions I attended ran very 
smoothly, very efficient, lovely friendly crowd of people and it was great to be a small 

part of what has been a mammoth task for all. 
 

Thank you and to all the admin staff who have done a truly fantastic job with the 
organisation, running and monitoring of the sessions at the various sites across the 

borough. 
 

Many people probably don’t think of the NHS Admin services, but it is you that has 
kept the cart on the wheels during the vaccine rollout and the numbers of people who 

were able to obtain vaccines is staggering to say the least.... and all that being 
organised with extreme efficiency and dedication. 

 
Many thanks and Congratulations to all involved.... it’s been truly amazing!! 

 
Going forward. 
 
As we both transition to the South Yorkshire Integrated Care Board and tackle the 
work to ensure the successful NHS recovery from the impacts of the Pandemic, the 
period going forward will remain challenging.  
 
We remain dedicated to commissioning the best possible health services for the 
people of Rotherham. In order for us to do this we need to make sure we continue to 
communicate and engage with our patients, the wider health and social care 
community and our local stakeholders. 
 
We look forward to continuing to work with you in the year ahead. 
 
Engagement and Communications Committee 
 
The Engagement and Communications Committee took place online on the following 
dates, with the mains discussions and actions noted 

21 May 2021 
• Primary care access 
• Vaccine programme, communications and volunteer engagement.  Reaching 

out to the under 30’s. 
• Update on Integrated Intermediate Care and Re-ablement Pathway 
• SEND strategy and engagement 
• Healthwatch reported on their ‘lets talk’ sessions, which are growing in popularity; 

and the success of their work in vaccine myth busting with BAME communities 
• VAR noted their work in establishing community space in Rotherham that will 

support social prescribing. 
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16 July 2021 
• COVID-19 vaccine communications 
• Social prescribing/social movement; the challenges of supporting community 

organisations to ‘stand back up’ safely and successfully 
• SYB ICS – work underway on the Healthier Together resource for parents 
• Rotherham Place Communication and engagement – a key focus is around 

mental health, with priority themes established; the first of these being anxiety 
 
17 September 2021 

• Service Change and Engagement - The presentation was comprehensive and 
informative, offering assurance that the CCG is aware on short and long term 
service changes and is planning in engagement and consultation activity where 
appropriate, and communication with the public where necessary. 

• Overviews received of the winter communications plan, the anxiety campaign, 
and the ICS workstream 

• Rotherham Place communication and engagement work is focused around 
managing system pressures, mental health and ICS development 

• VAR’s Health Engagement Team are working closely with the CCG and RMBC 
to deliver key messages.  The social prescribing service is continuing to develop 
well 

 
19 November 2021 

• Healthwatch’s ‘Mind, Body and Soul’ Report discussed; this looked into the 
experiences and feelings of Rotherham residents during lockdown, accessing 
services during the COVID-19 pandemic and what the future looked like for 
Rotherham healthcare services. Emerging themes from all polls, surveys and 
interviews include issues affecting lives such as bereavements, loneliness and 
people were worried about the unknown and uncertainty around the continuing 
COVID-19 pandemic.  From the findings, a series of recommendations were 
developed, which Healthwatch are looking to take forward, working with the 
CCG. 

• Update on Winter Communications Plan 2021-2022. 
• Long COVID Pathway Awareness 
• SYB ICS: Communication and Engagement staff are engaged with transition 

workshops. Update received on the SYB workstreams, including the Cancer 
Alliance. 

21 January 2022 
• ICS Transition – staff are waiting for further workshops and additional clarity 

on direction. 
• Vaccination – update received and discussed; plans are in place to transition 

to a ‘mop up’ phrase, targeting specific communities and demographics 
• Next PPG Network Online – postponed to February; potential subjects for 

discussion raised.  
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• VAR - have been working to mitigate the impact of COVID-19 on the VCS; and 
are taking this forward with one of the Sheffield Universities.  Also work 
undertaken to ensure a strong voice for the VCS in the ICS structures 

• Healthwatch - report due to be published on issues around access to dental 
services 

• Public health – key pieces of work include bereaved children; establishment of 
a group for people bereaved by suicide; work on a number of mental health 
issues; including getting people back into activity 

19 March 2022 
• ICS Transition; including the Engagement and communications workshops; 

this has now led to the development of the necessary Engagement Strategy; 
‘Working with people and Communities’.  Engagement on this is planned to 
start immediately. 

• In addition, work is starting on the development of the ICB public facing website 
• Views are being sought on community diagnostic hubs 
• Communications will be shared on changes to oncology outpatients 
• Information shared and discussion took place on the PCN maturity matrix, and 

potential support that could be offered to the developing PCNs regarding 
community and patient engagement 

• Healthwatch are starting work on a GP access report. 
• Place communications and engagement priorities – Work is taking place to 

reassess the agreed priorities, with a focus on mental health, system recovery 
and how we communicate the upcoming NHS organisational changes. 

 
Workstreams in 2021/22 
 

• PCN based community engagement – Rother Valley South PCN continues to 
hold monthly online forums, well attended virtually by PPG members and 
clinicians from Rother Valley South PCN; alongside variety of community 
organisations; proving a useful forum for exchanging information and working 
together; and practically demonstrating a great model for both online 
engagement and PCN based activity. 

 
• Remaining in contact with a variety of community groups helping with 

access to information, answering queries and signposting as needed; 
Rotherham Carer’s Forum; Crossroads; Rotherham Older People’s Forum; 
Healthwatch; Age UK; RDaSH’s listen to learn and Carer Champion sessions; 
among others.  Recent participation has focused on answering questions and 
signposting to current information regarding vaccine rollout and the COVID 
situation, predominantly. 
 

• Support to Medequip to look at models for co-production around the equipment 
service; and in establishing a user group. 

 
• Maternity Voices and BAME communities.  The Maternity Voices Group, 

which is funded by the CCG and works closely with TRFT, has been working with 
REMA to reach out and hear the experiences of women from BAME communities 
in relation to pregnancy and childbirth.  They were able to hear from 18 women 
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from a number of communities: most being of black African origin.  There were a 
large number of positive comments, such as ‘they did everything well apart from 
the food; and ‘they took care of me before, during and after labour’.  One person 
cited a difficult experience; and another felt there should be better support after 
miscarriage.  The most commonly mentioned issue was access to interpretation 
and accessible information; one person felt that the support for interpretation in 
Rotherham was worse than in Newcastle; others note that the service had 
nothing written in Arabic, Urdu, Yemeni, or Polish, meaning that mums relied on 
their partners and family for interpretation; for some this was older children; 
However, despite this the majority felt that they had received good information 
from midwives. The majority did not have access to the hospital website for 
information. Those taking part also shared ideas for services they would like to 
see, and these alongside the issues raised will inform future work for the 
Maternity Voices group, who hold regular meetings with maternity services 
leads and the CCG commissioner. 
 

• Established a partnership with REMA to enable engagement with BAME 
communities with a focus on learning disability and autism.  This will take 
the form of community led research based on semi-structured questions; and 
seek to understand community attitudes and aspirations; focusing initially on the 
South Asian/Pakistani Muslim communities.  The work will help to establish 
shared ground and a starting point for discussions, which will in turn support 
LeDeR work alongside other areas. 
 

• Work undertaken to seek feedback on podiatry services to inform contract 
review.  Generally, feedback received has been positive. 

 
• PPG Network online 

o 13 July – updates shared on the COVID-19 position; the Anxiety 
campaign, and time dedicated to Members Q&A, including GP access 
and the national scheme to share digital data. There was also a robust 
discussion on potential future restrictions, and the impact of COVID-19 in 
healthcare 

o September/October 2021 – a meeting was planned but deferred pending 
additional detail to share with the network members on both national and 
local changes.  In lieu an email update was shared with recent local 
updates and members invited to table issues and raise questions 

o 26 November online meeting - The discussion focused on COVID-19 
vaccination and booster updates, and on GP access.  The primary care 
commissioning lead attended, and found it useful, and will attend again 

o January/February – email updates replaced online meetings; with an 
online meeting planned for April 2022. 

COVID-19 vaccination volunteers; unprecedented support for an unprecedented 
effort 
 

• Support to COVID-19 vaccination clinics. The PPE manager has spent 
considerable time acting as liaison and key contact for the vaccination centre 
volunteers from December 2020- January 2022.  This has included managing 
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over 300 volunteers, and coordinating over 5,000 volunteer sessions, which 
equates to more than 25,000 hours. 

 
During 2021/22, the CCG has heard some amazing stories, including 

• People whose lives have been transformed by volunteering,  
• New friendships made 
• Volunteers who have gone on to paid work in the health service 
• Volunteers who have gone ‘above and beyond’ to sit with, reassure and 

support frail people, people with disabilities and anxious people; making 
sure that people did receive their vaccination 

• Volunteers who have – regularly – done a full days’ work in the day; and 
then happily come to the clinics for another 4 hours 

• The many volunteers who have been with us throughout the year, and 
completed session after session for us 

 
I know that I am not alone when I say this and you will probably be receiving similar 
emails from my fellow volunteers, but many thanks to you both for supporting the 

people of Rotherham and us in what has been an unprecedented process. Your hard 
work and dedication to the role has been without question and I sincerely hope that 

has been recognised by your managers too. 
 

Just wanted to say thank you for organising this programme. It's been a privilege and 
continues to be meeting lots of different characters and volunteers. 

 
Thank you so much for your email.  I just want to say thank you too for all your support 
and energy over the past months.  It has been a pleasure and privilege to volunteer at 

St Annes - very rewarding and I always appreciated your emails and reminders of 
what was needed.  I hope that you settle into a new routine now, be proud of your 

work! 
 
Partner engagement activity; supported by RCCG 

 
• Fresh air fayre – TRFT organised an event at Breathing Space, targeted at 

people with respiratory disease. 
• TRFT have hosted online sessions on various topics; including dementia; led by 

their engagement lead 
• Ongoing work with VAR and RDASH to establish a mental health network 

focusing on better user voice; this has proved challenging due to COVID-19 
restrictions.  However, the initial work has highlighted the need for better service 
user voice; and both RDaSH and VAR are working on emergent, user led 
solutions 

• Healthwatch have continued to hold regular online ‘let’s talk’ sessions on a 
variety of subjects.  CCG staff attend to offer support, advice and information as 
appropriate. 

 
ICS Engagement Report 
 
The CCG is a partner in the South Yorkshire and Bassetlaw Integrated Care System 
(ICS). The ICS is a group of partners involved in health and social care that have 

https://www.healthandcaretogethersyb.co.uk/about-us
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agreed to work in closer partnership to improve health and care. The ICS has made a 
commitment to involving patients and the public in health service developments.  
 
During the COVID-19 Pandemic the ICS has continued to host the Citizens’ Panel for 
virtual meetings, started to recruit to a new engagement membership online database 
‘Let’s Talk Health and Care’ and conducted a review of the engagement that took 
place in the system during the pandemic, to form an overarching report. 
 
The ‘Get Involved’ page of the ICS website directs members of the public to 
opportunities to become involved in work being carried out by the organisation. 
Members of the public can keep abreast of ways in which they can contribute their 
thoughts, views, and time via the ICS’s social media channels as well as by signing up 
to the ‘Let’s Talk Health and Care’ engagement membership database.  
 
Detail about feedback received and how we put it to use is available on our ‘Using 
your feedback’ page. 
 
Recruitment to the Let’s Talk Health and Care Membership 
In July 2020 recruitment was launched to a brand-new online health and care 
membership scheme across South Yorkshire and Bassetlaw. As a member, people 
are invited to be involved as little or as much as they like in helping to shape health 
and care services. The aim is to create a community of over 1000 people who all want 
to make their health and care services better. They are connected through regular 
newsletters and sharing of opportunities to get involved. Recruitment was delayed due 
to the pandemic, however face to face recruitment took place in Autumn 2021 
following social distancing and other safety guidance. The first newsletter to the newly 
recruited 1000+ people was issued in February 2022. 
 
Accelerator Programme Review 
NHS partners across SYB are working together to ensure routine NHS care can get 
back to where it was before the pandemic as quickly and efficiently as possible, whilst 
continuing to provide high quality patient care.  We commissioned an independent 
report to look at what patients and the public had already told us about their views on 
a number of solutions being pursued by partners of the South Yorkshire & Bassetlaw 
(SYB) Integrated Care System (ICS) to aid the current Accelerator Programme and 
speed up access to secondary care for patients.  Read the report here 
 
Community Diagnostic Hubs/ Centres 
South Yorkshire and Bassetlaw Integrated Care System are in the process of 
establishing South Yorkshire’s first community diagnostic Centres.  We commissioned 
independent engagement with local service users to understand their recent 
experiences of diagnostic services in the area and how they would like to see 
community diagnostic hubs delivered.  The main body of this research took the form of 
an online survey and a survey and focus groups with seldom-heard groups 
undertaken by South Yorkshire’s Community Foundation.  Read the report here. 
 
Explaining Data Flow in the Yorkshire and Humber Care Record 
The Yorkshire and Humber Care Record (YHCR) is a partnership to provide health 
and care staff with better and faster access to vital information about the person in 
their care.  All partners in the SYB ICS are part of the YHCR. It will also provide 

https://www.healthandcaretogethersyb.co.uk/get-involved
https://www.healthandcaretogethersyb.co.uk/get-involved/using-your-feedback
https://www.healthandcaretogethersyb.co.uk/get-involved/using-your-feedback
https://sybics.co.uk/application/files/4816/2911/4886/SYB_ICS_accelerator_programme_review_FINAL.pdf
https://sybics.co.uk/get-involved/using-your-feedback
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citizens with access to their information and encourage them to be more involved in 
looking after their health.  This report describes research with the public to explore 
acceptability and to co-design explanations of how data flows in the Yorkshire and 
Humber Care Record (YHCR) and Population Health Management (PHM) platform. 
The research took place to ensure that the public accept that their data must flow from 
NHS systems in order for the PHM platform to operate, and that the public understand 
at what point their data is de-identified, how they can be re-identified, and how they 
can opt out. Read the report 
 
Establishing the Respiratory Clinical Network 
South Yorkshire and Bassetlaw ICS is in the process of establishing a new 
Respiratory Clinical Network across the area of the partnership.  This new clinical 
network will bring together clinicians and multi-disciplinary expertise to help design 
and promote optimal respiratory care pathways.  As part of the process of setting up 
the clinical network, the ICS commissioned a report to review past engagement 
around issues relating to respiratory services to help provide the new network insight 
to help develop its areas of focus as it seeks to understand service users’ priorities for 
respiratory care.  The report can be read here. 
 
Integrating NHS Pharmacy and Medicines Optimisation Programme Plan for 
South Yorkshire and Bassetlaw 
The national Integrating NHS Pharmacy and Medicines Optimisation (IPMO) 
programme aims to develop a framework which will set out how to tackle the 
prescribing priorities for the local population across the ICS footprint.  We shared the 
draft IPMO Plan for SYB for feedback/comments.  The feedback and how this was 
used to adapt the plan can be found here. 
 
Health Inequalities and Social Prescribing Services in Rotherham  
A recent evaluation of the Rotherham Social Prescribing Service (RSPS) managed by 
Voluntary Action Rotherham (VAR) highlighted that take-up of social prescriptions 
from the BAME community was under 3%.  (Carried out by the Centre for Regional 
Economic Social Research in 2020) The more recent Primary Care Network Link 
Worker scheme, although only in existence for just a year has also highlighted lower 
access from BAME patients. 
 
Funding was identified through the ICS to support work to dive deeper into the 
evaluation findings, and into the new PCN Link Worker Social Prescribing Scheme, to 
explore causes and offer solutions.  The report can be found here.  Work is now 
underway across the ICS places to co-design solutions to drive up social prescribing 
uptake in other under-represented communities. 
 
Supporting Children, Young People and Families following a bereavement by 
suicide  
SYB ICS have commissioned CHILYPEP (Children and Young People’s 
Empowerment Project) to identify what support Children, Young People and Families 
would like to see following a bereavement by suicide, and work with them to develop a 
toolkit for professionals to use with them focusing on how best to offer this support.  A 
range of stakeholders have been consulted with, including organisations working with 
Children and Young People and their Families affected and bereaved by suicide, 
commissioners and others. The output of this work will be a number of proposed 

https://sybics.co.uk/download_file/view/1722/838
https://sybics.co.uk/get-involved/using-your-feedback
https://psnc.org.uk/the-healthcare-landscape/the-pharmacy-integration-fund-phif/integrating-nhs-pharmacy-and-medicines-optimisation-into-stps-and-icss/
https://psnc.org.uk/the-healthcare-landscape/the-pharmacy-integration-fund-phif/integrating-nhs-pharmacy-and-medicines-optimisation-into-stps-and-icss/
https://sybics.co.uk/get-involved/using-your-feedback
https://sybics.co.uk/get-involved/using-your-feedback
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deliverable solutions to the issues identified, which will then be co-produced into a 
toolkit for use across the ICS.  These are expected to be finalised in 2022. 
 
Birth Trauma Service – Engagement with BAME and vulnerable women 
SYB ICS secured funding for a maternal mental health service around birth trauma 
and loss, and we wished to build the service provision based on the experiences of 
local people.  We commissioned South Yorkshire Community Foundation to ensure 
the views of hard-to-reach groups such as: BAME and marginalised women could be 
better understood and fed into the service provision review.  The report of this work 
can be found here.  Further work is now underway, following the recommendations in 
the original report, to better understand the experiences of the seldom heard 
communities throughout the whole maternity journey. 
 
Children and Young People’s Mental Health Strategic Plan 
SYB ICS was tasked with producing a Children and Young people’s Mental Health 
Strategic Plan by October 21.  In order to do this, each place liaised with local 
residents and users of services to pull together a template shared centrally.  From 
there, an overall strategy was created to highlight achievements so far, gaps in 
provision and where we could address these gaps at a system level.  We 
commissioned Chilypep to run a number of sessions with young people from across 
SYB to create the final strategy by highlighting areas they were most interested in and 
creating a format that would appeal to young people.  The final document is now 
available to view on SYB ICS website here. 
 
Integrated Stroke Delivery Network Patient Panel 
The Long-Term Plan for the NHS recognises the importance of tackling the growing 
impact of stroke in England.  The South Yorkshire and Bassetlaw ISDN is committed 
to ensuring that public and patient voices are at the centre of shaping our stroke 
services.  The ISDN want to make sure that services are developed and improved by 
those with lived experience of stroke and so reached out to the public about becoming 
part of a panel of people with experience of living with stroke or caring for someone 
with stroke. We were overwhelmed by the support we received and have recruited 12 
panel members from across the region.  Our members represent a diverse mix of 
stroke survivors and carers, all with lived experience of stroke.  Members come from 
each place across our region and are already making a real difference. 
 
Digital 
In 2021 the digital team undertook discovery work around what a good ‘digital offer’ 
would look like for the population in SYB. We supported them to ensure they heard 
from a number of SYB communities about their needs.  The report can be found here. 
 
School’s Engagement 
The school’s engagement team offer a large range of activities and sessions as part of 
their outreach work, which engage children and young people in their work.  Their 
work over 2021/22 has included the following:  
A series of insights sessions that are live streamed into schools where pupils learn 
about a range of jobs in Health and Social Care that are a good match for the course 
they are on and the subjects they are studying. These are hosted, interactive sessions 
using real job holders, pre-recorded footage and live presentations to showcase roles.  
The team also offers a range of employer led projects with schools covering topics 

https://sybics.co.uk/get-involved/using-your-feedback
https://sybics.co.uk/mentalhealth
https://sybics.co.uk/get-involved/using-your-feedback
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such as the mental health workforce, health promotion and digital skills in health.   
They also attend careers events, provide 1-2-1 information, advice and guidance to 
students, up-skill teachers and careers leaders through cpd sessions, support mock 
interviews and offer internship placements to ‘A’ level students. 
 

 

Sum of number of participants/ 
interactions 

Sum of Total contact 
hours 

Adult 45 29 

School age 4-18 3508 7472.76 

 
Involvement to help shape the Integrated Care Board People & Communities 
Strategy 
In March 2022 we have launched an engagement exercise to involve people in the 
development of the People & Communities Engagement Strategy for the emerging 
ICB.  Opportunities to get involved include telling us how people would like to be 
engaged, engagement on the principles for engagement and a chance to review the 
draft Strategy.  The draft strategy will be submitted to NHS England/Improvement in 
May 2022. 
 
South Yorkshire and Bassetlaw ICS Cancer Alliance engagement activity 
2021/22 
Over the last twelve months we have continued to strengthen the involvement of our 
Patient Advisory Board – an advisory group made up of people affected by and living 
with and beyond cancer.  The group helped us to shape the role and specification of 
new Pathway Navigators who are now in place supporting the development of Rapid 
Diagnostics across the region.  As part of this work, the group also helped us to shape 
and define the ten nationally identified Quality Markers and how we can implement 
them to improve local cancer services. 
 
Helping to shape and inform the future of oncology services in South Yorkshire 
and Bassetlaw 
During the last two years of the pandemic, receiving cancer care has been different for 
many. 
 
People may have received care in a different hospital to normal, either closer to where 
they live or they may have had more appointments at our specialist cancer centre, 
Weston Park in Sheffield.  Most people will undoubtedly have had some appointments 
in a non-face to face way (e.g. on the phone or online). 
 
We now have the opportunity to look at what has been working well and what hasn’t 
so we can better plan our future services.  We also have an imperative to do this now.  
There continues to be a national Oncology Consultant shortage and we have an 
increased number of patients waiting to see us.  We need to make sure the quality of 
care across South Yorkshire, Bassetlaw and Chesterfield remains high for everyone 
during these challenging times.  We are therefore currently actively seeking the 
feedback of anyone receiving care and treatment for cancer across Barnsley, 
Bassetlaw, Chesterfield, Doncaster, Rotherham and Sheffield. 
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Further work shaped by patients and the public: 

• Improving skin cancer pathways – surveys of skin cancer patients to 
support the development of the “optimum” skin patient pathway 

• Quality of Life Survey – we support the rollout of the national survey to 
people 18 months post treatment to understand what more support we 
can offer to people locally once they have completed their treatment 
journey 

• Cancer Patient Experience Survey – we support the rollout of the 
national CPES, pulling together local responses to highlight any 
opportunities for improvement 

• Breast Pain Service – “Breast pain only is not a symptom of cancer” – 
we have been gathering views of people across South Yorkshire and 
Bassetlaw to gauge understanding of the signs and symptoms of breast 
cancer, self-checks and when further investigation may be needed.  We 
are now actively seeking involvement from members of the public to help 
us design and develop a breast pain service for our region.  

• Recovering cancer services post COVID-19 – We are working with 
our colleagues at the South Yorkshire Community Foundation in four 
postcode areas across the region where recovery of two week wait 
(suspicious of cancer) referrals are the slowest since the COVID-19 
pandemic.  We will use all feedback to co-design a campaign to 
encourage early presentation and early diagnosis.  

• Nudge the Odds, adopting behavioural science approaches to 
increasing early diagnosis – Through the Inequalities and Early 
Diagnosis workstream, detailed Business Intelligence and data insights 
have been used to understand where we can make the biggest impact in 
increasing screening attendance amongst key target populations.  This 
includes a pilot to increase cervical screening amongst Roma and South 
Asian communities, using detailed community insights to design 
behavioural science based “nudges” towards behaviour change. 

 
Work completed by partner organisations that have influenced NHS 
Rotherham CCG decisions 
 
Rotherham Council 
The local authority runs a large number of formal consultations as well as informal 
engagement activity. All consultations are well documented on their website, in a 
format that complies with the legal duty to report on consultations. 
 
Most will have limited impact on health services. 
 
Listening to our Patients - Comments and Complaints 
 
We aim to ensure that all complaints are used positively as a learning opportunity and 
will ensure that the patient or carer is not detrimentally treated as a result of lodging a 
complaint, whilst being fair and supportive to staff.  We will ensure that we will work 
with the complainant on a customer and person centred, responsive and timely basis, 
in accordance with our values. 
 

https://www.rotherham.gov.uk/consultations
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We work with all providers of NHS services to ensure that a similar customer focussed 
approach is taken to complaint handling.  During the year, we received 25 formal 
complaints.  The complaints were varied and briefly comprised of, Continuing Health 
Care DST outcomes, Continuing Care PUPoC claims, Complex Care offered to a 
patient in the community, Dissatisfaction with the outcome of Individual Funding 
Requests, CAMHS waiting times and diagnosis, Bariatric Pathways, Over the Count 
Medicines/repeat prescriptions, Tier 3 weight Management. 
 
Principles for Remedy 
 
We adhere to the Parliamentary and Health Services Ombudsman’s ‘Principles of 
Good Complaint Handling and Principles for Remedy’, when dealing with complaints. 
This is incorporated within our Complaints Handling Policy. 
 
Equality and Diversity 
 
Promoting equality and human rights is one of the cornerstones of all of NHS 
Rotherham CCG’s functions and activities, as an employer and commissioner. This 
will be applied by ensuring that the CCG has an ongoing programme of equality work, 
covering all our functions. 

During 2021/22, COVID-19 has shone harsh light on some of the health and wider 
inequalities that persist in our society. A central part of responding to COVID-19 and 
restoring services has been to increase the scale and pace of NHS action to tackle 
health inequalities to protect those at greatest risk. 

Rotherham CCG is transitioning into being part of the wider South Yorkshire 
Integrated Care System, and we have identified the following urgent actions, building 
on the measures to implement the NHS Long Term Plan:  

• Protect the most vulnerable from COVID-19 
• Restore NHS services inclusively 
• Develop digitally enabled care pathways in ways which increase inclusion 
• Accelerate preventative programmes which proactively engage those at risk of 

poor health outcomes 
• Particularly support those who suffer mental ill-health 
• Strengthen leadership and accountability 
• Ensure datasets are complete and timely 
• Collaborate locally in planning and delivering action 

 
The CCG has a strong commitment to involvement and understands the 
need to reach out to communities and individuals whose voice may be 
otherwise unheard. Our involvement is targeted in two ways against our 
commissioning priorities, and against the nine protected characteristics in all 
the work we do. We have a robust process to record all our involvement 
activity, ensuring we identify and address priorities and gaps. The following 
are examples of some of our work: 
 
• Age - we acknowledge that older people are more likely to use services 

and have worked in partnership with Rotherham Older People’s Forum, 
who have carried out surveys and consultations.  We also work with 

http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Policies%20and%20Procedures/Corporate%20Policies/C4%20-%20%20Policy%20Procedure%20on%20Complaints%20Management%20ratified%20by%20GB%203.07.2019%201.pdf


 

43 
 

young people to design and produce information they told us they 
needed. 

• Disability - our Social Prescribing Service links patients with 
voluntary organisations, it was developed from community 
discussions and is valued by patients. 

• Gender - we have met with targeted groups for example, women from 
South Asian backgrounds to both deliver messages and to hear their 
specific concerns and issues. 

• Race – where possible, we audit patient feedback (for example, 
Friends and Family Test data) by race to identify any difference in 
experience. 

• Sexual Orientation - we have strong links with local Lesbian, Gay, Bi-
sexual and Transgender (LGBT) groups, and aim to ensure people are 
involved in any consultation work we complete, as well as listening to 
this overlooked community. 

• Pregnancy and Maternity – we are working regionally to develop a 
Maternity Voices Partnership. Locally we are working with a community 
organisation who are leading on developing a perinatal mental health 
support group and a major consultation. 

• Gender Reassignment – our Medicines Management Team are 
working proactively with a transgender group to look at medication 
in primary care and access to services. 

 
The Equality Act 2010 brought with-it Public-Sector Equality Duties. Public 
bodies are required to declare their compliance with the duties on an 
annual basis.  The CCGs equality delivery system (EDS2) can be viewed 
on our website – Public Sector Equality Duty. 
Information on the CCGs equality and diversity annual report can be viewed on the 
website – Public Sector Equality Duty. 
 
Looking after Personal Information 
 
We have a clear Information Governance Strategy and Policy and have a Senior 
Information Risk Owner (Mr Ian Atkinson, Executive Place Director) and Caldicott 
Guardian (Mrs Sue Cassin, Chief Nurse) at Governing Body level. 
 
We have undertaken various initiatives this year to ensure good information 
governance within the organisation working with our partners including: 
 
• The Information Governance policies/procedures listed below have been reviewed, 

updated and approved: 
 

• Records Management Policy 
 
• All known dataflows have been mapped and the legal basis for the lawful sharing 

of information has been documented and risk assessed alongside the security of 
the transfer. 

 

http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/psed.htm
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/psed.htm
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/equality-and-diversity.htm


 

44 
 

• The results of the risk assessments have been reported to the Senior Information 
Risk Owner (SIRO).  This process will now take place on a six-monthly basis for 
ongoing assurance. 

 
• The Information Asset Register and Dataflow Register have been combined into 

one document which acts as the organisation’s Record Processing to demonstrate 
compliance with Data Protection legislation. 

 
• An Information Governance compliance spot check has been carried out to provide 

assurance that CCG staff are compliant with national and local information 
governance requirements. 

 
• A number of Data Protection Impact Assessments (DPIAs) have been undertaken 

in line with the requirements of the new Data Protection legislation.  This 
demonstrates an increased awareness across the CCG of the need to consider 
DPIAs when introducing or procuring new systems, services or projects which 
involve personal information. 

 
• An updated Privacy Notice has been produced in line with the requirements of the 

new Data Protection legislation and published on the CCG’s website. 
 
The Data Security and Protection Toolkit (DSPT) is a compulsory web-based self-
assessment tool which is governed by NHS Digital.  The requirements of the toolkit 
are designed to encompass the national data guardian reviews 10 data security 
standards.  In 2021/22 the CCG met all of the DSPT standards. 
 
Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR) 
 
The CCG has incident response plans in place, which are fully compliant with the 
NHS Commissioning Board Emergency Preparedness Framework 2013 and meet 
NHS Rotherham CCG requirements to act as a Category 2 responder. The CCG 
works in partnership with NHS England to regularly review and make improvements 
to local major incident plans. 
 
The EPRR assurance process usually uses the NHS England Core Standards for 
EPRR.  However, as a result of the events of 2020, these standards did not receive 
their tri-annual review, therefore, a small number of standards have been removed to 
accommodate this year’s assurance process. 
 
A multi-agency major incident was declared at 13:00hrs on Tuesday 17 March 2020 
in relation to the COVID-19 pandemic.  Our response to the COVID-19 pandemic is 
in conjunction with Rotherham Place partners, and it continues to impact on the 
workings of the CCG. 
 
NHS Rotherham CCG Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response Policy 
can be found here. 
 
Fraud 
 

http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Policies%20and%20Procedures/C14%20-%20Emergency%20Responsiveness%20Policy%202020.pdf
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We are committed to deterring and detecting all instances of fraud, bribery and 
corruption and to ensuring that losses are reduced to an absolute minimum, therefore, 
freeing up public resources for better patient care.  Employees received fraud 
awareness training provided by 360 Assurance, at one of the monthly all staff 
meetings.  The Counter Fraud officer from 360 Assurance had a standing invite to our 
Audit and Quality Assurance Committee (AQuA) throughout the year.  All employees 
and members adhere to our Counter Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy and 
response plan (available on our website).  
 
Health and Safety 
 
Government advice during the COVID-19 pandemic has been to work from home and 
only attend site if it was absolutely necessary and for the minimal amount of time. The 
Health and Safety team have followed this advice and provided a “virtual” service to 
the CCG with regards Health & Safety, Fire Safety and Security advice. 
 
A health and safety inspection is undertaken on an annual basis by the health and 
safety team, based on the ‘Health and Safety at Work Act 1974’ and ‘The 
Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999’.  The assessment of our 
premises, located within an NHS Property Services managed building, focuses on 
physical issues that may require attention.  An inspection was undertaken following 
social distancing guidelines and an appropriate action plan put in place. 
 
All employees and members adhere to our health and safety policy which can be 
found here and have received mandatory training in this area.  The training includes 
every member of staff receiving a “Health and Safety at Work” booklet covering the 
normal risks faced by staff in office premises. 

The health & safety team has supported the GP federation with regards the safe 
setting up of a contact centre on the second floor of Oak House as well as supporting 
the walk-in vaccination centres at Rotherham Leisure Complex, Montgomery Hall in 
Wath-Upon-Dearne and the walk-in / drive-in seasonal flu vaccination centre at 
Herringthorpe. 
 

 
 
Chris Edwards 
Accountable Officer 
  

http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Policies%20and%20Procedures/Finance/F2%20-%20Counter%20Fraud%20Bribery%20and%20Corruption%20Policy%202018.pdf
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Policies%20and%20Procedures/Corporate%20Policies/C7-%20Health%20and%20Safety%20Policy%20December%202020.pdf
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SECTION 2 - ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT 
 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 
 
Members’ Report 
 
Due to the Coronavirus pandemic our Governing Body public meetings have been 
held virtually and have been broadcast live on You tube.  This innovation 
demonstrated our clear commitment to being open and transparent by continuing to 
conduct our business in the public domain at our monthly Governing Body meetings. 
 
Member Practices 
 
There are 29 Rotherham GP practices which are all members of the CCG.  Six 
Primary Care Network Directors, and deputies, sit on a GP Members Committee.  This 
is responsible for two-way communication and involvement with all 150 GPs in 
Rotherham. 
 
The names of the 29 member practices and six Primary Care Networks can be viewed 
on our website 
 
Details of Directors - Who’s Who 
 
Governing Body 
 
From April 2021 to July 2021, Governing Body meetings were held monthly. There 
was no Governing Body Meeting held in August 2021. During the period of September 
2021 to March 2022 meetings were held on alternate months, totalling eight scheduled 
Governing Body meetings for the year.  
 
Through these meetings the Body has been responsible for making key strategic 
decisions, gaining assurance on how we use resources, agreeing priorities and 
overseeing the organisations budgetary spend. 
 
Composition of Governing Body 
 

Name Position 
Dr Richard Cullen Chair 
Mr John Barber Lay Member for Governance, Finance and Audit – 

Vice Chair 
Mr Chris Edwards Chief Officer (Accountable Officer) 
Mr Ian Atkinson Executive Place Director and Senior Information Risk 

Owner (SIRO) 
Dr Geoff Avery Chair of GP Members Committee 
Dr Jason Page Vice Chair of Strategic Clinical Executive 
Dr Simon Mackeown Vice Chair of GP Members Committee 
Mrs J Wheatley Lay Member for Primary Care 
Mrs Sue Cassin Chief Nurse and Caldicott Guardian 
Mrs Wendy Allott Chief Finance Officer 

http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/LD/List%20of%20Practices%20within%20each%20PCN%20July%202021.pdf
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The Governing Body is made up of four GPs, three executives, a nurse, a hospital 
consultant, three lay members overseeing patient involvement, primary care and 
governance, finance and audit.  During the year, all meetings were fully quorate. 
 
Register of Interests of the Governing Body and Senior Officers 
 
The register of interests declared by the Governing Body can be viewed here 
 
This register includes interests declared by the Governing Body and senior officers of 
the CCG.  In accordance with our constitution, the Accountable Officer is informed of 
any conflict of interest that needs to be included in the register within not more than 28 
days of the change in circumstance. 
 
To be eligible to be a member of the Governing Body, all GPs are required to practice 
within the geographic boundary covered by Rotherham Council, therefore, ‘GP in a 
Rotherham practice’ is not covered in any declaration on the register of interests. 
 
Each director states: “I know of no information which would be relevant to the auditors 
for the purposes of their audit report, and of which the auditors are not aware, and I 
have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any such 
information and to establish that the auditors are aware of it”. 
 
Pension Liabilities 
 
We follow the NHS Pension Scheme which is open to all its employees.  Details of 
how pension liabilities are treated within the CCG can be found in the accounting 
policies in the statement of accounts. 
 
Committees of the Governing Body 
 
Strategic Clinical Executive (SCE) 
 
The SCE comprises of Rotherham GPs and CCG executive officers.  It meets weekly 
to direct work on commissioning activities. 
 
Members 
 
Dr Richard Cullen – Chair 
Dr Jason Page – Vice Chair 
Dr Avanthi Gunasekera 
Dr Phil Birks to December 2021 
Dr David Clitherow 
Dr Anand Barmade 
Dr Sophie Holden 

Ms Debbie Twell Lay Member for Patient and Public Engagement 
Dr Ryan D’Costa Secondary Care Doctor 
Dr David Clitherow Independent GP on Governing Body 
Mrs Ruth Nutbrown  
(In attendance) 

Assistant Chief Officer and Governing Body 
Secretary 

http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/about-us/declaration-of-business-interests_2.htm
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/about-us/declaration-of-business-interests_2.htm


 

48 
 

 
Register of Interest of the Strategic Clinical Executive 
 
The register of interests declared by the Strategic Clinical Executive can be viewed 
here 
 
GP Members Committee (GPMC) 
 
The GPMC Members Committee is a strong advisory group to the SCE and Governing 
Body that ensures that the member practices are linked into all of the wider 
commissioning decisions of the CCG. 
 
During the financial year following a review of the GPMC the committee is now made 
up of six Primary Care Networks (PCNs). 
 
It is representative of all GP Practices in Rotherham via their PCNs and is mandated 
by them.  It makes sure that practices are linked into wider commissioning decisions.  
The committee’s key role is to provide a reference point for all commissioning 
developments, support the GPs on the SCE, to hold the SCE to account for its 
commissioning activities and agree the Annual Commissioning Plan. 
 
The GPMC works through a locality structure having regular contact with executive 
GPs to ensure that the views of all Rotherham GPs are heard.  Over the year, the 
committee’s aim was to facilitate the commissioning of good medical services and 
positively affect the health and well-being of the people of Rotherham, leading to 
improved quality and enhanced efficiency with cost effectiveness. 
  

http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Declarations%20of%20Business%20Interest/2020-21%20Dec%20of%20Int/2020-2121%20SCE%20Declarations%20of%20Conflict%20of%20Interest%20Register.pdf
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GP Members Committee 2021/2022 
 

Name Position Locality Based at 

Dr Geoff Avery Chair 
PCN Director 
Maltby/Wickersley 

 
Blyth Road 
Medical Centre 

Dr Richard 
Fulbrook Member 

PCN 
Representative 
Maltby/Wickersley 

Wickersley 
Health Centre 

Dr Simon 
MacKeown 

Deputy 
Chair 

PCN Director 
Health 
Village/Dearne 
Valley 

 
St Ann’s Medical 
Centre 

Dr Tim Douglas Member 
PCN Director 
Rother Valley 
South  

 
Dinnington Group 
Practice 

Dr Neil Thorman Member 

PCN 
Representative 
Rother Valley 
South 

 
Kiveton Park 
Medical Practice 

Dr Ambreen 
Qureshi  Member 

PCN Director 
Raven  

 
Stag Medical 
Centre 

Dr Bipin 
Chandran Member 

PCN 
Representative 
Raven 

 
Treeton Medical 
Centre 

Dr Nalliagounder 
Ravi Member 

PCN Director 
Rotherham Central 
North 

 
Greenside 
Surgery 

Dr Simon 
Langmead Member 

PCN 
Representative 
Rotherham Central 
North 

 
Broom Lane 
Medical Centre 

Dr Tariq Ahmed Member 
PCN Director 
Wentworth 1  

 
Magna Group 
Practice 

Dr Subbannan 
Sukumar Member 

PCN 
Representative 
Wentworth 1 

 
High Street 
Surgery 

Dr Gokul Muthoo Member Rotherham GP 
Federation 

Stag Medical 
Centre 

 
Register of Interest of GP Members Committee 
The register of interests declared by the GP Members Committee can be viewed here 
 

http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/about-us/declaration-of-business-interests_2.htm
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/about-us/declaration-of-business-interests_2.htm
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/about-us/declaration-of-business-interests_2.htm
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Audit and Quality Assurance Committee (AQuA) 
 
AQuA provides the Governing Body with an independent and objective view of the 
CCG’s financial systems, financial information and compliance with laws, regulations 
and directions governing the group, in so far as, they relate to finance.  It provides 
assurance on the quality of services commissioned and promotes a culture of 
continuous improvement and innovation with respect to safety of services, clinical 
effectiveness and patient experience. 
 
The purpose of the committee is to gain assurance that: 
 
• there is an effective and consistent process in commissioning for quality and 

safety across the CCG 
• high standards of care and treatment are delivered.  This will include areas 

regarding patient safety, effectiveness of care and patient experience 
• an effective system of integrated governance, risk management and assurance 

across the Governing Body activities is established and maintained 
• risks to the achievement of Governing Body objectives are identified and 

assurances obtained that appropriate mitigating action is being taken 
 
During 2021/22 AQuA was also responsible for assurance on the transition process 
from CCG to ICB. 
 
The register of interests declared by the AQuA committee can be viewed here  
 
Primary Care Committee 
 
The PCC is a corporate decision-making body, meeting monthly in public, for the 
management of the delegated functions given by NHS England from 1st April 2015.  It 
makes decisions on the review, planning and procurement of primary care services in 
Rotherham.  The committee has delegated authority from the Governing Body to make 
decisions about primary care on its behalf. 
 
Members of the Primary Care Committee 
 
Name Role 
Mr Chris Edwards Accountable Officer  
Mrs Debbie Twell  Lay Member for Patient and public 

Engagement 
Mr Ian Atkinson Executive Place Director  
Mrs Janet Wheatley  Lay Member - Chair 
Mr John Barber Lay Member for Governance, 

Remuneration, Conflicts of Interest and 
Audit – Vice Chair 

Mrs Sue Cassin Chief Nurse 
Mrs Wendy Allott Chief Finance Officer 
Dr Avanthi Gunasekera  SCE GP Lead for Primary Care 
Dr David Clitherow SCE GP 
Dr Geoff Avery GP Members Committee Rep  

http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Declarations%20of%20Business%20Interest/2020-21%20Dec%20of%20Int/2020-2121%20AQuA%20Declarations%20of%20Conflict%20of%20Interest%20Register.pdf
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There are standing invitations to attend the committee to:  
 

• Connect Healthcare Rotherham (Rotherham GP Federation) 
• Deputy Head of Financial Management 
• Head of Commissioning – Rotherham CCG 
• Head of Medicines Management – Rotherham CCG 
• Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council (RMBC) representative 
• Healthwatch representative 
• Local Medical Committee (LMC) GP representative 
• NHS England 
• Senior Contracting and Service Improvement Manager (Primary Care) 
• Senior Contracts and Service Improvement Officer (PCC administrator and 

minute taker) 
 
The register of interests declared by the Primary Care Committee can be viewed here 
 
Joint Committee of Clinical Commissioning Groups 
 
In 2015 the CCG became a member of the Joint Committee of CCGs (JCCCG). At 
that time the Committee had agreed to delegate authority to make joint decisions on 
two service areas: Hyper Acute Stroke Services and some out of hours Children’s 
Surgery and Anaesthesia services. In June 2019 CCGs agreed to revised Terms Of 
Reference and Manual Agreement and a new set of joint commissioning priorities with 
delegated authority for decision for a number of these, which can be found here 
 
During 2021/2022 the JCCCG has continued to work to the revised TOR and MA and 
developed a joint priorities work plan, although much of the work involved was 
deferred from May 2020 as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, as the NHS moved 
into a national level 4 incident operating under NHSEI command and control.  
 
Due to the deferred work and that no joint decisions were required, most of the 
scheduled public meetings were cancelled. The last meeting held in public, was held 
virtually on 26th August 2020.  Papers for the JCCCG meetings can be found here:  
 
South Yorkshire and Bassetlaw Integrated Care System 
 
The CCG is also a partner in the South Yorkshire and Bassetlaw Integrated Care 
System (ICS). ICSs are systems in which NHS commissioners and providers, working 
closely with local authorities and other partners, agree to take shared responsibility (in 
ways that are consistent with their individual legal obligations) for how they use their 
collective resources to improve quality of care and population health outcomes. They 
are expected to transform the way care is delivered, to the benefit of the population 
they serve. Currently, the ICS does not replace any legal, or statutory, responsibilities 
of any of the partner organisations. 
 
Personal Data Related Incidents 
 
The CCG had no Serious Untoward Incidents relating to data security breaches, which 
also means zero were reported to the Information Commissioner. 

http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/about-us/declaration-of-business-interests_2.htm
https://www.healthandcaretogethersyb.co.uk/application/files/5915/6096/1736/JCCCG_-_26_June_2019_Agenda_and_Papers.pdf
https://www.healthandcaretogethersyb.co.uk/about-us/minutes-and-meetings
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Statement of Disclosure to Auditors 
 
Each individual who is member of the CCG at the time that the Members’ Report is 
approved confirms:  

• so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which 
the CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their 
audit. 

• the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to 
make himself or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish 
that the CCG’s auditors are aware of it. 
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities 
 
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical 
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be 
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England).  NHS England has 
appointed the Chief Officer to be the Accountable Officer of NHS Rotherham CCG. 
 
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health 
Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical 
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.  They include 
responsibilities for: 
 

• the propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable 
Officer is answerable 

• keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at 
any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable 
them to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts 
Direction) 

• safeguarding the CCG’s assets (and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities) 

• the relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public 
Money 

• ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and 
economically (in accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service 
Act 2006 (as amended)) and with a view to securing continuous improvement in 
the quality of services (in accordance with Section14R of the National Health 
Service Act 2006 (as amended)) 

• ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 
223J of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 

 
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed 
each CCG to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in the form and 
on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction.  The accounts are prepared on an 
accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the CCG and 
of its income and expenditure, Statement of Financial Position and cash flows for the 
financial year. 
 
In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the 
requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to: 
 

• observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant 
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies 
on a consistent basis 

• make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis 
• state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government 

Financial Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any 
material departures in the accounts and 

• confirm that the annual report and accounts as a whole are fair, balanced and 
understandable and take personal responsibility for the annual report and 
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accounts and the judgements required for determining that it is fair, balanced 
and understandable. 

 
As the Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to 
make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that  
NHS Rotherham CCG auditors are aware of that information.  So far as I am aware, 
there is no relevant audit information of which the auditors are unaware. 
 

 
 
Chris Edwards 
Accountable Officer 
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SECTION 3 - GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
 
Introduction and Context 
 
NHS Rotherham CCG is a corporate body established by NHS England on  
1 April 2013 under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 
 
The CCG’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 
(as amended).  The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of services for 
persons for the purposes of the health service in England.  The CCG is, in particular, 
required to arrange for the provision of certain health services to such extent as it 
considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its local population. 
 
As at 1 April 2021, the CCG is not subject to any directions from NHS England issued 
under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006. 
 
Scope of Responsibility 
 
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal 
control that supports the achievement of the CCG’s policies, aims and objectives, 
whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally responsible, 
in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public Money.  I 
also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service Act 
2006 (as amended) and in my CCG Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 
 
I am responsible for ensuring that the CCG is administered prudently and 
economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding 
financial propriety and regularity.  I also have responsibility for reviewing the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control within the CCG as set out in this 
governance statement. 
 
Governance Arrangements and Effectiveness 
 
The main function of the Governing Body is to ensure that the group has made 
appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, 
efficiently and economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of 
good governance as are relevant to it. 
 
The CCG is a membership organisation of 29 practices that are responsible for 
commissioning a range of health services on behalf of the people of Rotherham. 
 
3.1 Constitution 
 
The Group’s constitution sets out the arrangements to meet the responsibilities and to 
ensure that decisions are made in an open and transparent way and that the interests 
of patients and the public are central.  The constitution covers the responsibilities of 
individual member practices, the GP Members Committee (GPMC), the Governing 
Body and committees of the Governing Body.  The constitution was last reviewed and 
updated in 2020 with the amendments going to NHS England for approval. 
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3.2 Scheme of Reservation and Delegation 
 
The Group’s scheme of Reservation and Delegation sets out the decision-making 
responsibilities reserved for the membership as a whole and those decisions that are 
the responsibility of the Governing Body (and its committees, sub-committees, 
individual members and employees). 
 
When discharging their delegated functions they must comply with the Group’s 
principles of good governance, operate in accordance with the Group’s scheme of 
reservation and delegation, comply with the Group’s standing orders, arrangements 
for discharging its statutory duties and operate in accordance with their approved 
terms of reference. 
 
3.3 The Governing Body 
 
The Governing Body is made up of 13 members, seven clinical members and six non-
clinical members, which ensure all decisions, have a clinical majority focus. 
 
The Governing Body has been in place throughout the period 2021/22 and was 
quorate at each meeting. 
 
The budget for which the Governing Body is responsible for, includes the resources for 
community health services, maternity care, elective hospital services, urgent care, 
ambulance services, emergency and non-elective hospital services, older people’s 
healthcare, children and young people’s healthcare, rehabilitation services, healthcare 
for people with mental health and learning disabilities, Continuing Healthcare and GP 
primary care services. 
 
Governing Body membership and attendance at meetings is tabled overleaf: 
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Table 1: Membership and Attendance at Governing Body 
 
RCCG 
Governing 
Body 
Member 

Position From-To Possible 
Attendance 

Actual 
Attendances 

% 

Dr Richard 
Cullen 

GP - SCE 
Chair Member 

01.04.2021 
-

31.03.2022 

8 7 87% 

Mr Chris 
Edwards 

Chief Officer 01.04.2021 
-

31.03.2022 

8 8 100% 

Mr Ian 
Atkinson 

Executive 
Place Director 

01.04.2021 
-

31.03.2022 

8 6 75% 

Mrs 
Wendy 
Allott 

Chief Finance 
Officer 

01.04.2021 
-

31.03.2022 

8 7 87% 

Mrs Sue 
Cassin 

Chief Nurse 01.04.2021 
-

31.03.2022 

8 8 100% 

Dr Simon 
McKeown 

GP - GPMC 01.04.2021 
-

31.03.2022 

8 7 87% 

Dr Geoff 
Avery 

GP - GPMC 01.04.2021 
-

31.03.2022 

8 7 87% 

Mr John 
Barber 

Lay Member 
Governance, 
Finance and 
Audit and Vice 
Chair 

01.04.2021 
-

31.03.2022 

8 7 87% 

Ms Debbie 
Twell 

Lay Member 
Patient and 
Public 
Engagement 

01.04.2021 
-

31.03.2022 

8 8 100% 

Dr Ryan 
D’Costa 

Secondary 
Care Doctor 

01.04.2021 
-

31.03.2022 

8 6 75% 

Dr Jason 
Page 

GP 
Representative 

01.04.2021 
-

31.03.2022 

8 7 87% 

Dr David 
Clitherow 

Independent 
GP 
Representative 

01.04.2021 
-

31.03.2022 

8 7 87% 

Mrs Janet 
Wheatley 

Lay Member – 
Primary Care 

01.04.2021 
-

31.03.2022 

8 8 100% 
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3.3.1 Vote of Confidence 
 
In accordance with the CCG’s constitution, the CCG undertakes a Vote of Confidence 
from its members each year.  One question was asked: 
 

• Do you have confidence in the executive teams of the CCG? 
  Of the practices who responded 89% responded positively with the 

remaining practices abstained. 
 
3.3.2 Functions of the Governing Body 
 
Listed below are the additional functions which are connected to the main functions of 
the Governing Body: 
 

• lead the setting of vision and strategy 
• approve consultation arrangements for the commissioning plan and 

approve the 2021/22 commissioning plan 
• monitor performance against delivery of the Annual Commissioning Plan 
• provide assurance of strategic risk 
• ensure the public sector Equality Duty is met 
• ensure active membership of the HWBB 
• secure public involvement 

promote the NHS Constitution 
• delegate assurance of continuous improvement in quality to AQuA 
• promote increased co-commissioning of primary care services to 

increase quality, efficiency, productivity and value for money to remove 
administrative barriers 

• monitor the clinical quality of commissioned services 
• have regard to the need to reduce health inequalities 
• promote involvement of patients, their carers and representative in 

decisions about their healthcare 
• act with a view to enable patients to make choices 
• promote innovation 
• promote research 
• promote education and training 
• promote integration of health services where this would improve quality 

or reduce inequalities 
• have responsibility for all financial duties. 

 
The Governing Body was updated throughout the year on the COVID-19 Pandemic 
specifically in relation to the population of Rotherham and the effect on health 
services.  
 
The Governing Body considered a range of strategies, policies quality/financial/ 
performance assurance reports and risk/governance reports throughout the year. 
 
The Governing Body monitored performance on a monthly basis against the key 
performance indicators, which included the headline and support measures identified 
in the Operating Framework.  For those indicators assessed as being below target, 
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reasons for current performance were identified and included in the report along with 
any remedial actions to improve performance. 
 
The Governing Body ensured that the organisation consistently followed the principles 
of good governance applicable to NHS organisations.  This includes the oversight and 
development of systems and processes for financial control, organisational control, 
clinical governance and risk management, with the risk management system being 
refreshed in year.  The Governing Body assessed strategic and corporate risks 
against the CCG strategic objectives via the assurance framework. 
 
3.3.3 CCG Governing Body Performance including self-assessment 
 
This year saw the Governing Body outside its formal Governing Body meetings come 
together to understand the change and transition of the organisation to the South 
Yorkshire Integrated Care Board. 
 
They attended facilitated workshops: 
 

• Setting up of the Transition Executive Group 
• ICE Design 
• Rotherham Place Design. 

 
The organisation has a number of officers and advisors with lead responsibilities for 
governance and risk management. 
 
3.3.4 Responsibilities 
 
The Chief Officer has responsibility for: 
 

• ensuring that the CCG fulfils its duties to exercise its functions effectively, 
efficiently and economically thus ensuring improvement in the quality of 
services and the health of the local population whilst maintaining value for 
money 

 
• ensuring that the regularity and propriety of expenditure is discharged, that 

arrangements are put in place to ensure that good practice is embodied and 
that safeguarding of funds is ensured through effective financial and 
management systems 

 
• working closely with the Chair of the Governing Body and ensuring that proper 

constitutional, governance and development arrangements are put in place to 
assure the members (through the Governing Body) of the organisation’s on-
going capability and capacity to meet its duties and responsibilities.  This has 
included arrangements for the on-going development of its members and staff. 

 
The Executive Place Director has the responsibility of working with the clinical 
executive for developing and delivering the CCG’s commissioning plan.  Also, within 
this role additional responsibilities include the required contract management of all 
clinical commissioned services as well as taking the lead role in performance 
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management for the CCG.  The Executive Place Director is also the organisation’s 
SIRO. 
 
The Chief Nurse is responsible for the management of serious incidents and is the 
organisation’s Caldicott Guardian.  The role also has the lead for clinical governance, 
responsibility for strategic development and operational implementation of patient 
safety, clinical risk management, safeguarding, quality of commissioned services and 
infection prevention and control.  The Chief Nurse provides written evidence of 
assurance to the Governing Body on a monthly basis. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer has responsibility for the implementation of financial risk 
management and ensuring strong financial governance processes and procedures are 
in place. 
 
The Assistant Chief Officer is responsible for corporate governance including risk 
management, co-ordinating the CCG’s approach to governance, risk management and 
measures/monitors overall governance and risk management performance within the 
organisation.  Also responsible for complaints, claims and Freedom of Information 
requests, providing written evidence of assurance to the Governing Body on a 
quarterly basis. 
 
Lay Members in conjunction with the executive team, have responsibility for reviewing 
risk management strategies, processes and risk related issues via reports to the 
relevant committees.  Individuals have particular responsibilities in relation to their 
membership and chairmanship of various sub-committees. 
 
All staff undertake a workplace induction which raises awareness of risk management 
policies and procedures and complete core mandatory training. 
 
A mandatory training needs analysis is in place which clearly identifies the mandatory 
training requirements for all staff. 
 
3.4 GP Members Committee (GPMC) 
 
The GPMCs main function is to be a strong advisory group to the SCE and the 
Governing Body and to ensure that member practices are linked into all of the wider 
commissioning decisions of the Group. 
 
It is representative of all of the GP Practices in Rotherham and is mandated by them 
via the Primary Care Networks (PCNs).  The committee’s key role is to support the 
GPs on the SCE and to hold the SCE to account for its commissioning activities.  It 
should provide a ‘reference’ point for all commissioning developments. 
 
The Committees responsibilities are: 
 

• To ensure that the opinions of the wider GP Community on strategic 
commissioning decisions are communicated to the SCE through the 
PCN representatives including agreeing the Annual Commissioning 
Plan.  

• To oversee the implementation of the CCG plan  
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• To discuss system operating issues that may affect the 
implementation of the plan,  
• e.g. interfaces with partner organisations (TRFT, RDaSH etc.).  
• Responsible for constitution  
• To present the view of the PCNs 

The table below shows the membership and attendance at the GPMC: 
 
Table 2: Membership and Attendance at GPMC 

GP Members 
Committee 

Position From - To Possible 
Attendance 

Actual 
Attendance 

% 

Dr Richard 
Cullen 

GP – NHS Rotherham 
CCG SCE Chair Member 

01.04.2021 
- 

31.03.2022 
11 9 82 

Dr Jason 
Page 

GP – NHS Rotherham 
CCG SCE Deputy Chair 

01.04.2021 
- 

31.03.2022 
11 10 91 

Dr Geoff 
Avery  

GP – GPMC 
Chair – PCN Director 
Wickersley/Maltby 

01.04.2021 
- 

31.03.2022 
11 10 91 

Dr Simon 
McKeown 

GP - GPMC Deputy Chair 
PCN Director – Health 
Village/ Dearne Valley 

01.04.2021 
- 

31.03.2022 
11 10 91 

Dr Tim 
Douglas 

GP - PCN Director 
Rother Valley South 

01.04.2021 
- 

31.03.2022 
11 10 91 

Dr Neil 
Thorman 

GP - PCN Representative 
Rother Valley South 

01.04.2021 
- 

31.03.2022 
11 10 91 

Dr Ambreen 
Qureshi 

GP - PCN Director 
Raven 

01.04.2021 
- 

31.03.2022 
11 9 82 

Dr Bipin 
Chandran  

GP - PCN Representative 
Raven 

01.04.2021 
- 

31.03.2022 
11 10 91 

Dr 
Nalliagounder 
Ravi  

GP - PCN Director 
Rotherham Central North 

01.04.2021 
- 

31.03.2022 
11 8 73 

Dr Simon 
Langmead  

GP - PCN Representative 
Rotherham Central North 

01.04.2021 
- 

31.03.2022 
11 7 64 

Dr Tariq 
Ahmed 

GP – PCN Director 
Magna Medical Centre 

01.04.2021 
- 

31.03.2022 
11 8 73 

Dr Sukumar 
 

GP - Wentworth one 
High Street Surgery 

01.04.2021 
- 

31.03.2022 

 
11 
 

10 91 

Dr Richard 
Fulbrook 

GP 
Wickersley Health Centre 

01.04.2021 
- 

31.03.2022 
11 8 73 
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Dr Gokul 
Muthoo 

Rotherham GP 
Federation 

01.04.2021 
- 

31.03.2022 
11 9 82 

 
3.5 Strategic Clinical Executive (SCE) 
 
The SCE provides a forum for the Commissioning Lead-GPs to give CCG staff a 
clinical perspective in progressing the business of the Group and to be the ‘engine 
house’ of the Governing Body with regards to producing its plans and leading on their 
delivery. 
 
Specific functions include: 
 

• operational delivery of individual GPs’ lead areas 
• preparing strategic plans for Governing Body 
• approving changes to clinical pathways 
• seeking the views of the GPMC on all strategic matters and receive its 

recommendations. 
• To support the Project Management Office (PMO) with clinical advice, 

continuity of process, challenge and scrutiny in relation to the CCG’s QIPP 
Schemes. 

 
3.6 Audit and Quality Assurance Committee (AQuA) 
 
The AQuA committee was established in April 2013 at the inception of the CCG as a 
statutory sub-committee reporting directly to the Governing Body. 
 
The committee’s primary role has been to review and report upon the adequacy and 
effective operation of the organisation’s overall governance and internal control 
system, including risk management, financial, operational and compliance controls, 
together with the related assurances that underpin the delivery of the organisation’s 
objectives contained within the assurance framework.  This role is set out clearly in the 
committee’s Terms of Reference which have been revised during 2020/21 to ensure 
these key functions are embedded within the constitution and governance 
arrangements of NHS Rotherham CCG. 
 
The committee reviews the effective local operation of internal and external audit, as 
well as the Counter Fraud service.  In addition, it ensures that a professional 
relationship is maintained between the external and internal auditors so that reporting 
lines can be effectively used.  In addition, the committee maintains oversight of the 
assurance processes associated with the quality of services commissioned on behalf 
of Rotherham patients. 
 
The Committee membership and attendance at meetings are tabled below: 
 
Table 3: AQuA membership and attendance at meetings. 
 
AQuA 
Member 

Position From-To Possible 
Attendance 

Attendance % 
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Mr John 
Barber 

Lay Member 
Governance 

01/04/2021-
31/03/2022 

7 7 100 

Ms Debbie 
Twell 

Lay Member 
Public & 
Patient 
Engagement 

01/04/2021-
31/03/2022 

7 7 100 

Mrs Janet 
Wheatley 

Lay Member 
Primary Care 

01/04/2021-
31/03/2022 

7 7 100 

Dr Jason 
Page 

GP 
Governance 

01/04/2021-
31/03/2022 

7 7 100 

 
In addition, other officers from within the organisation have been invited to attend 
where it was felt that to do so would assist in the effective fulfilment of the committee’s 
responsibilities.  According to the Terms of Reference the Chief Officer attends one 
meeting annually. 
 
In Attendance: 
Mr Ian Atkinson, Executive Place Director 
Mrs Wendy Allott, Chief Finance Officer 
Mr Matt Jones, Head of Financial Services 
Mrs Sue Cassin, Chief Nurse 
Mrs Ruth Nutbrown, Assistant Chief Officer 
The CCG’s internal auditors provided by 360 Assurance, the CCG’s external auditors 
provided by KPMG 
The local counter fraud officer provided by 360 Assurance 
Administration has been provided by the Corporate Business Support Team. 
 
3.7 Primary Care Committee (PCC) 
 
The PCC is a corporate decision-making body, meeting monthly in public, for the 
management of the delegated functions given by NHS England from 1st April 2015.  It 
makes decisions on the review, planning and procurement of primary care services in 
Rotherham.  The committee has delegated authority from the Governing Body to make 
decisions about primary care on its behalf. 
 
Table 4: Primary Care Committee membership and attendance at meetings 
 
Member Position From to Possible 

Attendance 
Attended % 

Mrs Wendy 
Allott****** 

Chief Finance Officer 01/04/2021 – 
31/03/2022 13 5 38 

Mr John 
Barber* 

Lay Member - Attends 
if Lay member Chair 
unavailable 

01/04/2021 – 
31/03/2022 13 0 0 
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Mrs Sue 
Cassin/Deputy 
** 

Chief Nurse 01/04/2021 – 
31/03/2022 13 5 38 

Mr Chris 
Edwards/ 
Deputy 

Chief Officer 01/04/2021 – 
31/03/2022 13 11 84 

Ms Debbie 
Twell***** 

Lay Member PPE - 
Vice Chair 

01/04/2021 – 
31/03/2022 

13 13 100 

Mrs Janet 
Wheatley 

Lay Member - Chair 01/04/2021 – 
31/03/2022 

13 13 100 

Mr Ian Atkinson Executive Place 
Director 

01/04/2021 – 
31/03/2022 13 10 76 

 

Dr Geoff Avery GP Members Rep 01/04/2021 – 
31/03/2022 

7 6 85 

Dr Avanthi 
Gunasekera**** 

SCE GP Lead for 
Primary Care 

01/04/2021 – 
31/03/2022 

7 5 71 

Dr David 
Clitherow/Dr 
Phil Birks to 
Dec 2021 

2nd Lead SCE GP 01/04/2021 – 
31/03/2022 7 5 71 

Deputising as per Terms of Reference 
 
* Only required to attend when covering for one of the other lay members on 

the committee 
** Deputy assigned by Chief Nurse as and when required 
*** Executive Place Director is a member and will also cover for Chief Officer as 

and when required 
**** An SCE GP will cover for SCE GP Lead for Primary Care to be assigned as 

and when required. 
***** Deputy for Chair as and when required 
****** Deputy for Chief Finance Officer is Deputy Head of Financial Management 

 
3.8 Patient and Public Engagement (PPE) and Communications Sub-
 Committee 
 
The PPE and Communications Sub-committee was established in 2015/16, to provide 
strategic and operational leadership for the development of effective public and patient 
involvement and communication. 
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Its main responsibilities are to:  
 
• Ensure that Patient and Public Engagement is central to the business of the CCG, 

and that it is embedded in all decision-making processes adopted by the CCG 
• Oversee the development and implementation of the communications and 

engagement strategies and action plans. 
• Advise the Governing Body on all matters relating to engagement and the process 

of formal consultation.  
• Ensure that the CCG (and the services it commissions) engage in meaningful 

dialogue with its public, patients and partners  
• Ensure that engagement, communication and consultation plans and processes 

and in particular those used in service transformation and service redesign meet 
the principles and standards in the CCG’s own strategy and reflect nationally 
accepted good practice. 

• Address ways to increase wider patient & public involvement/engagement, 
scanning for and implementing new and innovative mechanisms for engagement, 
especially in regard to under-engaged communities 

• Ensure the CCG has effective communications processes in place to manage its 
reputation as a local leader of the NHS. 

• Ensure that Equality and Diversity is embedded across Communication and 
Engagement activities by having due regards to the 9 protected characteristics 
under the Equality Act 2010. 

• Monitor delivery of the Communications and Engagement Plans 
• Monitor delivery against a range of standards relating to engagement, 

communications and consultation. 
• Encourage continuous improvement in the quality of engagement and 

communication 
• Provide assurance to the Governing Body on communication and patient, carer 

and public engagement.  This includes assurance that the needs, views and 
aspirations of patients, carers, local community groups and the general public 
have:  

• helped shape and influence service delivery 
• are being used to develop priorities, strategies and plans 
• have helped to procure services 
• are being used to monitor services in terms of safety, quality and positive 

patient experience. 
•  

During the year the committee has discussed at length:  

• The experiences of COVID-19 
• Service Change in Emergency (due to COVID-19) 
• SYB ICS 
• Rotherham Place: Comms and Engagement 
• Changes in Commissioned Services (due to COVID-19) 
• Vaccination Volunteers 

 
and received reports on: 

 
• Autism Pathway 
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• Healthwatch Annual Report 
• Small Grants for Mental Health 
• Social Movement in Health 
• Dementia. 
 
Composition of the PPE and Communications Sub-Committee is shown in the table 
below: 
 
Table 5: Patient and Public Engagement and Communications Sub-committee 
membership and attendance at meetings 
 
Member Position From-To Possible 

Attendance 
Attendance % 

Ms Debbie Twell Lay Member 
– Patient 
and Public 
Engagement 

01/04/2021-
31/03/2022 

6 6 100 

Mrs Helen Wyatt Patient and 
Public 
Engagement 
Manager 

01/04/2021-
31/03/2022 

6 5 83 

Mr Gordon 
Laidlaw 

Head of 
Comms 

01/04/2021-
31/03/2022 

6 5 83 

Mrs Sue 
Cassin/Deputy 

Chief Nurse 01/04/2021-
31/03/2022 

6 4 67 

Mrs Ruth 
Nutbrown/Deputy 

Assistant 
Chief Officer 

01/04/2021-
31/03/2022 

6 3 50 

Mrs Lydia 
George 

Planning 
and 
Assurance 
Manager 

01/04/2021-
31/03/2022 

6 2 33 

Mrs Lesley 
Cooper 

Healthwatch 01/04/2021-
31/08/2021 

2 2 100 

Dr Richard 
Cullen 

Lead GP 01/04/2021-
31/03/2022 

6 3 50 

Ms Jacqui 
Wiltschinsky 

Public 
Health 

01/04/2021-
31/03/2022 

6 2 33 
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Specialist, 
RMBC 

Mr Shafiq 
Hussain 

Chief 
Executive, 
VAR 

01/04/2021-
31/03/2022 

6 4 67 

Emma Roberts Information 
officer, VAR 

01/09/21-
31/03/22 

4 4 100 

 

3.9 Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee (RaTS) 
 
The RaTS was established in April 2013 reporting directly to the Governing Body. 
 
The Committee, on behalf of the Governing Body, proposes changes to all aspects of 
remuneration - including any performance related payments, pensionable pay and 
other entitlements, as applicable. 
 
It will also propose arrangements for termination of employment and other contractual 
terms for those staff. 
 
It proposes allowances payable to members of the Governing Body, the SCE and the 
GPMC. 
 
In undertaking these responsibilities, it operates within the relevant contractual 
provisions for these staff groups, taking due account of relevant national guidance, 
directions and legislation. 
 
The committee meets on an ad hoc basis as and when during the year it needs to 
meet to conduct its business.  
 
Committee Membership during 2021/22 is shown in the table below: 
 
Table 6: Remuneration Committee membership  
 

Member Position From - To  
Mr John Barber Lay Member for 

Governance  
01.04.2021 

– 
31.03.2022 

 

Ms Debbie Twell Lay Member – Public and 
Patient Engagement 

01.04.2021 
– 

31.03.2022 

 

Mrs Janet Wheatley Lay Member –  
Primary Care (Chair) 

01.04.2021 
– 

31.03.2022 

 

Dr Richard Cullen GP (Governing Body 
Chair) 

01.04.2021 
– 

31.03.2022 
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Dr Jason Page GP – SCE (Finance and 
Governance) 

01.04.2021 
– 

31.03.2022 

 

Dr Geoff Avery  GP – GPMC 01.04.2021 
– 

31.03.2022 

 

Dr Simon MacKeown GP – GPMC 01.04.2021 
– 

31.03.2022 

 

Mr Chris Edwards Chief Officer 01.04.2021 
– 

31.03.2022 

 

Mrs Wendy Allott Chief Finance Officer 01.04.2021 
– 

31.03.2022 

 

Mr Ian Atkinson Executive Place Director 02.12.2021 
– 

31.03.2022 

 

In Attendance: Mrs Ruth Nutbrown, Assistant Chief Officer 
and Mr Peter Smith, Head of Human Resources 

 

 
The Committee has met virtually once this year to approve pay awards, changes to 
policies, and to update its Terms of Reference. 
 
3.10 Health and Wellbeing Board (HWBB) 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Board is a statutory, sub-committee of RMBC.  Locally, it is 
the single strategic forum to ensure co-ordinated commissioning and delivery across 
the NHS, social care, public health and other services directly related to health and 
well-being in order to secure better health and well-being outcomes for the whole 
Rotherham population, better quality of care for all patients and care users and better 
value for the taxpayer. 
 
The Board brings together key decision makers to address issues of local significance 
and to seek solutions through integrated and collaborative working, whilst being an 
advocate and ambassador for Rotherham collectively on regional, national and 
international forums. 
 
Functions of the Board include: 
 

• to enable, advise and support organisations that arrange for the provision of 
health or social care services to work in an integrated way, for the purpose of 
advancing the health and well-being of people in Rotherham 
 

• to ensure that public health functions are discharged in a way that help partner 
agencies to fully contribute to reducing health inequalities 
 

• to oversee the development of local commissioning plans, to ensure that all 
commissioning plans take account of the Health and Well-being Strategy and 
are aligned to other policies and plans that have an effect on health and well-
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being, and where necessary initiate discussions with the NHS England if an 
agreed concern exists regarding a failure to take account of the strategy 
 

• to hold relevant partners to account for the quality and effectiveness of their 
commissioning plans 
 

• to ensure that there are arrangements in place to provide assurance that the 
standards of service provided, and quality of service are safe, meet national 
standards and local expectations 

 
• to reduce health inequalities and close the gap in life expectancy by ensuring 

that partners are targeting services to those who need it the most 
 

• to develop a shared understanding of the needs of the local community through 
the statutory Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA), and ensure public 
engagement and involvement in the development of the JSNA so that the 
experiences of local people influence policy development and service provision 

 
• to promote the development and delivery of services which support and 

empower the citizen taking control and ownership for their own health, whilst 
ensuring the safeguarding of vulnerable adults and children 

 
• to develop a joint Health and Well-being Strategy to provide the overarching 

framework for commissioning plans for the NHS, social care and public health 
and other services that the Board agrees to consider such as education, 
housing and planning and to subject this strategy to regular review and 
evaluation 

 
• to assess whether the commissioning arrangements for social care, public 

health and the NHS are sufficiently aligned to the joint Health and Well-being 
Strategy and promote joined up commissioning plans and pooled budget 
arrangements where all parties agree this makes sense 

 
• to prioritise services (through the development of the Health and Well-being 

Strategy) that are focused on prevention and early intervention to deliver 
reductions in demand for health and social care services 

 
• to oversee, at strategic level, the relevant joint communications, 

marketing/social marketing and public relations programmes and campaigns 
required to support the delivery of health and well-being objectives in the 
borough and ensure that local people have a voice in shaping and designing 
programmes for change 

 
• to ensure that the people of Rotherham are aware of the Health and Well-being 

Board, have access to the relevant information and resources around the 
different work streams and can contribute where appropriate. 

 
The Rotherham Health and Wellbeing Board developed a new 2018-25 Strategy.  This 
Strategy fulfils the duty set out in the Health and Social Care Act (2012) and sets out 
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the overarching framework for health and care commissioning plans in Rotherham.  
The Rotherham Integrated Health and Social Care Place Plan 2020-22 aligns to the 
refreshed HWBB Strategy. 
 
4.0 UK Corporate Governance Code 
 
NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance.  
 
5.0 Discharge of Statutory Functions 
 
In light of recommendation of the 2013 Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of the 
statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 
(as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations.  As a result, I can 
confirm that the CCG is clear about the legislative requirements associated with each 
of the statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any restrictions on 
delegation of those functions. 
 
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead officer. 
Executive officers have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability 
and capacity to undertake all of the CCG’s statutory duties. 
 
6.0 Risk Management Arrangements and Effectiveness 
 
The CCG’s integrated risk management system continued to be developed during 
2021/22 in line with internal audit recommendations. 
 
The CCG has a responsibility to ensure that the organisation is properly governed in 
accordance with best practice corporate, clinical and financial governance.  Every 
activity that the CCG undertakes or commissions others to undertake on its behalf, 
brings with it some element of risk that has the potential to threaten or prevent the 
organisation achieving its objectives. 
 
This integrated risk management system includes a framework (policy and procedural 
documents), Governing Body assurance framework, and the issues log to support the 
risk register, to enable the organisation to have a clear view of the risks and issues 
affecting each area of its activity how those risks are being mitigated, the likelihood of 
occurrence and their potential impact on the successful achievement of the CCG 
objectives.  This system continued to work well during the year. 
 
The policy applies to all members of the CCG, the SCE, Operational Executive and all 
managers to ensure that risk management is a fundamental part of the CCG’s 
approach to the governance of the organisation and all its activities. 
 
The policy: 
 

• sets out the organisational attitude to and appetite for risk 
• clearly defines the structures for the management and ownership of risk 
• clearly identifies how to manage and mitigate situations in which a potential risk 

develops into an actual risk 
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• specifies the way in which risk issues are considered at each level of business 
planning 

• specifies how new and existing activities are assessed for risk and dependent 
on the level of risk  

• uses common terminology and scoring in relation to risk issues which is 
replicated across the assurance framework and risk register 

• defines the structures for gaining assurance about the management of risk 
• defines the way in which the risk register, assurance framework, issues log, and 

risk evaluation criteria will be regularly reviewed 
• is easily available to all staff on the CCG website. 

 
7.0 Capacity to Handle Risk 
7.1 NHS Rotherham CCG Governing Body 
 
The Governing Body has a duty to assure itself that the organisation has properly 
identified the risks it faces, processes and controls in place to mitigate those risks and 
the impact they have on the organisation and its stakeholders.  The Governing Body 
discharges this duty as follows: 
 
Identifies risks to the achievement of its strategic objectives: 
 

• monitors these on an on-going basis via the assurance framework 
• ensures that there is a structure in place for the effective management of risk 

throughout the CCG 
• receives assurance regarding risk management within organisations providing 

services commissioned by the CCG 
• approves and reviews strategies for risk management on an annual basis 
• receives the minutes of AQuA, and any items that have been identified for 

escalation to the Governing Body 
• receives the assurance framework on a regular basis, assures itself of progress 

on mitigating actions and assurance regarding the significant risks identified in 
relation to commissioned services and 

• demonstrates leadership, active involvement and support for risk management. 
 
7.2 AQuA Committee 
 
One of the committee’s primary roles is: 
 

• ensuring risks to the achievement of Governing Body objectives are identified 
and assurances obtained that appropriate mitigating action is being taken. 

 
This role is set out clearly in the committee’s Terms of Reference to ensure that key 
functions are embedded within the Constitution and governance arrangements of the 
CCG. 
 
The committee reviews the effective local operation of internal and external audit, as 
well as the Counter Fraud service ensuring that a professional relationship is 
maintained between the external and internal auditors, so that reporting lines can be 
effectively used.  
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In addition, the committee maintains oversight of the assurance processes associated 
with the quality of services commissioned on behalf of Rotherham patients. 
 
7.3 SCE and GPMC 
 
The GP members of the SCE and members of the GPMC promote risk management 
processes as part of clinical governance with all member practices.  This ensures that 
practices continuously improve quality of primary care and report risks relating to 
commissioned services to the CCG, and risks relating to primary care to NHSE to 
ensure that risks are identified and managed. 
 
7.4 The Chief Officer 
 
The Chief Officer has overall accountability for the management of risk and is 
responsible for: 
 

• continually promoting risk management and demonstrating leadership, 
involvement and support 

• ensuring an appropriate committee structure is in place, with regular reports to 
the Governing Body 

• ensuring that the Operational Executive, SCE and senior managers are 
appointed with managerial responsibility for risk management 

• ensuring appropriate policies, procedures and guidelines are in place and 
operating throughout the CCG 

• ensuring complaints, claims and health and safety management are managed 
appropriately. 

 
7.5 Executive Place Director 
 
The Executive Place Director has delegated responsibility for contractual and 
performance risk management.  They have the responsibility working with the SCE for 
developing and delivering the CCG’s commissioning plan.  Also, within this role 
additional responsibilities include the required contract management of all clinical 
commissioned services as well as taking the lead role in performance management for 
the CCG. 
 
7.6 Chief Finance Officer 
 
The Chief Finance Officer has delegated responsibility for financial risk management. 
 
7.7 Chief Nurse 
 
The Chief Nurse has delegated responsibility for clinical risk management including: 
 

• the executive lead responsible for safeguarding adults, safeguarding children 
• managing and overseeing the performance management of serious incidents 

reported by providers of its commissioned services regarding Rotherham 
registered patients as per delegated responsibility by NHSE 
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• ensuring that processes are in place to provide assurance with regard to clinical 
risk management within commissioned services, this includes (but not 
exclusively), patient safety regarding commissioned services in line with local 
and national legislation and guidance 

• collating intelligence from the SCE with responsibility for quality of primary care, 
secondary care and mental health services. 

 
7.8 The Assistant Chief Officer 
 
The Assistant Chief Officer has delegated responsibility for the overarching 
management of risk within the CCG including: 
 

• ensuring risk management systems are in place 
• ensuring the assurance framework is regularly reviewed and updated and 

reported to AQuA ensuring that an organisational risk register is established, 
maintained and reported to AQuA 

• ensuring that there is appropriate external review of risk management systems, 
and that these are reported to the CCG Governing Body overseeing the 
management of risks as determined by the executive team 

• ensuring that identified risk mitigation and actions are put in place, regularly 
monitored and implemented 

• providing advice on the risk management process. 
 
7.9 Individuals Responsible 
 
The following individuals:  
Clinical Chair NHS Rotherham Governing Body, Vice Chair of NHS Rotherham 
Governing Body, GPs with lead responsibility for primary care quality, secondary care, 
mental health quality, Children’s and Adult Safeguarding have responsibility for 
identifying risks in their specific areas and discussing these with the Chief Nurse and 
ensuring that assessment and mitigation is carried out providing assurance to the 
Governing Body via the AQuA. 
 
7.10 All Senior Managers 
 
Senior Managers are responsible for incorporating risk management within all aspects 
of their work and for directing the implementation of the CCG Integrated Risk 
Management System by: 
 

• demonstrating personal involvement and support for the promotion of risk 
management 

• ensuring that staff accountable to them understand and pursue risk 
management in their areas of responsibility 

• setting personal objectives for risk management and monitoring their 
achievement 

• ensuring risks are identified and managed and mitigating actions implemented 
in functions for which they are accountable and are included in the 
organisational risk register as appropriate 

• ensuring risks are escalated where they are of a strategic nature 
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• implementing the framework in relation to Health and Safety and other 
employment legislation by: 

 
a) ensuring that they have adequate knowledge and/or access to all 

legislation relevant to their area and as advised by appropriate specialist 
officers ensure that compliance to such legislation is maintained 

b) ensuring that adequate resources are made available to provide safe 
systems of work 

c) ensuring that all employees attend appropriate mandatory training, as 
relevant to the role, e.g. health and safety, fire safety, moving and 
handling and risk management training 

d) ensuring that all staff are aware of the system for the reporting of 
accidents and near misses 

e) monitoring of health and safety standards, including risk assessments, 
and ensuring that these are reviewed and updated regularly 

f) ensuring the identification of all employees who require Health 
Surveillance according to risk assessments; ensuring that where Health 
Surveillance is required no individual carries out those specific duties 
until they have attended the Occupational Health Department and have 
been passed fit 

g) ensuring that the arrangements for the first aiders and first aid 
equipment required within the organisation are complied with.  That the 
location of first aid facilities are known to employees; ensuring that 
proper care is taken of casualties and that employees know where to 
obtain appropriate assistance in the event of serious injury 

h) making adequate provision to ensure that fire and other emergencies 
are appropriately dealt with. 

 
7.11 All Staff 
 
All staff working for the CCG are responsible for: 
 

• being aware that they have a duty under legislation to take reasonable care of 
their own safety and the safety of others who may be affected by the CCG’s 
business and to comply with appropriate CCG rules, regulations, instructions, 
policies, procedures and guidelines 

• taking action to protect themselves and others from risks 
• identifying and reporting risks to their line manager 
• ensuring incidents claims and complaints are reported using the appropriate 

procedures and channels of communication 
• co-operating with others in the management of the CCG’s risks 
• attending mandatory and statutory training as determined by the CCG or their 

Line Manager 
• being aware of emergency procedures relating to their particular locations 
• being aware of the CCG’s Integrated Risk Management Policy and complying 

with the procedures. 
 

7.12 Contractors, Agency and Locum Staff 
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Managers are aware through training that they must ensure that where they are 
employing or contracting agency and locum staff they are made aware of, and adhere 
to, all relevant policies, procedures and guidance of the CCG, including the CCG 
Incident Reporting Policy and Procedure and the Health and Safety Policy.  This 
includes a duty to take action to protect themselves and others from risks and to bring 
to the attention of others the nature of risks which they are facing in order to ensure 
that they take appropriate protective action. 
 
8.0 Risk Assessment 
 
Risk identification, assessment and monitoring is a continuous structured process in 
ensuring that the CCG works within the legal and regulatory framework, identifying 
and assessing possible risks facing the organisation, and planning to prevent and 
respond to these.  The process of risk management covers the following five steps to 
risk assessment: 
 

• Step 1 - Identify the risk 
• Step 2 – Assess the risk 
• Step 3 – Evaluate the risk 
• Step 4 – Record the risk 
• Step 5 – Review the risk. 

 
Risk management is embedded in the activity of the organisation through the above 
measures and also through assessments of specific risks e.g. information governance, 
equality impact assessment and business continuity. 
 
Control measures are in place to ensure that all the CCG’s obligations under equality, 
diversity and human rights legislation are complied with. 
 
8.1 Risk Assessment in relation to Governance, Risk Management and 
 Internal Control 
 
The CCG operates a standard 5 x 5 matrix for assessing risk as shown below in 
Figures 1 and 2. 
 
Figure 1: NHS Rotherham CCG Risk Matrix 
 

Risk Matrix Likelihood 

 (1) 
Rare 

(2) 
Unlikely 

(3) 
Possible 

(4) 
Likely 

(5) 
Almost 
certain 

C
on

s
eq

ue
 Negligible 

 1 2 3 4 5 



 

76 
 

Minor 
 2 4 6 8 10 

Moderate 
 3 6 9 12 15 

Major 
 4 8 12 16 20 

Extreme 
 5 10 15 20 25 

 
Figure 2: Risk Scores 
 

1-5 Low 

6-11 Medium 

12-15 High 

16-20 Very High 

25 Extreme 

 
The CCG Risk Register and assurance framework were updated on an ongoing basis 
to reflect any changes to currently identified risks or to add newly identified risks and 
were both updated on a quarterly basis throughout 2021/22. 
 
The table overleaf shows the number of risks on the Risk Register and Governing 
Body assurance framework as at end of March 2022: 
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Table 7: Number of risks on the CCG Risk Register and Assurance Framework 
as at the end of March 2022 are below: 
 

Risk Score Assurance 
Framework Risk Register Rating Explained 

2 0 3 Low Risk 

3 0 1 Low Risk 

5 0 0 Low Risk 

6 0 0 Medium Risk 

8 0 1 Medium Risk 

9 0 2 Medium Risk 

10 1 0 Medium Risk 

10.5 0 1 Medium Risk 

12 4 5 High Risk 

15 0 0 High Risk 

16 0 3 Very High Risk 

20 0 2 Very High Risk 

25 1 0 Extreme Risk 

Total (4 scoring 12 or 
above) 

(10 scoring 12 or 
above)  

 
The CCG continues to develop the Governing Body Assurance Framework, Risk 
Register and Issues log with regular confirm and challenge conversations with 
principal risk owners, and Operational Executive members. 
 
9.0 Other Sources of Assurance 
9.1 Internal Control Framework 
 
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place within the 
CCG to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives.  It is designed to identify 
and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the 
impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and 
economically. 
 

http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Publications/GBAF%202022%20-%20LIVE%20full%20v8.7.pdf
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Publications/Risk%20Register%202022%20-%20LIVE%20full%20v7.7%20-%20Risk%20Order.pdf
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Publications/Risk%20Register%202022%20-%20LIVE%20full%20v7.7%20-%20Risk%20Order.pdf
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The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather 
than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance of effectiveness. 
 
The CCG has established and maintains, via AQuA, continual reporting, auditing and 
monitoring to ensure standards are being implemented and, therefore, risk is 
controlled to the lowest reasonably practicable levels. 
 
Methods for identifying and managing levels of risk would include: 
 

• internal methods, such as incidents, complaints, claims and audits, project risks 
based on the achievement of project objectives, patient satisfaction surveys, 
risk assessments, surveys including staff surveys, whistle-blowing and contract 
quality monitoring of commissioned services. 

 
• external methods such as media, national reports, new legislation, National 

Patient Safety Agency (NPSA) surveys, reports from assessments/inspections 
by external bodies, reviews of partnership working. 

 
All identified risks are recorded and managed through the organisational Risk 
Register/Issues Log and risks identified which could impact on the achievement of the 
CCG’s strategic objectives are recorded and managed through the assurance 
framework. 
 
All groups reporting to the CCG Governing Body highlight risks for inclusion within the 
organisational Risk Register/Issues Log or assurance framework. 
 
Risk identification is also obtained from member practices through practice visits, 
locality meetings, GPMC meetings, patient engagement forums, practice feedback 
forums and Practice Managers meetings. 
 
9.2 Annual Audit of Conflicts of Interest (CoI) Management 
 
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published 
June 2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest 
management.  To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has published a 
template audit framework.  
 
The annual internal audit of CoI has been carried out.  The audit was undertaken to 
evaluate the design and operating effectiveness of the arrangements that the CCG 
has in place to manage CoI and gifts and hospitality, including compliance with NHS 
England’s statutory guidance on managing CoI for CCGs.  The review focussed on the 
following five areas: 
 

• Governance arrangements including, whether policies/procedures comply with 
legal requirement and statutory guidance, an appropriate number of Lay 
Members and a Conflict of Interest Guardian is/are appointed, required training 
has been provided. 
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• Declarations of interests and gifts and hospitality including whether declarations 
are being made and recorded in accordance with legal requirements and 
statutory guidance. 

• Register of interests, gifts and hospitality and procurement decisions including 
whether each of these registers is maintained and published in accordance with 
legal requirements and statutory guidance. 

• Decision making processes and contract monitoring including whether there are 
mechanisms for the management of conflicts within meetings, when making 
procurement decisions and in relation to contract management. 

• Reporting concerns and identifying and managing breaches/non-compliance 
including, whether processes are in place for managing breaches and for the 
publication of anonymised details of breaches on the CCG’s website. 

 
NHS Rotherham can confirm that there were no partially or non-compliant and/or 
require improvement recommendations and Significant Assurance was given as the 
outcome of this audit. 
 
9.3 Data Quality 
 
The majority of numerical data presented to the Governing Body is produced by our in-
house team, who process provider information under a Service Level Agreement with 
the CCG.  
 
The CCG’s major providers including The Rotherham NHS Foundation Trust and 
RDaSH participate in internal and external audits of their data quality. 
 
9.4 Information Governance (IG) 
 
In 2018 the Data Security and Protection Toolkit (DSPT) replaced the Information 
Governance Toolkit.  The DSPT is used to assess organisations against the National 
Data Guardian’s data security standards.  Assessment of organisational practice using 
the DSPT is carried out annually.  The DSPT is released in July with a deadline to 
submit at the end of June the following year.  Each year the CCG carries out an Action 
Plan to ensure that the organisation has robust information governance practices in 
line with the requirements of the data security standards.  In 2020/21, the CCG met all 
of the DSPT standards and is on track to meet all of the DSPT standards in 2021/22. 
 
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance 
systems and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information.  The 
CCG has an established Information Governance Group which meets monthly.  The 
Group chaired by the CCG’s Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO), oversees the 
information governance agenda and ensures that systems are in place to deliver high 
standards of information governance.  It provides assurance to the CCG Operational 
Executive (OE) and the AQuA Committee that the CCG is compliant with relevant law, 
external accreditations, mandatory regulation and guidance.  We have established an 
information governance management framework and continue to develop information 
governance processes and procedures in line with the Data Security and Protection 
Toolkit.  The CCG has appointed experienced members of staff to key roles including 
the SIRO, Caldicott Guardian and the Head of Information Governance and Data 
Protection Officer and provided them with an appropriate level of training and support.  
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We have ensured all staff undertake annual information governance training and have 
implemented policies and procedures to ensure staff are aware of their information 
governance roles and responsibilities. 
 
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious 
incidents.  We have developed information risk assessment and management 
procedures and a programme is established to fully embed an information risk culture 
throughout the organisation against identified risks. 
 
9.5 Business Critical Models 
 
An appropriate framework and environment is in place to provide quality assurance of 
business-critical models, in line with the recommendations in the Macpherson report. 
 
9.6 Third Party Assurances 
 
There are partnership arrangements with the Rotherham Partnership and also the 
Rotherham HWBB.  There are a range of other partnerships relevant to stakeholder 
groups including PPGs, the Local Safeguarding Boards, ‘Working Together’ for 
collaborative arrangements with other CCGs and meetings with NHS England both to 
provide assurance and as a co-commissioner. Arrangements are in place to effectively 
share information between partners. 
 
We achieve a dialogue with our shareholders based on the mutual understanding of 
our objectives 
 
10.0 Control Issues 
 
The CCG identified no issues via the Month 9 Governance Statement Return. 
 
11.0 Review of Economy, Efficiency and Effectiveness of the Use of Resources 
 
The Governing Body has overarching responsibility for ensuring that the CCG has 
appropriate arrangements in place to exercise its functions effectively, efficiently and 
economically and in accordance with the principles of good governance.  Our 
constitution delegates responsibility to ensure appropriate arrangements are in place 
for the CCG to fulfil this duty to the AQuA.  The Chief Finance Officer has delegated 
responsibility to determine arrangements to ensure a sound system of financial 
control. 
 
The AQuA Committee receives opinions from the work of the internal and external 
auditors to the CCG and is able to advise the Governing Body on the assurances 
available with regards to the economic, efficient and effective use of resources by the 
CCG. 
 
11.1 Delegation of functions 
 
During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the CCG and explained within 
the Corporate Governance Framework were developed with extensive expert external 
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legal input, to ensure compliance with all relevant legislation.  That legal advice also 
informed the matters reserved for GPMC and Governing Body decisions and the 
scheme of delegation. 
 
11.2 Counter Fraud Arrangements 
 
An accredited Counter Fraud specialist is contracted to undertake Counter Fraud work 
proportionate to identified risks. 
 
The CCG adheres to NHS Counter Fraud Authority standards in ensuring that the 
CCG has appropriate anti-fraud, bribery and corruption arrangements in place and that 
the Counter Fraud specialist will look to achieve the highest standards possible in their 
work. 
 
The AQuA Committee receives a regular progress report against each of the 
standards for commissioners. The AQuA Committee also receives a Counter Fraud 
specialist report on an annual basis. There is executive support and direction for a 
proportionate proactive work plan to address identified risks. 
 
The CCG has a GP Lead and Lay Member with responsibility for audit who are 
members of the Governing Body and are responsible for tracking fraud, bribery and 
corruption. 
 
Effective from 1 April 2021 the NHS Counter Fraud Authority (NHSCFA) implemented 
the Government Functional Standard 013: Counter Fraud (‘the Functional Standard’) 
within the NHS.  During the year, the NHSCFA have developed their requirements in 
relation to the functional standard. 
 
All NHS funded services are required to comply with the standard.  Progress against 
the requirements of the standard is overseen by the CCG’s Chief Finance Officer and 
Audit and Quality Assurance Committee (AQuA).  The CCG is required to self-assess 
against the requirements of the standard annually by completing and submitting the 
CCG’s Counter Fraud Functional Standard Return (CFFSR).  This requires prior sign 
off by the CCG’s Chief Finance Officer and the AQuA chair.  Further detail of the 
CCG’s submission can be found in the Counter Fraud Annual Report 
 
12.0 Head of Internal Audit Opinion 
 
“Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the CCG, the 
Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective opinion on the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the CCG’s system of risk management, governance and internal 
control.  The Head of Internal Audit concluded that: 
 
In consideration of the above, I am providing an interim opinion of Significant 
assurance that there is a generally sound framework of governance, risk management 
and control designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are 
generally being applied consistently. In accordance with the ICB Establishment and 
Due Diligence Checklist, we have reviewed the adequacy of the CCG’s transition 
plans. Feedback has been provided through the SYB Change and Transition 
Programme Board on areas where arrangements for governance and risk 
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management, as well as workstream assurances, should be strengthened. The SYB 
Change and Transition Programme Board have responded to this feedback at their 
meeting in March and have set out the steps to be taken to support the next phase of 
the work. It is therefore important that these actions are seen through, at the earliest 
opportunity, to ensure that an effective transition takes place in accordance with the 
closedown deadline of 30 June 2022”. 
 
 
The table below indicates a summary of the work undertaken during 2021/22 by 
Internal Audit. 
 



 

83 
 

 
13.0 Review of the Effectiveness of Governance, Risk Management and 
Internal Control 
 
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work 
of the internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads within the CCG who 
have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control 
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framework. I have drawn on performance information available to me.  My review is 
also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their annual audit letter 
and other reports. 
 
Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls 
that manage risks to the CCG achieving its principle objectives have been reviewed. 
 
I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review by the Governing 
Body and the AQuA Committee.  The role and conclusions of each were:  
 

• the assurance framework is used as the plan to address weakness and ensure 
continuous improvement of the system.  The CCG have been involved with the 
full review and development of the assurance framework and have maintained 
an overview of the assurance framework, commenting as appropriate and 
endorsing actions.  The assurance framework has been approved by the AQuA 
Committee. 

 
• the Governing Body has overseen the work of the AQuA Committee, 

determining the CCG’s approach to risk management and ensuring that 
systems of internal control exist and are functioning properly.  The AQuA 
Committee oversee all issues of risk management within the CCG, ensuring 
that all significant risk management concerns are considered and 
communicated appropriately to the Governing Body. 

 
• the CCG Governing Body and the AQuA Committee review the establishment 

and maintenance of an effective system of internal control and risk 
management and also received and reviewed the assurance framework. 

 
14.0 Conclusion 
 

• No significant control weaknesses have been identified during the year.  The 
CCG has received positive feedback from Internal Audit on the assurance 
framework and this, in conjunction with other sources of assurance, leads the 
CCG to conclude that it has a robust system of control. 

 

 
 
Chris Edwards 
Accountable Officer 
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Remuneration and Staff Report 
 
Remuneration Policy 
 
Chaired by the Lay Member for Governance, Finance and Audit, the Remuneration 
Committee is a sub-committee of the Governing Body that advises on determinations 
about the remuneration, fees and other allowances for employees and for people who 
provide services to the organisation and on determinations about allowances under 
any pension scheme that the organisation may establish as an alternative to the NHS 
pension scheme.  
 
For the purpose of this report senior managers are defined as: 
 
‘those persons in senior positions having authority or responsibility for directing or 
controlling the major activities of the Trust.  This means those who influence the 
decisions of the organisation as a whole rather than the decisions of individual 
directorates or departments.’  
 
The salaries and relevant pension details of the most senior managers, and the Lay 
Members of the Governing Body, who had control over the major activities of the CCG 
in 2021/2022 can be found in the Summary Financial Statement.  There were no early 
termination issues for senior officers to report in the year. 
 
Costs of staffing to the organisation can be found in the staff report section. 
 
The Remuneration Committee members this year consisted of: 
 

• CCG Lay Member – Governance, Mr. J Barber 
• CCG Lay Member – Primary Care, Mrs. J Wheatley (Chair) 
• CCG Lay member – Patient & Public Engagement, Mrs. D Twell 
• The GP Chair of the CCG, - Dr R Cullen 
• The GP for Finance and Governance, Dr J Page 
• A GP from the CP Members Committee – Dr G Avery/Dr S Mackeown 
• The Chief Officer of the CCG, Mr. C Edwards 
• The Chief Finance Officer of the CCG, Mrs. W Allott. 

 
The Committee had the opportunity to request specific advice from others including 
Human Resources. 
 
Senior Managers Remuneration and Terms of Service 
 
For the purposes of the Remuneration Report senior managers are defined as:  
 
‘those persons in senior positions having authority for directing or controlling the major 
activities of the clinical commissioning group.  This means those who influence the 
decisions of the clinical commissioning group as a whole rather than the decisions of 
individual directorates or departments.  Such persons will include advisory and lay 
members’  
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The Accountable Officer of the CCG has determined that this definition applies to all 
voting members of Governing Body as set out in the CCG’s Constitution.  The 
executive directors, GP Chair, GP elected members and lay members’ remuneration 
for 2021/22 was determined by the Remuneration Committee and took account of 
national guidance where this had been issued. 
 
Executive Officers (Directors) are on permanent contracts.  The only contractual 
liability on the CCG’s termination of an Executive's contract is six months' notice.  
Details of the terms of office of other Governing Body members can be found in the 
CCG’s Standing Orders which form part of the CCG’s Constitution – available here 
 
Compensation for Early Retirement or Loss of Office 
 
No payments have been made in compensation for early retirement or loss of office. 
 
Payments to Past Directors 
 
No payments have been made to past directors. 
 
Off-Payroll Engagements 
 
Off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2022, for more than £245 per day and that last 
longer than six months are as follows: 
 
  

Number 
The number that have existed: 0 
• For less than one year at the time of reporting 0 
• For between one and two years at the time of reporting 0 
• For between two and three years at the time of reporting 0 
• For between three and four years at the time of reporting 0 
• For four or more years at the time of reporting 0 
Total number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2022 0 

 
All existing off-payroll engagements, outlined above, have at some point been subject 
to a risk-based assessment as to whether assurance is required that the individual is 
paying the right amount of tax and, where necessary, that assurance has been 
sought. 
  

http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Constitution/Constitution%2030%20May%202018.pdf
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Number 

 
Total number of new engagements, or those that reached six months 
in duration, between 1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 0 
Of which  
Number assessed as caught by IR35 
 0 
Number assessed as NOT caught by IR35 0 
  
Number engaged directly (via PSC contracted to department) and 
are on departmental payroll 0 
Number of engagements reassessed for consistency/assurance 
purposes during the year 0 
Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status following 
the consistency review 0 
  

Number 
 

Number of off-payroll engagements of Membership Body and/or 
Governing Body members, and/or, senior officials with significant 
financial responsibility, during the financial year 

0 

Number of individuals that have been deemed “Membership Body 
and/or Governing Body members, and/or, senior officials with 
significant financial responsibility”, during the financial year (this 
figure includes both off-payroll and on-payroll engagements) 

2 

 
Fair Pay Disclosure 
 
Pay ratio information 
As at 31 March 2022, remuneration ranged from £8,283 to £159,297 (+5.25% against 
2020/21: £8,283-£150,939) based on annualised, full-time equivalent remuneration of 
all staff (including temporary and agency staff). Total remuneration includes salary, 
non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-in-kind, but not severance 
payments.  It does not include employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent 
transfer value of pensions. 
 
Remuneration of Rotherham’s CCG staff is shown in the table below: 
 25th 

percentile 
 

Median 
75th 

percentile 
‘All staff’ remuneration based on annualised, 
full-time equivalent remuneration of all staff 
(including temporary and agency staff) 

 
£27,780 

 
£39,027 

 
£49,288 

Salary component of ‘all staff’ remuneration 
based on annualised, full-time equivalent 
remuneration of all staff (including temporary 
and agency staff) 

 
£27,780 

 
£39,027 

 
£49,288 

 
Percentage change in remuneration of the highest paid director 
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 Salary and 
allowances 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 

The percentage change from the previous 
financial year in respect of the highest paid 
director 

3.28% 0% 

He average percentage change from the 
previous financial year in respect of employees 
of the entity, taken as a whole 

-0.05% 0% 

 
The ratios of staff remuneration against the mid-point of the banded remuneration of 
the highest paid director, is illustrated in the table below. 
 

Year 25th percentile 
pay ratio 

Median pay ratio 75th percentile 
pay ratio 

2021/22 5.67 4.04 3.20 
2020/21 5.65 4.02 2.95 

 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration 
of the highest-paid director / member in their organisation against the 25th percentile, 
median and 75th percentile of remuneration of the organisation’s workforce. Total 
remuneration is further broken down to show the relationship between the highest paid 
director's salary component of their total remuneration against the 25th percentile, 
median and 75th percentile of salary components of the organisation’s workforce.  
 
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/member in Rotherham CCG in 
the financial year 2021/22 was £155k-£160k (+3.28% against 2020/21: £150k-£155k) 
and the relationship to the remuneration of the organisation's workforce is disclosed in 
the below table. 
 

Year 25th 
percentile 

total 
remuneration 

ratio 

25th 
percentile 

salary 
ratio 

Median total 
remuneration 

ratio 

Median 
salary 
ratio 

75th 
percentile 

total 
remuneration 

ratio 

75th 
percentile 

salary 
ratio 

2021/22 5.67 5.67 4.04 4.04 3.20 3.20 
2020/21 5.65 5.65 4.02 4.02 2.95 2.95 

 
In 2021/22 no employees received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid 
director/member (2020/21 nil). 
 
The movement is due to staff structure changes and the Agenda for Change salary 
movements between 2020/21 and 2021/22. Rotherham CCG believes the median pay 
for the relevant financial year is consistent with the pay, reward and progression 
policies for the entity’s employees taken as a whole, as any changes to terms and pay 
structures are nationally negotiated and reflected through the Agenda for Change 
bandings.  Further information can be found at https://www.nhsemployers.org/ .  In 
2021/22, no (2020/21, Nil) employees received remuneration in excess of the highest-
paid director/member 
 

https://www.nhsemployers.org/
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Exit Packages and Non-Contractual Payments 
 
There were no exit packages or non-contractual payments in year. 
  



 

90 
 

Staff Report 
 
We recognise our staff as our biggest asset and work in partnership with them to 
develop our organisation.  We were delighted with their response to the recent NHS 
annual staff survey, which shows we have developed.  The response rate was 85%, 
which allows us to understand our employees’ perception and satisfaction levels, 
which again were favourable when compared with the national average. 
 
We have a dedicated and adaptable workforce, with the capacity and capability to 
deliver our objectives.  We are proud to be compliant with all mandatory and statutory 
training, scoring within the top CCGs in the country for completion. 
 
We have a monthly All Staff Meeting which all staff, managers, senior managers and 
directors attend to discuss issues and receive feedback particularly about transition 
arrangements. 
 
We recognise that the importance of effective staff communication and involvement is 
especially crucial for the development of our organisation.  The arrangements 
described above, along with our staff intranet, help to keep staff informed about 
developments and organisational policies.  Our Human Resource function provided by 
NHS Sheffield CCG as a joint service, help us to manage all relevant activity related to 
our workforce. 
 
Staff Policies 
 
We are committed to ensuring equal opportunities in employment and have 
appropriate policies in place to provide guidance, including in specific areas such as 
Maternity Leave and Retirement, and via our Equality Strategy and Single Equality 
Scheme which covers six equality strands.  Our staff related policies are consulted on 
with staff before being approved by the Governing Body.  All approved staff related 
policies are available here 
 
Average Number of People Employed 
 

 2021/22 2020/21 
Total 
Number 

Permanently 
Employed 
Number 

Other 
Number 

Total 
Number 

Total 116 94 22 99 
 
Of the figure above, number of whole-time equivalents people engaged on capital 
projects was nil (2020/21 = 0) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/hr-policies.htm
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Staff Composition 
 

As at 31/03/2022 Female Male 
Governing Body 4 9 
Very Senior Managers 1 2 
Operational Executive 
(Directors equivalent) 

2 3 

All Employees  98 26 
 
Equality & Diversity Data 
 

Gender Headcount % 
Female 98 79 
Male 26 21 

 
Consultancy Expenditure 
 

Consultancy Spend  £'k 
       
Value incurred in 2021/22 0 
       
Value incurred in 2020-21 6 
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Employee Benefits 
 
 

 
 
Positive About Disabled People 
All job applicants who meet the minimum criteria for a post are shortlisted for interview in accordance with our two tick’s disability symbol 
employer status.  
 
Sickness Absence and Ill Health Retirements Data 
 
The Department of Health and Social Care have taken the decision to not commission the data production exercise for NHS bodies this year. 
Information can be found on the NHS Digitals publication site: https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-sickness-
absence-rates  
 
NHS Rotherham CCG has had no ill health retirements during 2021/22 and 2020/21 

Employee benefits and staff numbers

Total
Permanent 
Employees Other Total

Permanent 
Employees Other

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages 5,396 4,460 936 4,848 4,411 437
Social security costs 479 479 0 453 453 0
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 860 860 0 825 825 0
Apprenticeship Levy 10 10 0 10 10 0
Gross employee benefits expenditure 6,745 5,809 936 6,136 5,699 437

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (204) (204) 0 (202) (202) 0
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised 
costs 6,541 5,605 936 5,934 5,497 437

Less: Employee costs capitalised 0 0 0 0 0 0
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 6,541 5,605 936 5,934 5,497 437

Employee benefits 2020-21Employee benefits 2021-22

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-sickness-absence-rates
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-sickness-absence-rates
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Employee Consultation 
 
Throughout the year we have maintained good relationships with trade unions consulting with them where appropriate on policy and procedure 
decisions. We have provided regularly updates via recorded video and continued to hold our monthly ‘All Staff Meetings’ on Zoom to generate 
discussions and ideas, where each team in the organisation is given the opportunity to organise table work to inform others about their area of 
work and to provide staff with the opportunity to ask questions and make suggestions. 
 
Where staff have ideas and suggestions for improvement, they are encouraged to share these with their line manager for further exploration and 
then an appropriate route for discussion and implementation is identified.  
 
A staff suggestion box, mainly via email, has been maintained throughout the year, where ideas for improvement within the organisation are 
gathered, shared with the operational executive and then actioned appropriately. All outcome decisions from suggestions are communicated 
back to staff at the monthly all staff meeting. Feeding back to staff on how their ideas and suggestions have been actioned and is key to having 
good engagement with our staff. 
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Trade Union Facility Time 
 
Relevant Union Officials 
 
What was the total number of your employees who were relevant union officials 
during the relevant period? 

Table 1 
Number of employees who were 
relevant union officials during the 
relevant period 

Full-time equivalent number 

1 0.17 
 
Percentage of time spent on facility time 
 
How many of your employees who were relevant union officials employed during the 
relevant period spent a) 0%, b) 1%-50%, c) 51%-99%, d) 100% of their working 
hours on facility time? 
 
Table 2 
Percentage of time Number of employees 
0% 0 
1%-50% 1 
51%-99% 0 
100% 0 

 
Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time 
 
Provide the figures requested in the first column of the table below to determine the 
percentage of your total pay bill spent on paying employees who were relevant union 
officials for facility time during the relevant period. 
 
Table 3 
First Column Figures 
Provide the total cost of facility time £ 
Provide the total pay bill £4,460,000 
Provide the percentage of the total pay 
bill spent on facility time, calculated as: 
(total cost of facility time ÷total pay bill) 
× 100 

0.04% 

 
Paid Trade Union activities 
 
As a percentage of total paid facility time hours, how many hours were spent by 
employees who were relevant union officials during the relevant period on paid trade 
union activities? 

Table 4 
Time spent on paid trade union activities 
as a percentage of total paid facility time 
hours calculated as: 

86.9% 
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(total hours spent on paid trade union 
activities by relevant union officials 
during the relevant period ÷ total paid 
facility time hours) × 100 
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Directors Remuneration

Salary and 
Fees

Expense 
Payments**** 

(taxable)

Performance  
pay and 
bonuses

Long term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses

All Pension 
Related 

Benefits*****
Total Salary and 

Fees

Expense 
Payments 
(taxable) 

Performance  
pay and 
bonuses

Long term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses

All Pension 
Related 

Benefits**
Total

A B C D E   

Name and Title

(bands of 
£5k)

(Rounded to 
nearest £00)

(bands of 
£5k) (bands of £5k) (bands of 

£2.5k)
(bands of 

£5k) (bands of £5k) (Rounded to 
nearest £00) (bands of £5k) (bands of £5k) (bands of 

£2.5k)
(bands of 

£5k)

£0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0

C.Edwards* 90-95 2.8 0 0 0 95-100 110-115 3.6 0 0 22.5 - 25 130-135
Chief  Officer 

I.Atkinson 110-115 0.0 0 0 47.5 - 50 160-165 105-110 0.0 0 0 37.5 - 40 145-150
Executive Place Director

W.Allott 105-110 0.0 0 0 50 - 52.5 155-160 100-105 0.0 0 0 32.5 - 35 135-140
Chief Finance Officer 

S.Cassin 95-100 0.0 0 0 35 - 37.5 130-135 90-95 0.0 0 0 60.0 - 62.5 150-155
Chief Nurse 

R.Cullen** 65-70 0.0 0 0 0 65-70 65-70 0.0 0 0 0 65-70
Chair of Governing Body

J Page 60-65 0.0 0 0 0 60-65 50-55 0.0 0 0 0 50-55
Vice Chair of Strategic Clinical Executive

D Clitherow 30-35 0.0 0 0 0 30-35 30-35 0.0 0 0 0 30-35
Independent GP

G Avery 15-20 0.0 0 0 0 15-20 15-20 0.0 0 0 0 15-20
Chair of GP Members Committee 

S.Mackeown 15-20 0.0 0 0 0 15-20 15-20 0.0 0 0 0 15-20
Vice Chair of GP Members Committee

Dr R.D.Costa *** 5-10 0.0 0 0 0 5-10 5-10 0.0 0 0 0 5-10
Secondary Care Specialist Doctor 

J.Barber 10-15 0.0 0 0 0 10-15 10-15 0.0 0 0 0 10-15
Lay Member / Chair of Audit Committee

D Twell 10-15 0.0 0 0 0 10-15 10-15 0.0 0 0 0 10-15
Lay Member

Janet Wheatley 10-15 0.0 0 0 0 10-15 10-15 0.0 0 0 0 10-15
Lay Member 

**** Taxable benefits relate to Car Allowance.
***** All Pension Related Benefits. For defined benefit schemes, the amount included here is the annual increase in pension entitlement determined in accordance with the "HMRC" method shown below.

Remuneration of Very Senior Managers (VSMs) 
The CCG’s Accountable Officer on a Very Senior Manager contract has been paid more than £150,000 per annum on an annualised basis.

2021-22 2020-21

Increase = ((20 x Pension as at 31.3.22) + Pension lump sum as at 31.3.22) - ((20 x Pension as at 31.3.21 adjusted by inflation) + Pension lump sum as at 31.3.21 adjusted by inflation) less the employees pension 
contributions for 2021-22.

** The Chair of the CCG in 2021/22 has carried out work one day a week for the South Yorkshire and Bassetlaw Intergrated Care system (ICS). The cost of this time has been recharged back to the ICS. The total 
value was £38k (20/21 £37k). The total remuneration for all employments was £101,341 (20/21 £99,354)

* The Chief Officer for Rotherham Clinical Commissioning Group commenced in September 2020 a new joint role as Chief Officer for Rotherham and Barnsley Clinical Commissioning Group. The cost of this 
time (two days a week) has been recharged back to Barnsley Clinical Commissioning Group and will be shown in there Remuneration report. The total value of the recharge relating to 21/22 was £72k. The total 
remuneration for all employments was £159,297 (20/21 £150,939)

The Accountable Officer is a joint post between NHS Rotherham CCG and NHS Barnsley CCG, with NHS Rotherham CCG being the employer. The remuneration was reviewed and approved by NHS Rotherham CCG’s 
remuneration committee as the employer of the Accountable Officer and subsequently NHS Barnsley CCG’s remuneration committee noted the change in remuneration.  Under the pay sector guidance; with the joint role 
and responsibility the remuneration level was deemed reasonable and appropriate.

*** Included within the salary of the Secondary Care Specialist Doctor is a payment for there clinical excellence awards.
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Salary and Pension Entitlements 
 

 
 
 

Real Real increase Total accrued Lump sum Cash Real increase Cash Employer's Real Real increase Total accrued Lump sum Cash Real increase Cash Employer's 
increase in in pension pension at age at age 60 Equivalent  in Cash Equivalent contribution increase in in pension pension at age at age 60 Equivalent  in Cash Equivalent contribution 
pension at lump sum 60 at 31 related to Transfer Equivalent Transfer to partnership pension at lump sum 60 at 31 related to Transfer Equivalent Transfer to partnership

age 60 at aged 60 March accrued pension Value at Transfer Value at pension age 60 at aged 60 March accrued pension Value at Transfer Value at pension 
(bands of (bands of 2022 at 31 March 1 April Value 31 March  (bands of (bands of 2021 at 31 March 1 April Value 31 March  

Pension entitlements £2,500) £2,500) (bands of 2022 (bands of 2021 2022  £2,500) £2,500) (bands of 2021 (bands of 2020 2021  
Name and title £5,000) £5,000) £5,000) £5,000)    

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £'00 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £'00

C.Edwards** 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 40-45 105-110 712 27 757 0

I.Atkinson 2.5 - 5.0 0 - 2.5 30-35 50-55 362 28 406 0 2.5 - 5.0 0 - 2.5 25-30 45-50 321 21 362 0
Executive Place Director

W.Allott 2.5 - 5.0 2.5 - 5.0 45-50 95-100 815 54 886 0 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 40-45 90-95 752 36 815 0
Chief Finance Officer 

S.Cassin*** 0 - 2.5 5 - 7.5 30-35 100-105 0 0 0 0 2.5 - 5.0 7.5 - 10.0 30-35 95-100 0 0 0 0
Chief Nurse

* As Lay Members, GP's and the Secondary Care Specialist Doctor do not receive pensionable remuneration from the CCG, there are no entries in respect of pensions for those members.
** Member has opted out of the NHS Pension scheme.
*** Member has reached retirement age, therefore no option of transfer value is applicable.

Real Increase in CETV

2021-22 2020-21

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the members' accrued benefits and any contingent spouse's pension payable from the 
scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefit accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown 
relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies.
The CETV figure, and the other pension details, include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their 
purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.

This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement) and uses common 
market valuation factors for the start and end of period. The % uplift for inflation is 0.5%.

Chief Officer
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Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report 
 
NHS Rotherham CCG is not required to produce a parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report. 
Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts and fees and 
charges are included as notes in the Financial Statements of this report at page 1 to page 22.  An 
audit certificate and report is also included in this Annual Report.  



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE 
GOVERNING BODY OF NHS ROTHERHAM CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP 
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Opinion  

We have audited the financial statements of NHS Rotherham Clinical Commissioning Group 
(“the CCG”) for the year ended 31 March 2022 which comprise the Statement of 
Comprehensive Net Expenditure, Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Changes in 
Taxpayers’ Equity and Statement of Cash Flows, and the related notes, including the 
accounting policies in note 1. 

In our opinion the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the CCG’s affairs as at 31 March 2022 and of its 
income and expenditure for the year then ended; and 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the accounting policies directed by NHS 
England with the consent of the Secretary of State as being relevant to CCGs in England 
and included in the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 
2021/22. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs 
(UK)”) and applicable law.  Our responsibilities are described below.  We have fulfilled our 
ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of the CCG in accordance with, UK ethical 
requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard.  We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion. 

Emphasis of matter – going concern 

We draw attention to the disclosure made in disclosure note 1.1 to the financial statements 
which explains that on 30 June 2022, NHS Rotherham CCG will be dissolved and its services 
transferred to South Yorkshire Integrated Care Board. Under the continuation of service 
principle, the financial statements of the CCG have been prepared on a going concern basis 
because its services will continue to be provided by the successor public sector entity. Our 
opinion is not modified in this respect. 

Going concern basis of preparation 

The Accountable Officer has prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as 
they have not been informed by the relevant national body of the intention to dissolve the CCG 
without the transfer of its services to another public sector entity. They have also concluded 
that there are no material uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over its ability to 
continue as a going concern for at least a year from the date of approval of the financial 
statements (“the going concern period”).   
 
In our evaluation of the Accountable Officer’s conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to 
the CCG’s operating model and analysed how those risks might affect the CCG’s financial 
resources or ability to continue operations over the going concern period.  
Our conclusions based on this work: 

• we consider that the Accountable Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in 
the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate; 

• we have not identified, and concur with the Accountable Officer’s assessment that there is 
not, a material uncertainty related to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, 
may cast significant doubt on the CCG’s ability to continue as a going concern for the going 
concern period. 



However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may 
result in outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they 
were made, the above conclusions are not a guarantee that the CCG will continue in operation.   
 
Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations – ability to detect 
 
Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to fraud 

To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud (“fraud risks”) we assessed events or 
conditions that could indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity 
to commit fraud. Our risk assessment procedures included: 
 
• Enquiring of management, the Audit Committee and internal audit and inspection of policy 

documentation as to the CCG’s high-level policies and procedures to prevent and detect 
fraud, including the internal audit function, and the CCG’s procedure for “whistleblowing”, 
as well as whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud. 

• Assessing the incentives for management to manipulate reported expenditure as a result 
of the need to achieve statutory targets delegated to the CCG by NHS England. 

• Reading Governing Body and Audit Committee minutes. 

• Using analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships. 

• Reviewing the CCG’s accounting policies. 

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any 
indications of fraud throughout the audit. 

As required by auditing standards, and taking into account possible pressures to meet 
delegated statutory resource limits, we performed procedures to address the risk of 
management override of controls, in particular the risk that CCG management may be in a 
position to make inappropriate accounting entries.  
 
On this audit we did not identify a fraud risk related to revenue recognition because of the nature 
of funding provided to the CCG, which is transferred from NHS England and recognised through 
the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity. However, in line with the guidance set out in 
Practice Note 10 Audit of Financial Statements of Public Sector Bodies in the United Kingdom 
we recognised a fraud risk related to expenditure recognition.  
 
We did not identify any additional fraud risks. 
 
In determining the audit procedures, we took into account the results of our evaluation and 
testing of the operating effectiveness of some of CCG-wide fraud risk management controls.  
 
We also performed procedures including: 

• Identifying journal entries to test based on risk criteria and comparing the identified entries 
to supporting documentation. These included infrequent user postings. 

• Assessing significant estimates for bias. 

• Assessing the completeness of disclosed related party transactions and verifying they had 
been accurately recorded within the financial statements.  

• Review of accruals and expenditure posted around the year end to ensure these 
transactions have been recognised in the correct period. 

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement related to non-compliance with 
laws and regulations 

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a 
material effect on the financial statements from our general sector experience and through 
discussion with the directors and other management (as required by auditing standards), and 



from inspection of the CCG’s regulatory and legal correspondence and discussed with the 
directors and other management the policies and procedures regarding compliance with laws 
and regulations.   
 
As the CCG is regulated, our assessment of risks involved gaining an understanding of the 
control environment including the entity’s procedures for complying with regulatory 
requirements.  

We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to 
any indications of non-compliance throughout the audit. 

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies 
considerably. 
 
The CCG is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including 
the National Health Service Act 2006 and financial reporting legislation. We assessed the extent 
of compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our procedures on the related financial 
statement items and our work on the regularity of expenditure incurred by the CCG in the year 
of account.  
 
Whilst the CCG is subject to many other laws and regulations, we did not identify any others 
where the consequences of non-compliance alone could have a material effect on amounts or 
disclosures in the financial statements. 

Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of law or regulation 

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have 
detected some material misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have 
properly planned and performed our audit in accordance with auditing standards. For example, 
the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and 
transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely the inherently limited 
procedures required by auditing standards would identify it.   

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as these 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal controls. Our audit procedures are designed to detect material misstatement. We are 
not responsible for preventing non-compliance or fraud and cannot be expected to detect non-
compliance with all laws and regulations. 

 

Other information in the Annual Report 

The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information presented in the Annual Report 
together with the financial statements.  Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover 
the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except as 
explicitly stated below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on 
our financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our audit knowledge.  Based solely on that work: 

• we have not identified material misstatements in the other information; and 

• in our opinion the other information included in the Annual Report for the financial year is 
consistent with the financial statements. 

• in our opinion the other information has been prepared in accordance with the requirements 
of the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2021/22. 

 

 

 



Annual Governance Statement  

We are required to report to you if the Annual Governance Statement has not been prepared 
in accordance with the requirements of the Department of Health and Social Care Group 
Accounting Manual 2021/22.  We have nothing to report in this respect. 

Remuneration and Staff Reports  

In our opinion the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Reports subject to audit have been 
properly prepared in accordance with the Department of Health and Social Care Group 
Accounting Manual 2021/22. 

Accountable Officer’s responsibilities 

As explained more fully in the statement set out on page 53, the Accountable Officer is 
responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view.  They are 
also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error; assessing the CCG’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless they have been informed by the relevant national body of the intention to dissolve the 
CCG without the transfer of its services to another public sector entity. 

Auditor’s responsibilities  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our 
opinion in an auditor’s report.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.   

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC’s website at 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities 

 

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY MATTERS 

Opinion on regularity  

We are required to report on the following matters under Section 25(1) of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014. 

In our opinion, in all material respects, the expenditure and income recorded in the financial 
statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial 
transactions conform to the authorities which govern them.  

Report on the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in its use of resources  

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report if we identify any significant 
weaknesses in the arrangements that have been made by the CCG to secure economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.  

We have nothing to report in this respect. 

Respective responsibilities in respect of our review of arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources   

As explained more fully in the statement set out on page 53, the Accountable Officer is 
responsible for ensuring that the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and 
economically.  We are required under section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014 to be satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities


We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCG’s 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources are 
operating effectively. 

We planned our work and undertook our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice 
and related statutory guidance, having regard to whether the CCG had proper arrangements in 
place to ensure financial sustainability, proper governance and to use information about costs 
and performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services. Based on our risk 
assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary.  

 
Statutory reporting matters 
  
We are required by Schedule 2 to the Code of Audit Practice issued by the Comptroller and 
Auditor General (‘the Code of Audit Practice’) to report to you if we refer a matter to the 
Secretary of State and NHS England under section 30 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014 because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of the CCG, is about to 
make, or has made, a decision which involves or would involve the body incurring unlawful 
expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to take a course of action which, if followed to its 
conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency. 

We have nothing to report in this respect. 

THE PURPOSE OF OUR AUDIT WORK AND TO WHOM WE OWE OUR 
RESPONSIBILITIES 

This report is made solely to the Members of the Governing Body of NHS Rotherham CCG, as 
a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.  Our audit 
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Members of the Governing Body of the 
CCG, as a body, those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for 
no other purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the Members of the Governing Body, as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report or for the opinions we have formed. 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION OF THE AUDIT 

We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS Rotherham CCG for the 
year ended 31 March 2022 in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice. 

 

 
 
 
Rashpal Khangura 
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP,  
Chartered Accountants 
1 Sovereign Square, 
Sovereign Street, 
Leeds, 
LS1 4DA 
 
21 June 2022 



FOREWORD TO THE ACCOUNTS 

NHS ROTHERHAM CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP

The Clinical Commissioning Group was licenced from the 1 April 2013 under provisions enacted in the Health and 
Social Act 2012, which amended the National Health Service Act 2006.

These accounts for the year ended 31 March 2022 have been prepared by NHS Rotherham Clinical 
Commissioning Group under section 17 of schedule 1A of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended by 
the Health and Social Act 2012) in the form which the Secretary of State has, with the approval of the Treasury, 

directed.
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and Social Act 2012) requires Clinical 

Commissioning Groups to prepare their Annual Accounts in accordance with directions issued by NHS England 
with approval of the Secretary of State.
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2021-22 2020-21
Note £'000 £'000

Income from sale of goods and services 2 (226) (230)
Other operating income 2 0 (1)
Total operating income (226) (231)

Staff costs 4 6,745 6,136
Purchase of goods and services 5 513,266 474,534
Depreciation and impairment charges 5 0 0
Provision expense 5 (33) 443
Other Operating Expenditure 5 831 440
Total operating expenditure 520,809 481,553

Net Operating Expenditure 520,583 481,322
Total Net expenditure for the year 520,583 481,322
Comprehensive Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2022 520,583 481,322

The notes on pages 5 to 21 form part of this statement

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE NET EXPENDITURE 
31 March 2022

Page 1
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2021-22 2020-21

Note £'000 £'000

Non-current assets: 8 0 0
Total non-current assets 0 0

Current assets:
Trade and other receivables 9 1,145 1,307
Cash and cash equivalents 10 15 19
Total current assets 1,160 1,326
Total assets 1,160 1,326

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 11 (26,725) (26,910)
Provisions 12 (395) (597)
Total current liabilities (27,120) (27,507)
Total Assets less Current Liabilities (25,960) (26,181)
Non-current liabilities
Provisions 11 (891) (1,041)
Total non-current liabilities (891) (1,041)

Total Assets Employed (26,851) (27,222)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund (26,861) (27,232)
Revaluation reserve 10 10
Total taxpayers' equity: (26,851) (27,222)

The notes on pages 5 to 21 form part of this statement

Accountable Officer
NHS Rotherham CCG

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
31 March 2022

The financial statements on pages 1 to 4 were approved by the Governing Body on 8 June 2022 
and signed on its behalf by:
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General 
fund

Revaluation 
reserve

Total 
reserves

£'000 £'000 £'000
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2021-22

Balance as 1 April 2021 (27,232) 10 (27,222)
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2021 (27,232) 10 (27,222)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2021-22
Net operating expenditure for the financial year (520,583) 0 (520,583)
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the 
Financial  Year (520,583) 0 (520,583)
Net funding 520,954 0 520,954
Balance at 31 March 2022 (26,861) 10 (26,851)

General 
fund

Revaluation 
reserve

Total 
reserves

£'000 £'000 £'000
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2020-21

Balance as 1 April 2020 (28,981) 10 (28,971)
Net operating costs for the financial year (28,981) 10 (28,971)
Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2020-21
Net operating expenditure for the financial year (481,322) 0 (481,322)
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the 
Financial  Year (481,322) 0 (481,322)
Net funding 483,071 0 483,071
Balance at 31 March 2021 (27,232) 10 (27,222)

The notes on pages 5 to 21 form part of this statement

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TAXPAYERS EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 March 2022

Page 3



NHS Rotherham Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2021-22

2021-22 2020-21
Note £'000 £'000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year (520,583) (481,322)
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables 9 162 1,600
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables 11 (185) (3,676)
Provisions utilised 12 (319) (118)
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 12 (33) 443
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities (520,958) (483,073)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment 0 0
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities 0 0

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing (520,958) (483,073)
Grant in Aid Funding Received 520,954 483,071
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities 520,954 483,071

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents 10 (4) (2)

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year 19 21
Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of 
the Financial Year 15 19

The notes on pages 5 to 21 form part of this statement

STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 March 2022

Page 4 
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Notes to the financial statements.
Note 1. Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the Group 
Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the  Group Accounting Manual 2021-22 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained in the 
Group Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical 
commissioning groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.  Where the Group Accounting 
Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the 
clinical commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the clinical 
commissioning group are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

Note 1.1. Going Concern
The Health and Care Act received royal assent on 28 April 2022. The Act allows for the establishment of Integrated Care Boards (ICB) across England 
and will abolish CCGs. ICBs will take on the commissioning functions of CCGs. As a result the functions, assets and liabilities of the CCG will therefore 
transfer to NHS South Yorkshire Integrated Care Board.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced 
by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a CCG ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the  same assets, by another  public sector 
entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern. If services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the 
going concern basis. As the CCG’s functions will continue to be delivered by the ICB the CCG has therefore assessed that it remains a going concern 
as at 31 March 2022.
Note 1.2. Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, 
intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.
Note 1.3. Pooled Budgets
The clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement with Rotherham Metropolitan  Borough Council (RMBC). See note 17 
(page 19). Under the arrangement, funds are pooled under section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006, a memorandum note to the accounts 
provides detail of contributions to the pools as well as values commissioned from the pools.
The clinical commissioning group accounts for its share of assets, liabilities, income and expenditure of the pools as determined by the pooled budget 
agreement.
Note 1.4. Revenue
In the application of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients offered in the standard have been employed. These are as follows;
• As per paragraph 121 of the standard the clinical commissioning group will not disclose information regarding performance obligations part of a 
contract that has an original expected duration of one year or less,
• The clinical commissioning group is to similarly not disclose information where revenue is recognised in line with the practical expedient offered in 
paragraph B16 of the Standard where the right to consideration corresponds directly with value of the performance completed to date.
• The FReM has mandated the exercise of the practical expedient offered in C7(a) of the standard that requires the clinical commissioning group to 
reflect the aggregate effect of all contracts modified before the date of initial application.
The main source of funding for the clinical commissioning group is from NHS England. This is drawn down and credited to the general fund. Funding is 
recognised in the period in which it is received.
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied by transferring promised services to the 
customer, and is measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated to that performance obligation.
Where income is received for a specific performance obligation that is to be satisfied in the following year, that income is deferred.
The value of the benefit received when the clinical commissioning group accesses funds from the government’s apprenticeship service are recognised 
as income in accordance with IAS 20, Accounting for government grants. Where these funds are paid directly to an accredited training provider, non-
cash income and a corresponding non-cash training expense are recognised, both equal to the cost of the training funded.
Note 1.5. Employee Benefits
Note 1.5.1 Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from the apprenticeship levy, are recognised in the period in which the 
service is received from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are 
permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.
Note 1.5.2 Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Schemes. These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes 
that cover NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. The 
schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. 
Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as if they were a defined contribution scheme; the cost recognised in these accounts represents the 
contributions payable for the year. Details of the benefits payable under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at 
www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. 
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for 
the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of 
payment.

The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every year.
Note 1.6. Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the fair value 
of the consideration payable.
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Notes to the financial statements continued:
Note 1.7. Property, Plant & Equipment
Note 1.7.1 Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
·  It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
·  It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical commissioning group;
·  It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
·  The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
·  The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
·  Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are functionally 
interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial 
control; or,
· Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective cost.
Note 1.7.2 Measurement
All property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and 
bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 
Note 1.7.3 Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
Depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and intangible non-current assets, less 
any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service potential of the assets. 
The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the clinical commissioning group expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential 
from the asset. This is specific to the clinical commissioning group and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives 
and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. 
Note 1.8. Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are 
classified as operating leases.
Note 1.9. Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are 
investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk 
of change in value.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an integral 
part of the clinical commissioning group's cash management. Cash, bank and overdraft balances are recorded at current value.
Note 1.10. Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable 
that the clinical commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The 
amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into 
account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the 
present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
• A nominal short-term rate of 0.47% (2020-21: 0.02%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows up to and including 5 years from Statement of 
Financial Position date.
• A nominal medium-term rate of 0.70% (2020-21: 0.18%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows over 5 years up to and including 10 years from the 
Statement of Financial Position date.
• A nominal long-term rate of 0.95% (2020-21: 1.99%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows over 10 years and up to and including 40 years from 
the Statement of Financial Position date.
• A nominal very long-term rate of 0.66% (2019-20: 1.99%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows exceeding 40 years from the Statement of 
Financial Position date.
Note1.11. Contingent liabilities
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group, or a present obligation that is not 
recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured 
sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.
Where the time value of money is material, contingent liabilities are disclosed at their present value.
Note 1.12. Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade 
receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the asset 
has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
·   Financial assets at amortised cost;
·   Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and ;
·   Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.
The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of the financial assets, as set out in IFRS 9, and is determined at 
the time of initial recognition.
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Notes to the financial statements continued:
Note 1.12.1 Financial Assets at Amortised cost
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are those held within a business model whose objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows  
and where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This includes most trade receivables and other simple debt instruments.  After 
initial recognition these financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment.  The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial 
asset.
Note 1.12.2. Impairment
For all financial assets measured at amortised cost through other comprehensive income, the clinical commissioning group recognises a loss allowance 
representing the expected credit losses on the financial asset.
The clinical commissioning group adopts the simplified approach to impairment in accordance with IFRS 9, and measures the loss allowance for trade 
receivables, lease receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses.  For other financial assets, the loss allowance 
is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on the financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition (stage 2) and otherwise at an amount equal to 12 month expected credit losses (stage 1).
HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may not recognise stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against other government departments, their 
executive agencies, the Bank of England, Exchequer Funds and Exchequer Funds assets where repayment is ensured by primary legislation.  The 
clinical commissioning group therefore does not recognise loss allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies.  Additionally 
Department of Health and Social Care provides a guarantee of last resort against the debts of its arm's lengths bodies and NHS bodies and the clinical 
commissioning group does not recognise allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies. 
For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses at the reporting date are measured as 
the difference between the asset's gross carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's 
original effective interest rate.  Any adjustment is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.
Note 1.13. Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are de-
recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.
Note 1.14. Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on 
purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed 
assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.
Note 1.15. Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation. 
By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of 
payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would have 
been made good through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being 
included as normal revenue expenditure).
Note 1.16. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the clinical commissioning group accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates 
and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if 
the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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Notes to the financial statements continued:
Note 1.16.1 Critical accounting judgements in applying accounting policies
The following are the judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that management has made in the process of applying the clinical 
commissioning group accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 
Operating lease commitments - the clinical commissioning group has in substance a property lease arrangement with NHS Property Services Ltd 
relating to the headquarters site. As it has been determined that the clinical commissioning group has not obtained substantially all the risk and rewards 
of ownership of this property, the lease has been classified as an operating lease and accounted for accordingly.
Note 1.16.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies that 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
The clinical commissioning group has included certain accruals within the financial statements which are estimates. The key accruals being continuing 
healthcare and prescribing for which the basis of the estimation of the accruals were approved by the Chief Finance Officer.
Note 1.17. Clinical Negligence Costs
NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution, which in 
return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although NHS Resolution is administratively responsible for all 
clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with clinical commissioning group.
Note 1.18. Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling 
schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Resolution and, in return, receives assistance with the 
costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating 
expenses as and when they become due.
Note 1.19. Operating Segments
Income and expenditure are analysed in the operating segments note (note 16, page 19) and are reported in line with management information used 
within the clinical commissioning group.

Note 1.20. Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Department of Health and Social Care GAM does not require the following IFRS Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2021-22. These 
Standards are still subject to HM Treasury FReM adoption, with IFRS 16 being for implementation in 2022-23, and the government implementation date 
for IFRS 17 still subject to HM Treasury consideration. 

IFRS 16 Leases:
This standard will replace IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease and other interpretations and is applicable in 
the public sector for periods beginning 1 April 2022.  The standard provides a single accounting model for lessees, recognising a right of use asset and 
obligation in the statement of financial position for most leases: some leases are exempt through application of practical expedients explained below. 
For those recognised in the statement of financial position the standard also requires the remeasurement of lease liabilities in specific circumstances 
after the commencement of the lease term. For lessors, the distinction between operating and finance leases will remain and the accounting will be 
largely unchanged
IFRS 16 changes the definition of a lease compared to IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. The clinical commissioning group will apply this definition to new leases only 
and will grandfather its assessments made under the old standards of whether existing contracts contain a lease.

On transition to IFRS 16 on 1 April 2022, the clinical commissioning group will apply the standard retrospectively without restatement and with the 
cumulative effect of initially applying the standard recognised in the income and expenditure reserve at that date. For existing operating leases with a 
remaining lease term of more than 12 months and an underlying asset value of at least £5,000, a lease liability will be recognised equal to the value of 
remaining lease payments discounted on transition at the clinical commissioning group’s incremental borrowing rate. The clinical commissioning group’s 
incremental borrowing rate will be a rate defined by HM Treasury. For 2022, this rate is 0.95%. The related right of use (ROU) asset will be measured 
equal to the lease liability adjusted for any prepaid or accrued lease payments. No adjustments will be made on 1 April 2022 for existing finance leases.
For leases commencing in 2022/23, the clinical commissioning group will not recognise a right of use asset or lease liability for short term leases (less 
than or equal to 12 months) or for leases of low value assets (less than £5,000).  Right of use assets will be subsequently measured on a basis 
consistent with owned assets and depreciated over the length of the lease term. 
The clincial commissioning group have considered the financial implications of the new standard on its financial statements and the treatment of any 
leases that it holds at the end of March 2022. Following the review of all contracts and financial arrangements within the clinical commissioning group, 
one lease has been found to meet the criteria of the new standard, and for this reason will be recognised on the clinical commissioning groups 
Statement of Financial Position.
This arrangement relates to the lease payments made for the clinical commissioning groups headquarter's, Oak House. 
On the adoption of IFRS 16 to the head office lease, previously classified as an operating lease under IAS 17 will result in the recognition of a right of 
use asset of £357k and corresponding finance liability of £357k. The lease liability been the present value of lease payments over a three year period as 
modified for rent reviews, and discounted at the DHSC average borrowing rate (0.95%)
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, but not yet adopted by the FReM: 
early adoption is not therefore permitted.
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Note 2.Other Operating Revenue
2021-22 2021-22 2021-22 2020-21

Total Admin Programme Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Income from sale of goods and services (contracts)
Non-patient care services to other bodies 22 22 0 22
Other Contract income 0 0 0 6
Recoveries in respect of employee benefits 204 113 91 202
Total Income from sale of goods and services 226 135 91 230

Other operating income
Non cash apprenticeship training grants revenue 0 0 0 1
Total Other operating income 0 0 0 1

Total Operating Income 226 135 91 231

Note 3. Disaggregation of Income - Income from sale of good and services (contracts)

2021-22 
Total

Non-patient 
care services 

to other 
bodies

Other 
Contract 
income

Recoveries in 
respect of 
employee 
benefits

2020-21 
Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Source of Revenue
NHS 135 22 0 113 135
Non NHS 91 0 0 91 95
Total 226 22 0 204 230
Timing of Revenue
Point in time 0 0 0 0 0
Over time 226 22 0 204 230
Total 226 22 0 204 230

Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England for Healthcare and other service contracts, this 
is drawn down directly into the bank account of the CCG and credited to the General Fund.

Page 9



NHS Rotherham Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2021-22

Note 4. Employee benefits and staff numbers
Note 4.1.1 Employee benefits

Total
Permanent 
Employees Other Total

Permanent 
Employees Other

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages 5,396 4,460 936 4,848 4,411 437
Social security costs 479 479 0 453 453 0
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 860 860 0 825 825 0
Apprenticeship Levy 10 10 0 10 10 0
Gross employee benefits expenditure 6,745 5,809 936 6,136 5,699 437

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2) (204) (204) 0 (202) (202) 0
Total - Net admin employee benefits including 
capitalised costs 6,541 5,605 936 5,934 5,497 437

Less: Employee costs capitalised 0 0 0 0 0 0
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 6,541 5,605 936 5,934 5,497 437

Note 4.1.2 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits 2020-21

Total
Permanent 
Employees Other Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Employee Benefits - Revenue
Salaries and wages (163) (163) 0 (163)
Social security costs (20) (20) 0 (17)
Employer contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme (21) (21) 0 (22)
Total recoveries in respect of employee benefits (204) (204) 0 (202)

Note 4.2 Average number of people employed
2021-22 2020-21

Total
Permanently 

employed Other Total
Permanently 

employed Other
Number Number Number Number Number Number

Total 116 94 22 99 93 6

Of the figure above, number of whole time equivalents people engaged on capital projects was nil (2020-21, 0)

Note 4.2.1. Exit packages agreed in the financial year
The clinical commissioning group had no exit packages agreed in 2021-22 and 2020-21.

2021-22

2021-22 2020-21
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Note 4.3 Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules of
the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes
that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State for Health and Social
Care in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the
underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to
the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.  

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be
determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be
four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:

Note 4.4.1 Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the
end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated
membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting
purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2022, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2021, updated to 31 March
2022 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19,
relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual
NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can
also be obtained from The Stationery Office.

Note 4.4.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account recent
demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers. 
The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. The results of this valuation
set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 to 20.68% of pensionable pay. 
The 2016 funding valuation also tested the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap that was set following the 2012
valuation. There was initially a pause to the cost control element of the 2016 valuations, due to the uncertainty around member benefits
caused by the discrimination ruling relating to the McCloud case. 

HMT published valuation directions dated 7 October 2021 (see Amending Directions 2021) that set out the technical detail of how the
costs of remedy are included in the 2016 valuation process. Following these directions, the scheme actuary has completed the cost
control element of the 2016 valuation for the NHS Pension Scheme, which concludes no changes to benefits or member contributions are
required. The 2016 valuation reports can be found on the NHS Pensions website at https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/nhs-pension-scheme-
accounts-and-valuation-reports.

The employer contribution rate for NHS Pensions increased from 14.38% to 20.68% (including 0.08% pension levy) from 1st April 2019. 
For 2021-22, employers’ contributions of £590,886 (£569,862 excluding staffing recharges) (2020-21: £567,368 excluding staffing 
recharges £545,007) were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme by the CCG at the former rate of 14.38% of pensionable pay. The 
balance to the 20.68% actual rate for 2021-22 was paid by NHS England on the CCG’s behalf. The full cost and related funding of 
£268,406 has been recognised in these accounts.
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Note 5. Operating expenses
2021-22 2021-22 2021-22 2020-21
Admin Programme Total Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Purchase of goods and services
Services from other CCGs and NHS England 149 378 527 486
Services from foundation trusts 0 327,351 327,351 294,328
Services from other NHS trusts 0 12,922 12,922 12,468
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies 0 61,851 61,851 61,971
Purchase of social care 0 7,290 7,290 5,763
Prescribing costs 0 49,243 49,243 49,316
General Ophthalmic services 0 11 11 7
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS 0 49,319 49,319 45,802
Supplies and services – clinical 0 8 8 5
Supplies and services – general 284 262 546 361
Consultancy services 0 0 0 6
Establishment 486 1,552 2,038 1,311
Transport 0 918 918 787
Premises 239 773 1,012 1,625
Audit fees 72 0 72 66
Other non statutory audit expenditure
·          Other services * 0 0 0 12
Other professional fees 0 35 35 116
Legal fees 77 9 86 29
Education, training and conferences 11 26 37 74
Non cash apprenticeship training grants 0 0 0 1
 Total Purchase of goods and services 1,318 511,948 513,266 474,534
Depreciation and impairment charges
Depreciation 0 0 0 0
Total Depreciation and impairment charges 0 0 0 0

Provision expense
Provisions 0 (33) (33) 443
Total Provision expense 0 (33) (33) 443
Other Operating Expenditure
Chair and Non Executive Members 268 140 408 434
Grants to Other bodies 0 388 388 0
Clinical negligence 6 0 6 5
Expected credit loss on receivables 0 18 18 1
Other expenditure 11 0 11 0
Total Other Operating Expenditure 285 546 831 440

Total operating expenditure 1,603 512,461 514,064 475,417

Admin expenditure is expenditure incurred that is not a direct payment for the provision of healthcare services.

Auditor liability - The total aggregate liability of KPMG is limited per the contract to £2.0m for all defaults, claims, losses or damages 
where arising from breach of contract, misrepresentation, tort, breach of statutory duty or otherwise.

* For 2020-21 Other Audit services represents review costs in relation to the Mental Health Investment standard. 

Page 12



NHS Rotherham Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2021-22

Note 6.1 Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance 2021-22 2021-22 2020-21 2020-21

Number £'000 Number £'000
Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year 20,483 128,221 19,638 124,532
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 20,483 128,221 19,632 124,500
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target 100.00% 100.00% 99.97% 99.97%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year 284 343,331 796 311,687
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target 284 343,331 796 311,687
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Note 6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

Note 7. Operating Leases

Note 7.1. Payments recognised as an Expense

Buildings Other Total Buildings Other Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments 120 2 122 120 2 122
Total 120 2 122 120 2 122

The costs recognised in Other, relate to photocopier leases held by the CCG.
Note 7.2. As lessor
The clinical commissioning group was not a lessor in 2021-22 and 2020-21.

Note 7.3. Rental revenue
The clinical commissioning group had no rental revenue in 2021-22 and 2020-21.
Note 7.4.Future minimum rental value
The clinical commissioning group had no future minimum rental values for 2021-22 and 2020-21.

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the clinical commissioning group to pay all valid invoices by the due 
date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice,whichever is later. The target has been set at 95% for all of the 
above criteria and has been acheived.

The clinical commissioning group did not incur any costs associated with the Late Payment of Commercial Debts 
(Interest) Act 1998 in 2021-22 and 2020-21.

The clinical commissioning group has in substance a property lease arrangement with NHS Property Services Ltd  
relating to the headquarters site at Oak House. As it has been determined that the  clinical commissioning group 
has not obtained substantially all the risks and rewards of the ownership of this property, the lease has been 
classified as an operating lease and accounted for accordingly.

2021-22

The amount paid to NHS Property Services Ltd in this financial year relating to the occupancy of Oak House (the CCG's Headquarters) was 
£120,327. As in previous years further payments have been made in relation to void space and subsidy costs for health centres and 
community housing that were transferred to the lessor on the abolition of the PCT.

2020-21
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Note 8. Property, plant and equipment

2021-22
Information 
technology

Furniture & 
fittings Total 

£'000 £'000 £'000
Cost or valuation at 1 April 2021 187 4 191
Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2022 187 4 191

Depreciation 1 April 2021 187 4 191
Depreciation at 31 March 2022 187 4 191
Net Book Value at 31 March 2022 0 0 0

Revaluation Reserve Balance for Property, Plant & Equipment
Information 
technology Total 

£'000 £'000
Balance at 1 April 2021 10 10
Balance at 31 March 2022 10 10

Note 8.1 Cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets

The cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets still in use was as follows:
2021-22 2020-21

£'000 £'000
Information technology 187 187
Furniture & fittings 4 4
Total 191 191

Note 8.2 Economic lives

Information technology 2 10

Minimum 
Life (years)

Maximum 
Life (Years)
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Note 9.Trade and other receivables Current Non-current Current Non-current
2021-22 2021-22 2020-21 2020-21

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

NHS receivables: Revenue 0 0 12 0
NHS prepayments 0 0 0 0
NHS accrued income 0 0 215 0
NHS Contract Receivable not yet invoiced/non-invoice 109 0 16 0
NHS Non Contract trade receivable (i.e pass through funding) 394 0 252 0
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue 0 0 0 0
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments 225 0 389 0
Non-NHS and Other WGA Contract Receivable not yet  invoiced/non-
invoice 105 0 109 0
Non-NHS and Other WGA Non Contract trade receivable (i.e pass 
through funding) 178 0 238 0
Expected credit loss allowance-receivables (21) 0 (2) 0
VAT 155 0 78 0
Total Trade & other receivables 1,145 0 1,307 0

Total current and non current 1,145 1,307
Included above:
Prepaid pensions contributions 0 0

Not 9.2 Receivables past their due date but not impaired
2021-22 2021-22 2020-21 2020-21

DHSC Group 
Bodies

Non DHSC 
Group 
Bodies

DHSC Group 
Bodies

Non DHSC 
Group Bodies

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
By up to three months 336 81 176 191
By three to six months 0 97 0 0
By more than six months 0 0 0 0
Total 336 178 176 191

£171k of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date.
The clinical commissioning group did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding at 31 March 2022.

Note 9.3 Loss allowance on asset classes
Trade and 

other 
receivables - 
Non DHSC 

Group Bodies

Other 
financial 
assets

Total

£'000 £'000 £'000
Balance at 1 April 2021 (2) 0 (2)
Lifetime expected credit losses on trade and other receivables-Stage 2 (19) 0 (19)
Balance at 31 March 2022 (21) 0 (21)
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Note 10. Cash and cash equivalents

2021-22 2020-21
£'000 £'000

Balance at 1 April 2021 19 21
Net change in year (4) (2)
Balance at 31 March 2022 15 19

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service 15 19

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position 15 19
Balance at 31 March 2022 15 19

No Patients’ money held by the clinical commissioning group.

Current Non-current Current Non-current
2021-22 2021-22 2020-21 2020-21

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

NHS payables: Revenue 833 0 271 0
NHS accruals 278 0 245 0
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue 6,749 0 7,262 0
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals 18,347 0 18,569 0
Social security costs 78 0 77 0
Tax 63 0 63 0
Other payables and accruals 377 0 423 0
Total Trade & Other Payables 26,725 0 26,910 0

Total current and non-current 26,725 26,910

Note 12. Provisions
Current Non-current Current Non-current
2021-22 2021-22 2020-21 2020-21

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Continuing care 395 891 597 1,041
Total 395 891 597 1,041

Total current and non-current 1,286 1,638

Continuing 
Care Total
£'000 £'000

Balance at 1 April 2021 1,638 1,638

Arising during the year 419 419
Utilised during the year (319) (319)
Reversed unused (452) (452)
Balance at 31 March 2022 1,286 1,286
Expected timing of cash flows:
Within one year 395 395
Between one and five years 891 891
Balance at 31 March 2022 1,286 1,286

Note 11. Trade and other payables

Included in payables are no liabilities due in future years under arrangements to buy out the liability for early retirement over 5 years.
Other payables include £377,325 outstanding pension contributions as at 31 March 2022 (2020-21 - £348,170), within this amount £289,267 
relates to GP pensions that the clinical commissioning group now collects and pays over to the NHS Pensions Agency on behalf of the 
GP's.
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Note 12. Provisions (Continued).
Continuing Care

Note 13. Contingencies
2021-22 2020-21

£'000 £'000
Contingent liabilities
Continuing Healthcare 123 132
Net value of contingent liabilities 123 132

Contingent assets
The clinical commissioning group had no contingent assets as at 31 March 2022 and as at 31 March 2021.

Note 14. Commitments
Note 14.1. Capital commitments
There are no capital commitments for the clinical commissioning group as at 31 March 2022. 

Continuing healthcare new retrospective claims: (£123k) The clinical commissioning group has recognised a 
number of claims as a provision in its accounts due to the likelihood of success in financial redress being made (Note 
12 Page 16). The remaining claims which are unlikely to materialise in terms of financial redress and that are more 
uncertain in terms of length of claim have been deemed to be a contingent liablity. Whilst no cost has been applied to 
the operating cost statement of the clinical commissioning group (Page 12), a value has been recognised in this note.

Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, NHS England is responsible for 
accounting for liabilities relating to NHS Continuing Healthcare claims relating to periods of care before the 
establishment of the CCG. However, the legal liability remains with the CCG. All claims have now reached an eligibility 
decision, however as a number of these have been appealed a contingency has been provided for by NHS England on 
behalf of the CCG. The value of this contingency is £162k (2020-21 £827k).

Following the refresh and updating of the previous guidance for "retrospective continuing care funding and redress", 
issued in March 2007, the clinical commissioning group has identified a number of  claims that are currently held  by 
the continuing care assessment team where eligibility criteria is being challenged and financial redress being 
requested. These claims vary in length of time and financial value. 
A methodology has been established for estimating the level of likely financial liability arising from the claims 
submitted. This provides the basis of the provision included in these accounts of £1,110k (2020-21 - £1,192k)
During the financial year a number of new clients awaiting assessment for continuing health packages of care have 
been recognised, the likely financial liability has been calculated at £176k (2020-21 - £446k).

Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, NHS England is responsible for 
accounting for liabilities relating to NHS Continuing Healthcare claims relating to periods of care before establishment 
of the clinical commissioning group.  However, the legal liability remains with the clinical commissioning group. The 
total value of NHS Continuing Healthcare provisions accounted for by NHS England and on behalf of this clinical 
commissioning group at 31 March 2022 was £424k. (2020-21 - £800k) under this arrangement 
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Note 15. Financial instruments
Note 15.1. Financial risk management

Note 15.1.1 Currency risk

Note 15.1.2 Interest rate risk

Note 15.1.3. Credit risk

Note 15.1.4. Liquidity risk

Note 15.2 Financial Instruments

Note 15.2.1 Financial assets
Financial Assets 

measured at 
amortised cost Total Total

2021-22 2021-22 2020-21
£'000 £'000 £'000

Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies 394 394 215
Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies 109 109 280
Trade and other receivables with external bodies 284 284 347
Cash and cash equivalents 15 15 19
Total at 31 March 2022 802 802 861

The clinical commissioning group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed 
from resources voted annually by Parliament. The clinical commissioning group draws down cash to cover 
expenditure, as the need arises. The clinical commissioning group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity 
risks.

As the cash requirements of NHS England are met through the Estimate process, financial instruments play a more 
limited role in creating and managing risk than would apply to a non-public sector body.  The majority of financial 
instruments relate to contracts to buy non-financial items in line with NHS England's expected purchase and usage 
requirements and NHS England is therefore exposed to little credit, liquidity or market risk.

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the 
period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.

Because the clinical commissioning group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of 
financial risk faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or 
changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The 
clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities 
are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the clinical 
commissioning group in undertaking its activities.

Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within 
the clinical commissioning group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury 
activity is subject to review by the clinical commissioning group and internal auditors.

The clinical commissioning group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets 
and liabilities being in the UK and sterling based. The clinical commissioning group has no overseas operations. The 
clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.

The clinical commissioning group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as 
confirmed by NHS England. The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and 
interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group 
therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

Because the majority of the clinical commissioning group and revenue comes parliamentary funding, the clinical 
commissioning group has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposure as at the end of the financial year are in 
receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.
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Note 15.3. Financial liabilities

Financial 
Liabilities 

measured at Total Total
2021-22 2021-22 2020-21

£'000 £'000 £'000
Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies 129 129 120
Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies 1,142 1,142 856
Trade and other payables with external bodies 25,315 25,315 25,793
Total at 31 March 2022 26,586 26,586 26,769

Note 15.4 Maturity of financial liabilities 

Note 15.5 Maturity of financial liabilities 
The clinical commissioning group does not have any significant exposure to credit risk as at 31 March 2022.
Note 16. Operating segments

2021-22 2020-21
£'000 £'000

Total Gross Expenditure (as per Statement of Comprehensive 
Net Expenditure, page 1) 520,809 481,553
Total Gross Income (as per Statement of Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure, page 1) (226) (231)
Total Net Expenditure as at 31 March 520,583 481,322

Total Assets (as per Statement of Financial Position, page 2) 1,160 1,326
Total Liabilities (as per Statement of Financial Position, page 2) (28,011) (28,548)
Total Net Assets as at 31 March (26,851) (27,222)

Note 17. Joint arrangements

RMBC RCCG Total 
£'000 £'000 £'000

Contributions to pooled commissioning budget
Opening Balance as at 1 April 2021 3,783 0 3,783
Contributions to fund Pool - RMBC Revenue Grant 15,550 50 15,600
Contributions to fund Pool - RMBC Capital Grant 3,064 0 3,064
Contributions to fund Pool - RCCG 11,753 12,925 24,678
Total Gross Contributions to Pool 34,150 12,975 47,125
Total utilisation of funding
Services commissioned from pooled budgets Revenue 28,158 12,894 41,052

Joint Arrangement funding

The clinical commissioning group has a financial liability of £26,586k as at 31 March 2022 (31 March 2021 - £26,769k). 
All of this liability will be settled within the financial year ended 31 March 2023.

The clinical commissioning group considers that it has only one segment in terms of operating segments: commissioning 
of healthcare services.

During the year, the clinical commissioning group spent £515,903k on the commissioning of healthcare and other 
services, this represents 96.80% of the clinical commissioning group's total available resource. 53.58% of our resources 
were transacted with the clinical commissioning group's two main local providers: £246,627k (46.27%) to The Rotherham 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, and £38,955k (7.31%) to Rotherham, Doncaster and South Humber NHS Foundation 
Trust.

The clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement with Rotherham Metropolitan Borough 
Council (RMBC), under section 75 of the Health Act 2006. The clinical commissioning group and Rotherham Metropolitan 
Borough Council contribute funds to a pooled commissioning budget that covers the Better Care Fund (BCF) ,the 
Population Health Scheme and CAMHS Tier 3 service, in part. The pools are managed through the Health and Wellbeing 
Board (BCF) and the Partnership Board for the Population Health Scheme. These boards allocate and agree funds for the 
commissioning of health and social care services for the people of Rotherham.
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Services commissioned from pooled budgets Capital 2,304 0 2,304
Over / (Under) spend 0 0 0
Transfer / use of balances (81) 81 0
Total Utilisation of Funding 30,381 12,975 43,356
Net Balance (3,769) 0 (3,769)
Balance as at  31 March 2022 (3,769) 0 (3,769)
Note:
Any shortfall in the pool is addressed by the relevant organisations at the year end in line with IFRS 11 joint arrangements 
and is based on each organisation's contribution to the pool and statutory obligations.
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Note 18. Related party transactions
GP's are appointed to the Strategic Clinical Executive. During 2021-22 the following doctors have been present -

The Rotherham NHS Foundation Trust
Sheffield Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Rotherham Doncaster and South Humber NHS Foundation Trust 
Doncaster and Bassetlaw Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Yorkshire Ambulance Service NHS Trust
Sheffield Children's NHS Foundation Trust
NHS Pension Scheme

Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council  
HM Revenue and Customs (PAYE)
National Insurance Fund
NHS Property Services

2021/22

Payments to 
Related 

Party

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 

Party

Amounts 
due from 
Related 

Party

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

The Rotherham NHS Foundation Trust 245,903 0 724 0
Rotherham Doncaster and South Humber NHS Foundation Trust 38,765 0 190 0
Sheffield Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 27,216 0 0 0
Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council  17,757 (91) 3,242 (99)
Yorkshire Ambulance Service NHS Trust 13,021 0 0 (99)
Doncaster and Bassetlaw Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 10,306 0 0 0
NHS Pension Scheme 4,530 0 377 0
Sheffield Children's NHS Foundation Trust 2,431 0 0 0
National Insurance Fund 861 0 78 0
NHS Property Services 721 0 159 0
HM Revenue and Customs (PAYE) 695 0 63 0

Dinnington Group Practice - (Dr Birks - Left 31.12.21) 2,582 0 79 0
St Anns Medical Centre - (Dr MacKeown) 2,382 0 236 0
Broom Lane Medical Centre - (Dr Cullen) 1,926 0 146 0
Stag Medical Centre - (Dr Clitherow) 1,744 0 70 0

Market Surgery - (Dr Holden) 1,598 0 75 0
Thurcroft Village Surgery - (Dr Gunasekera) 1,169 0 51 0
Parkgate Medical Centre - (Dr Barmade) 814 0 57 0
Blyth Road Medical Centre - (Dr Avery) 865 0 49 0
Thorpe Hesley Surgery - (Dr Page) 809 0 52 0

None of the above are classified as bad or doubtful debts in the clinical commissioning group's accounts.

During 2021/22 staff were asked to complete a Declaration of Business or Commercial Interests form. These forms have been reviewed and 
they are considered to contain no material disclosures to be included in the accounts.

In regard to outstanding balances for both payables and receivables the clinical commissioning group's terms are 30 days. These values are 
not secured and no guarantees are given or received but amounts are to be settled in cash.

The majority of GP payments relate to the monthly contract values paid to the practices for GMS (General Medical Services) and PMS 
(Personal Medical Services). These values vary between practices based on the patient list size.

Dr Cullen, Page, Birks, Gunasekera, Clitherow, Barmade and Holden. Drs Avery and MacKeown are the chair and vice-chair of the GP 
Members Committee.

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the clinical commissioning group has had a significant number of 
material transactions with the Department, and with other entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent department. The 
transactions with these entities, listed below, are the disclosed within the table:

In addition, the clinical commissioning group has had a significant number of material transactions with other government departments and 
other central and local Government bodies. The transactions with these entities, listed below, are disclosed within the table:

Whilst the majority of material transactions are considered to be within the Department of Health's parent umbrella or with other central and 
local government bodies, the clinical commissioning group has a small number of transactions with other private or voluntary sector 
organisations, some of these are deemed in value terms to be material. The two main providers are Connect Healthcare Rotherham Limited 
and Rotherham Hospice. The values transacted with these organisations for 2021-22 were £7,849,304 and £3,697,802 respectively (2020-21 
£4,986,231 and £4,182,471).
Para 5.256 of the GAM states that HM Treasury considers government departments and their agencies, and Department of Health and 
Social Care Ministers, their close families and entities controlled or influenced by them, as being parties related to DHSC group bodies. NHS 
Rotherham CCG have assessed whether they have had any related party transactions with associated entities which require disclosure in the 
related parties note. The following related party has been identified, Tesco PLC for a value of £25,159.
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Note 19. Events after the end of the reporting period

Note 20. Losses and special payments

Note 21. Financial performance targets

NHS Act 2021-22 2021-22 Duty 2020-21 2020-21 Duty 

Section Duty Target Performance Achieved Target Performance Achieved 
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

223H (1) Expenditure not to exceed income* 523,810 520,809 Yes 482,631 481,553 Yes

223I (2) Capital resource use does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions 0 0 n/a 0 0 n/a

223I (3) Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions* 523,584 520,583 Yes 482,400 481,322 Yes

223J (1) Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not 
exceed the amount specified in Directions 0 0 n/a 0 0 n/a

223J (2) Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not 
exceed the amount specified in Directions 0 0 Yes 0 0 Yes

223J (3)
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the 
amount specified in Directions 5,106 4,771 Yes 5,104 4,533 Yes

The clinical commissioning group has recognised one loss in 2021-22 The amount was for £11,278.16 and related to an employee that 
was overpaid. An agreement was reached with the individual where 50% of the amount owing would be recovered.

*Financial performance targets for 2021-22 represents the in year position. The clinical commissioning groups historic surplus brought forward from 
previous years is £14,501k, none of the historical surplus was drawn down and utilised non recurrently in year. The actual performance for 2021-22 
was a surplus of £3,001k.

On 28 April 2022 the Health and Care Act received royal assent. This confirms the establishment of Integrated Care Boards in England. As a result 
of this the CCG expects to be wound up on 30 June 2022 and NHS South Yorkshire Integrated Care Board to be formed on 1 July 2022. As 
explained in note 1.1 (page 5) the CCG’s accounts are still prepared on a going concern basis due to the continued provision of the CCG’s 
commissioning functions by the ICB. (2020-21: No Events)
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